Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Democratic Services

Guildhall, High Street, Bath BA1 5AW

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 - 394414 Date: 23 July 2015

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_services@bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Regulatory (Access) Committee
Councillor Liz Richardson (Chairman)

Councillor Karen Warrington

Councillor Geoff Ward

Councillor Douglas Deacon

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public
Dear Member
Regulatory (Access) Committee: Thursday, 30th July, 2015

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Regulatory (Access) Committee, to be held on
Thursday, 30th July, 2015 at 10.00am in the Community Space, Keynsham - Market Walk,
Keynsham.

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

David Taylor
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper




NOTES:

Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact David Taylor who is
available by telephoning Bath 01225 - 394414 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during
normal office hours).

Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the
meeting has power to do. They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a
group. Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as above.

Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for
the next meeting. In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all
or part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast,
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the
meeting.



6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Regulatory (Access) Committee - Thursday, 30th July, 2015
at 10.00am in the Community Space, Keynsham - Market Walk, Keynsham

AGENDA

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chairman will ask the Committee Administrator to draw attention to the
emergency evacuation procedure as set out under Note 7

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

At this point in the meeting, declarations of interest are received from Members in any
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare;
(b) The nature of their interest; and

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest (as
defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS,
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

At the time of publication, no items had been submitted

ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and where appropriate co-
opted members.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING - 8TH OCTOBER 2014 (Pages 7 - 8)

ROBIN CANDY'S FIELDS - TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION
APPLICATION (Pages 9 - 192)

To consider a recommendation to refuse this application and not register the land as a
TVG



9.  HOLY TRINITY CHURCH - DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER
INVESTIGATION (Pages 193 - 216)

To consider a recommendation that a DMMO should not be made to record additional
public rights to the south of Holy Trinity Church on the Definitive Map and Statement
(DMS)

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is David Taylor who can be contacted on
01225 - 394414.

Protocol for Decision-making

Guidance for Members when making decisions

When making decisions, the Cabinet/Committee must ensure it has regard only to relevant
considerations and disregards those that are not material.

The Cabinet/Committee must ensure that it bears in mind the following legal duties when
making its decisions:

e Equalities considerations

¢ Risk Management considerations

e Crime and Disorder considerations

e Sustainability considerations

e Natural Environment considerations

e Planning Act 2008 considerations

e Human Rights Act 1998 considerations
e Children Act 2004 considerations

e Public Health & Inequalities considerations

Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Chief
Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision makers should
ensure they are satisfied that the information presented to them is consistent with and takes
due regard of them.



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET

REGULATORY (ACCESS) COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 8th October, 2014

Present:—Councillors: Douglas Nicol (Chair), Douglas Deacon, Jeremy Sparks,
Peter Edwards and Mathew Blankley

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Democratic Services Officer drew attention to the emergency evacuation
procedure as set out on the Agenda.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
There were none.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

There was none.

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS,
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

There were none.
ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

There was none.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting be confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

Regulatory (Access) Committee- Wednesday, 8th October, 2014

Page 7



37

38

HANDEL ROAD DMMO

The Chair invited Graeme Stark (Senior Officer — Public Rights of Way) to introduce
the item.

Graeme Stark informed the Committee that in 2008 Keynsham Town Council had
made an application for a public footpath to be recorded on Definitive Map and
Statements behind Handel Road in Keynsham. An investigation and consultation
had been carried out and substantial number of User Evidence Forms (UEFs) were
received from the public.

The UEFs documented significant use of the application route between 1988 and
2008. There was no evidence presented that the landowner took any steps to show
that they did not intend to dedicate the route to the public.

Fifteen objections and representations had been submitted by members of the
public. Nine of those were objections to the application; however none of these
objections were based on legally relevant grounds.

While the Council was sympathetic to local residents’ concerns regarding safety and
security, these were not factors which the Council can take into consideration.

Graeme Stark added the evidence demonstrated that the application route had
become a public footpath by virtue of Section 31/1 of the Highways Act 1980 and the
DMMO should therefore be made to record the application route on the Definitive
Map and Statements.

On a motion from Councillor Mathew Blankley, second by Councillor Jeremy Sparks,
it was unanimously RESOLVED to support officer's recommendation to make a
Definitive Map and Modification Order to record the Application Route, as shown by
a broken black line on the plan contained at Appendix 1 (‘the decision plan’) and
described in the schedule contained at Appendix 2, on the Definitive Map and
Statements.

ANNOUNCEMENT FROM THE CHAIR
The Chair asked the Committee to observe a minute of silence in the mark of respect

for David Waterstone, who was the Chair of the Joint Local Access Forum and local
representative of the Ramblers’ Association.

The meeting ended at 10.35 am

Chair(person)

Prepared by Democratic Services

Regulatory (Access) Committee- Wednesday, 8th October, 2014

Page 8



Agenda Item 8

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: | Regulatory (Access) Committee

MEETING

th
DATE: 30" July 2015

TITLE: Robin Candy’s Fields TVG Registration Application

WARD: High Littleton

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Appendix 1 — Plan of land to which the Application relates
Appendix 2 — Application

Appendix 3 — Objection to the Application

Appendix 4 — Applicants’ response to the Objection
Appendix 5 — Inspector's Report

Appendix 6 — Applicants’ comments on the Inspector’s Report

Appendix 7 — Objector's comments on the Inspector’'s Report

1. THEISSUE

1.1 An Application has been received by Bath and North East Somerset Council in its
capacity as Commons Registration Authority (“the Authority”) to register land known
as Robin Candy’s Fields in High Littleton as a Town or Village Green (“TVG”). The
Application was advertised and an objection was received against registration.

1.2 An independent expert was instructed by the Authority to advise the Authority as to
whether or not Robin Candy’s Fields should be registered as TVG.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Regulatory (Access) Committee (“‘the Committee”) is recommended to refuse
the application and not register the land cross-hatched in blue on the plan attached
at Appendix 1 (“the Plan”) as a TVG.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The potential financial implications of the land being successfully registered are not
a legally relevant consideration in the determination of the Application. The costs
associated with making any TVG and any further public inquiry or hearing would be
met from existing budgets.

Printed on recycled paper Page 9 1



4. THE REPORT

4.1 Application. On 19 July 2013, Mark F. Collins, Jane E. Leech, Rachel Tidcombe
and Leonard W. Sheen (“the Applicants”) applied under section 15 of the Commons
Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act’) to register land known as ‘Robin Candy’s Fields’ as a
TVG.

4.2 The Application, excluding the supporting evidence which is available upon request,
is contained at Appendix 2. The Application was made on the basis that the land
qualifies for registration by virtue of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act, namely that;

“...a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and they continue to do
so at the time of the application”.

4.3 The land to which the Application was made is cross-hatched blue on the plan
contained at Appendix 1. The land is owned by J. E. Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills)
and at the time the Application was made was tenanted by Mr Robin Candy, who is
now deceased. The land to which the Application relates is hereafter referred to as
the “Application Land”. The Authority has a statutory duty under the 2006 Act to
consider and dispose of the Application.

4.4 Advertising. On 25 July 2013, the Application was advertised by placing a notice
in the Midsomer Norton, Radstock & District Journal and on the Authority’s website
and serving notice on all interested parties including the landowner and tenant, the
ward members and Applicant. Additionally, notices were placed at -eight
conspicuous locations around the Application Land and maintained on site until 11
September 2013. The Authority received an objection, made on behalf of J. E.
Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills), against the Application Land being registered as TVG
(Appendix 3).

4.5 On 9 September 2013, the Objection was forwarded to the Applicants to give them
an opportunity to respond to the points raised. On 30 September 2013, the
Applicants responded to the Objection and challenged each of the points raised
(see Appendix 4). On 9 October 2013, Officers of the Authority made an
assessment of the Application, the Objection and the Applicants’ response to the
Objection. It was concluded that there remained significant points of dispute
between the Applicants and Objector and it was therefore decided that an
independent expert should be instructed to provide advice to the Authority as to
how to proceed with the Application.

4.6 Public Inquiry. The Authority subsequently instructed Mr Martin Edwards (“the
Inspector”), initially of 39 Essex Street and subsequently of Cornerstone Barristers,
who is a barrister and an independent expert in TVGs. The Inspector considered
the Application, the Objection and the Applicants’ response to the Objections and
deemed that a non-statutory public inquiry would be necessary to assess the
evidence. The inquiry was held over the course of six days in June and October
2014 and the Inspector’s report is contained at Appendix 5. The Applicants and
Objector were given the opportunity to comment on the Inspector’s report and their
responses can be found at Appendix 6 and Appendix 7. It now falls to the
Committee to determine the Application on behalf of the Authority.

Printed on recycled paper Page 10 2



STATUTORY TEST

5.1 The statutory test under consideration is set out in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act,
which states that; “...a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and they continue to do so at
the time of the application”.

5.2 The Authority can only consider whether the legislative test set out in the 2006 Act
has been met. The Authority cannot take into account whether registration is
deemed desirable nor what may or may not happen to the land in the future.

5.3 Significant number of inhabitants. The Inspector assesses the issue of whether
the Application Land was used by a ‘significant number of inhabitants’ in
paragraphs 470 to 474 of his report. Although the Applicants have stated that the
evidence demonstrates that at least 25% of residents have used the Application
Land, an assessment of the frequency and quality of use shows that use has not
been by a significant number of inhabitants. Paragraph 474 of the Inspector's
Report states that ‘evidence showed that on a the balance of probability the level of
use was such that it could not be said that throughout the 20 year period a
significant number of local inhabitants used the Land to such an extent to support
the Application’.

5.4 The inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality. The
Inspector assesses the issue of whether the users are the inhabitants of a
‘neighbourhood within a locality’ in paragraphs 462 to 469 of his report. Although,
the neighbourhood of Greyfield has grown significantly throughout the relevant
period, the Inspector notes at paragraph 468 of his report that the ‘essential
characteristics of the neighbourhood did not change to any significant extent.
Greyfield is deemed to be a neighbourhood within the meaning of the 2006 Act.

5.5 Lawful sports and pastimes on the land. The Inspector assesses the issue of
whether the Application Land was used for ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ in
paragraphs 475 to 478 of his report. Some of the activities, such as maintaining
hedges, do not constitute qualifying use and other activities, such as fruit picking,
are only carried out on a seasonal basis. Paragraph 478 of the Inspector’s Report
states that ‘Thus it cannot be said that on the balance of probability the Applicants
have demonstrated that there was a sufficient level of use for lawful sports and
pastimes by local inhabitants.’

5.6 A period of at least 20 years. The Inspector assesses the issue of whether the
Application Land was used for ‘a period of at least 20 years’ in paragraphs 479 to
480 of his report. The evidence demonstrates that use temporarily ceased in 2001
during the Foot and Mouth outbreak. There was not a statutory closure relating to
the Application Land, as would be required for a Section 15(6) Exemption, and use
did not therefore extend across the whole relevant period between 19 July 1993
and 19 July 2013. Paragraph 478 of the Inspector’s Report states that *...the
Applicants cannot demonstrate that they used the Land for TVG purposes
throughout the entire 20 year period and therefore as a matter of law the Application
must be rejected on this basis alone.’

Printed on recycled paper Page 11 3



5.7

10.
10.1

Conclusion. The Application fails to fulfil elements of the statutory test for
registration of the Application Land as set out under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act
and paragraph 483 of the Inspector's report states that consequently there are
‘insurmountable obstacles to registration” The Committee is recommended to
refuse the Application and not register the Application Land as TVG.

RISK MANAGEMENT

A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken,
in compliance with the Authority’s decision making risk management guidance.

EQUALITIES

A proportionate equalities impact assessment has not been carried out as the
Application must be considered solely in relation to the test set out in the 2006 Act.
CONSULTATION

Ward Councillor; Cabinet Member; Other B&NES Services; Service Users; Local
Residents; Community Interest Groups; Monitoring Officer

Extensive consultation was carried out as detailed in paragraph 4.4 above.

ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION

Legal Considerations; as detailed in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 above.

ADVICE SOUGHT

The Authority’s Monitoring Officer (Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Council
Solicitor and Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director -
Finance) have had the opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for
publication.

Contact person

Graeme Stark, Senior Officer: Public Rights of Way

Background
papers

Robin Candy’s Fields TVG case file

Evidence submitted by Applicants and Objector

Please contact the
alternative format

report author if you need to access this report in an

Printed on recycled paper

Page 12 4




0985

$££€2000 |} Joqwnu aduadi *sBuipaado.d |1A10 J0 uonnoasold o) pes| Aew pue JybAdoo umol) sabunul uoponpoldas pasuoyineun ybBuAdon umoi) @ ao1Q Aleuonels s,Alsale|y JaH Jo J1ajjouo) ay} jo uoissiwiad ay) yum Buiddew Aaaing aoueuplQ 8y} woiy paonpoiday
0779 UEV9 0279 0179 00v9 U6EY 08E9
2 |4
143 &
=} ©
POOM playkaIn
poo pjeukaro

HY wee”

0¥8S

0¥85

0585

el3

T
<
&
9
3
S
2
R
e
(9,
5

Pag

ousanon

0985

POOM playkeIn

08€9

00G¢: | 9Ieds
S

(2/€1OAL) pIeld sApued uiqoy
mw soljdde uonensiBal usaln) abejjiA 4o} uoiealdde sy yoIyMm 0} pueT 900¢ 19y suowwo) ayj Jo G| uoldss
a=H=M

/

NV1d 3HL -} XIAN3ddV
N




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Appendix2
FORM 44

Commons Act 2006: Section 15
Application for the registration of land as a Town or

Village Green

Official stamp of registration authority P .

indicating valid date of receipt: Application number: | TVG13/2
e
COMMONS ACT 2006 Register unit No(s):

19 JuL 2013 _

VG number allocated at registration:
REGISTRATION AUTHORITY
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL

(CRA to complete only if application is successful)

Applicants are advised to read the ‘Guidance Notes for the completion of an Application for the Registration of
land as a Town or Village Green’ and to note the following:

» All applicants should complete questions 1—6 and 10-11.

« Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addition, complete questions 7-8.
Section 15(1) enables any person to apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in section

15(2), (3) or (4) apply.

¢ Applicants applying for voluntary registration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete question 9.

1. Registration Authority

Note 1 To the
Insert name of
registration Bath and North East Somerset Council
authority. Riverside
Temple Street
Keynsham
BA31 1LA

Page 15



Note 2

If there is more than
one applicant, list all
names. Please use a
separate sheet if
necessary. State the
full title of the
organisation if a body
corporate or
unincorporate.

If question 3 is not
completed all
correspondence and
notices will be sent to
the first named
applicant.

Note 3

This question should
be completed if a
solicitor is instructed
for the purposes of the
application. If so all
correspondence and
notices wifl be sent to
the person or firm
named here.

2. Name and address of the applicant

Name: [ Mark F. Collins, Jane E. Neech, Rachel Tidcombe, Leonard W. Sheen

Full postal address:

Mendip Ho!, Greyfield Rd, High Littleton, Bristol

Postcode BS39 6XZ

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)| +44 (0)1761 750363 & +44 (017753867173

Fax number:
(inct. national dialling code)

E-mail address: collinsmark4@sky.com

3. Name and address of solicitor, if any

Name:

Firm:

Full postal address:

Post code

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address:

Page 16




Note 4

For further advice on
the criteria and
qualifying dates for
registration please see
section 4 of the
Guidance Notes.

* Section 15(6)
enables any period of
statutory closure
where access to the
land is denied to be
disregarded in
determining the 20
year period.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your land
please tick this box and move to question 5.

Application made under section 15(8):

If the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act, please tick one of
the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying
criterion applies to the case.

Section 15(2) applies: \/

Section 15(3) applies:

Section 15(4) applies:

If section 15(3) or (4) applies please indicate the date on which you consider
that use as of right ended.

If section 15(6)* applies please indicate the period of statutory closure (if
any) which needs to be disregarded.

Page 17




Note 5

The accompanying
map must be at a
scale of at least
1:2,500 and show the
land by distinctive
colouring to enable to
it to be clearly
identified.

* Only complete if the
land is already
registered as common
fand.

Note 6

It may be possible to
indicate the locality of
the green by reference
fo an administrative
area, such as a parish
or electoral ward, or
other area sufficiently
defined by name (such
as a village or street).
If this is not possible a
map should be
provided on which a
focality or
neighbourhood is
marked clearly.

5. Description and particulars of the area of land in respect of which
application for registration is made

Name by which usually known:

Robin Candy’s fields
(Also referred to as Greyfield Fields and The Sheppard’s Fields)

Location:

Land between Greyfield Woods and Greyfield Road and adjacent to Greyfield Common in
High Littleton, Bristol.
OS reference: Two fields approx. centered on ST 6405 5850 and ST 6424 5839

Shown in colour on the map which is marked and attached to the statutory
declaration.

Common land register unit number (if relevant) *

6. Locality or neighbourhood within a locality in respect of which the
application is made

Please show the locality or neighbourhood within the locality to which the
claimed green relates, either by writing the administrative area or
geographical area by name below, or by attaching a map on which the area is
clearly marked:

The neighbourhoods of Greyfield.

The neighbourhood that is bounded by Dando’s Stores at the High Street of High Littleton
(A39) and extends along Greyfield Road including all the cul-de-sacs that join it (Greyfield
Common and Westwood Avenue) and into Gores Park

Tick here if map attached: m

Page 18




Note 7

Applicants should
provide a summary of
the case for
registration here and
enclose a separate full
statement and all other
evidence including any
wilness statements in
support of the
application.

This information is not
needed if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

7. Justification for application to register the land as a town or village
green

Indulgence by a significant number of inhabitants of the neighbourhood of Greyfield as
of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years under section 15(2)
of the Commons Act 2006 as witnessed by the 41 signed evidence questionnaires
showing use for activities including dog walking, rambling/walking, nature watching,
sledging & snowballing and educational purposes by a total of 88 people who have
signed the evidence questionnaires.

More supporting information, witnesses and evidence will be provided at a later date in
support of this application

Page 19




Note 8

Please use a separate
sheet if necessary.

Where relevant include
reference to title
numbers in the register
of title held by the
Land Registry.

If no one has been
identified in this
section you should
write “none”

This information is not
needed if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

Note 9

List all such
declarations that
accompany the
application. If none is
required, write “none”.

This information is not
needed if an
application is being
made fto register the
fand as a green under
section 15(1).

Note 10

List all supporting
documents and maps
accompanying the
application. If none,
write “none”

Please use a separate
sheet if necessary.

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant believes to be
an owner, lessee, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
be a town or village green

Owner: Tenant:

J E Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills) Mr Robin Candy
Crosslands Greyfield Farm
Wells Road High Littleton
Chilcompton Bristol
Radstock BS9 6YQ
Somerset

BA3 4ET

9. Voluntary registration — declarations of consent from ‘relevant
leaseholder’, and of the proprietor of any ‘relevant charge’ over the land

10. Supporting documentation

Appendix 1: 36 signed evidence questionnaires

Appendix 2: 1 signed evidence questionnaires with statements
Appendix 3: 4 signed evidence questionnaires with photographs
Appendix 4: 1 signed map relating to section 5

Appendix 5: 1 signed map relating to section 6

Page 20




11. Any other information relating to the application
Note 11

If there are any other
matters which should
be brought to the
attention of the
registration authority
(in particular if a
person interested in
the land is expected fo
challenge the
application for
registration). Full
details should be given
here or on a separate
sheet if necessary.

Note 12
The application must Date: /7 / V4 7/ 20l3

be signed by each
individual applicant, or

by the authorised A
officer of an applicant Signatures:
which is a body
corporate or
unincorporate.

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all associated documentation.
Applicants should be aware that signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement
of truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence. The making of a false
statement for the purposes of this application may render the maker liable to prosecution.

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be treated as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the registration authority to disclose information received from
you to others, which may include other local authorities, Government Departments, public bodjes,
other organisations and members of the public.

Page 21




¥€€€20001 J2qINU 9SU3I
OFF

[1]%5:]

izl

*sBuipsss0.d (11D JO UoNNoas0.d 0} pes| Aew pue JybuAdos umou sebulyul uoronpoides pesuoyineun YBuAdos umoiD @ 2210 Alsuonels sAiselepy JoH Jo J9jjonuoD 8y Jo uolssiwiad ayy yum Buiddew Asaing 8ouBUPIQ dY) WOy paanpoidsy

couo_teyr\

POOM PloyAal

L% I

wJueH POOAA playhaln

00G¢:| |eds

S

D-n

N

B
NG AT

M oy
40 4 woil)2s Nl
aza>wNayAY Y NP4




Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or their solicitor, or, if the
applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate, by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the
application.

| LEONARD WILLIAM SHEEN of Willow House, Greyfield Road, High Littleton, BRISTOL, BS9
6YA solemnly and sincerely declare as follows:—

1. 1am one of the persons who has signed the foregoing application

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my knowledge and belief fully and
truly stated and | am not aware of any other fact which should be brought to the attention of
the registration authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in parts 10 and 11 of
the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map referred to in part 5 of the
application.

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue
of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835

Declared by the said
LEONARD WILLIAM SHEEN

at 24, Queens Square, Bath, BA1 2HY

Sianature of Declarant

this seventeenth day of J{
l{- ‘H\A L

ly 2612~
f'j 207y

Before me*

Signature: - -
Savauu usiosn

pureen Spuon fpbin BAL-2Led
Address: Wg?)& jouoh)& s %

MOGERS
Qualification:  C,, | 4k SOLICITORS
24 QUEENSRUARE
BATH BA1 2HY



*The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 24



$EEE£Z0001 Jequinu asusdi] -sBuipas0id [IAID 10 uoinoasold o) pea| Aew pue JyBuAdod umoid sabuijul uondnpoidal pasuoyineun 1yBuAdoD umoID @ 8ol Alsuonels sAlsaleyy JoH Jo J9]j0juoD ay; Jo uoissiwsad ay) yim Buiddew AsAIng souBUPIQ BU3 WOl paonpoidsy
— UFF — ey 452 L1550 ooFg

— DGoEd
V\ POO plalkaID \
ceo_z%_r\

&/

wie4 poopA pleykeln .

..-_ L .m... ....u.,“_- 3 T [~

Q

or

: O
%Dﬁm
g

00GZ:| 9[eos AN oy

3 SNHA 40 & wo1l2g o)
?@SB / oL 2V Tdd da>Nmyg Ay NUTHA
N
VIS0 IR
e EAN




YE£EECO00L iIsquinu asusan *sBuipas20id 1A Jo uonnoasoud o) pes| Aew pue 1ybuAdoo umory sabunjui uononpaidas pasuouineun “yBuAdon umoin) @ a2y Alsuoiels sAisalep JaH Jo 18)|04u0D) 8yl jo uoissiwiad ay) yim Buiddew Asaing aoueupiQ syl woll peonpoiday

" X

= A ujey

: N el s (ieE \ I % ﬂnﬂn. s ~
o J Rt 3 - N ety ﬂaﬂ{mﬁ:m B \ J/W._ \ A \ IH PrOI
T geiitthe mefpidy AN B sy \ WX ..
\m... it : i { ~yit oy T )
I \M i ; 3 | N e \
i / = 1 5 = -
] / 2acs s L N W
-l.xf.fln. i) I..!l.-w.. / = ] _— s 4
b i : - 4(\._.._..}5., S
1M s AxBunglt, T o \é.
. 1..; P =N ¥ » ~ b, &.&.\ /Pr
:.S/..V. \/ Y . - QV »
% B 2N YEd Sl
] . {0 - N7 ~ o 22 OV .rf o0y
U ping Dre NS~ =
S wemeg - (!‘_»J/r#v ¥ s
) MnaowiL ..«...,M_, \\ﬁ A e e./n.gn.uC 3 nUn..w,f/ w{r
\: = \
[esgng ™ S N
J A | - ! = - 1 ¥ o
A A Nz 5 s, O ¥ foompogery
M,..,.. ~ x____... .. } e \u.....L‘." "t /;.-\\ ? T ... N ; Lo oy ¥ ’ ~ 3
] b SR - = e 4 o, |
7 TG N B e S s A
: 3 K LS 5

N A+ Wyued Ho 9 wonnAS ! JaxAYAA3Y NgTld



Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or their solicitor, or, if the
applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate, by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the
application.

| MARK FRANCIS COLLINS, Mendip Ho!,Greyfield Road High Littleton, BRISTOL, BS9 6XZ
solemnly and sincerely declare as follows:—

1. 1 am one of the persons who has signed the foregoing application

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my knowledge and belief fully and
truly stated and | am not aware of any other fact which should be brought to the attention of
the registration authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in parts 10 and 11 of
the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map referred to in part 5 of the
application.

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue
of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835

Declared by the said
MARK FRANCIS COLLINS

at 24, Queens Square, Bath, BA1 2HY

this seventeenth day of July 2612 .
[THA /)IL(_ i.j 23 Sianature of Declarant

Before me*

Signature: —
. S At ‘ijgo'” W entd 2 Y

Addresszwgﬁg Solaicad 2 Quuca SQM

MOGERS

ifinatinn: ¢ SOLIC
Qualification: Q OKA Cs \0( o QUEEN";:::;SA e

BATHP2Gd 27HY



*The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 28



EEEZ0001 Jaquinu ssusd1

-sBuipaao0.d 110 Jo uonnaasold o} pes) Aew pue JybuAdod umos sabujjul uonanpoidal pasuoyineun UBLAdOD UMOID @ SaW0 AlBUoHES 54159l JoH JO JB[|01U0D By} Jo uoissiuuad ay) yim Buiddew Asaing soueupIO BY) Woy padnpoldey

LY

vy

(15U

TOTH TEEY -

uoel Y

V\

POOM PloUARID

SN

£ 720N
— g

(A

wue4 pooj ployhar

29

Page

00S¢:| °less
S

aﬁa

N

&Y
ovolX G114 A

HM o4
40 4 ~No12)36 NN
da>n=ydgIy U4

VISP OV D



+E£££20001 18guwnu asuadr] sBuipeadoid |1a10 Jo uonnoasoid o} pes| Aew pue 1ybuAdos umos] sabuijul uogonpoidas pasuoyineun yBuidor umoin @ aoyjQ Aleuonels s,Aisalely JaH Jo 18||0)u0D) ay) o voissiwiad ay) Yim Buiddew Asaing aoueupi( syl wolj paonpoiday

E—" - T N T
N ‘mﬂﬁw_f&&m\\); 5 g\awwmn? “\.zp
sl s R a5

S - N T S, )
A NG
/] ,

by

P ‘\./ A - e T Hel )
P L N ~ T
=220 o b = AR
e R 1
\ VO | Fa._.,wnm..

w_

b

S

o
= )

~ I 3

£oe s 4 e, A
e X T

NN

b TS M ARQUONY
. - \

-,4..
,M&sh //..
LR N

. o
:
;W.%?‘ _

Ny
¥ foom pewkery

0000}:- | 9eds
S

@\.@VB

N




Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or their solicitor, or, if the
applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate, by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the
application.

¢ Sm Moges (P
| RACHBEL T[DCOI\.’IBEI 15 Greyfield Common High Littleton, BRISTOL, BS9 6YL solemnly and

sincerely declare as follows:—
1. | am one of the persons who has signed the foregoing application

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my knowledge and belief fully and
truly stated and | am not aware of any other fact which should be brought to the attention of
the registration authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in parts 10 and 11 of
the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map referred to in part 5 of the
application.

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue
of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835

Declared by the said
RACHf(EL TiDCOMBE

at 24, Queéns Square Bath, BA1 2HY

this seventeenth day of July 2642 .
\g& Jql:j 0013 Sianature of Declarant

Before me*

g W {Ltﬁja-’/\

oot 24 @reen Sp une Kat A1 2y

Address:
[/btoyaﬁ
Cuslfoat MOGERS
ualinication: | SOLICITORS
b\,\&l\f 24 QUEEN SQUARE

BATH BK395s



*The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 32



¥S£E£2Z0001 Joquinu 8susoi

-sBuipaacoud 1A Jo uonnoasoid o} pes) Aew pue JyBuAdos umoi) sebulyul uononpoidsl paspouineun YBLAdOD umoId ® WO Kisuone)g s.A1selepy JoH JO 19]10.3uoD 3y} Jo uoissiwiad ay) yim Buiddew Asaing aoueupiQ 3y} wous paonpoldsy

L1

O TEES

T

ceo_ueu.._._\

=1

poom plaukain

N

/(YAS SN

wie4 poOOAA pleyheln .

Paq%§3

anNtg _
VoL 91 T4 A4

AN oy
J© & wolH2asg NN
da>nayAy43y N4

VS - WY D



YEEELC000} tequnu ssuadi *sButpas00ud |10 10 UoNN2850.d 01 P3| ABW pue 1yBLAdED umos) sabulyut uonanpoidal pasuolineurn] uBUAdoD umol) @ a214Q AJsUoNEIS SAlsalely JeH Jo JajioucD ay) jo uoissiuiad syl yum Buiddew AsAINS adueLPIQ By} WOJj paonpoiday

SO T ueq : X | L.J.f N ! \ /1._{— K Yig R =
a9 + E:Eop_\m\.\\ N3 | \....N/b ’ \ w. ./.....E (.f 1M PROIY
S . R et R, \ ..‘_- N
/ f f i : . .

TE-.... e 1S G i AT BT i Asnquay
e [ oy * \ -, .
1 P A A rﬂ- e o

[

i

b
e D

155

TN\ w\» o swfy
m_ Eaﬁmm TR 5 .‘\w\/ -\ ‘” \.ﬁﬁnﬂh‘”ﬂﬂﬁwﬂ\ - Mﬂ\\ =
% ARS8 T Bk . _.

Mo,

i fo t.w.« E.... \ = ... 2 Lt > —
- ENET sz ©T0 ¥ foom piewiern
e NS NG .wm __.n.rMnW.. ..1.'\ W AME ] ¥

3 d .KM& Qg )5 |
AR \\““\\ .mﬂ\\“%_ N\ 4

B . . 0\ R

0000}t: | 2eds
S

ﬁﬁ@VB

N



Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or their solicitor, or, if the
applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate, by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the
application.

| Jane Elizabeth Neech of Woodlea Bottom, Greyfield Road, High Littleton, BRISTOL, BS9 6YA
solemnly and sincerely declare as follows:—

1. Iam one of the persons who has signed the foregoing application

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my knowledge and belief fully and
truly stated and | am not aware of any other fact which should be brought to the attention of
the registration authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in parts 10 and 11 of
the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map referred to in part 5 of the
application.

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue
of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835

Declared by the said
JANE ELIZABETH NEECH

at 24, Queens Square, Bath, BA1 2HY

this seventeenth day of July 2042 . Sianature of Declarant
|Ha 3y 202
MOGERS
Before me* SOLICITORS

24 QUEEN SQUARE
BATH BA1 2ZHY

Signature:

QWM M LB
Address: Mc)zﬁg <. (A'C,«Lo& 2%

Qualification: \A W
SO C Page 35

Gueen Quome  Lakbin &Nt 2T



*The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 36



EEEZ0001 J3qunu Isus0

-sBuipeasosd 1A Jo uonnoasold o} pea Aew pue ybuAdeds umoi) ssbulyul uogonpoidal pasuoyineun BuAdoD umoID @ 22O AJeUCEIS S,A1Saley JaH Jo Ja]j0uoD 3y} Jo Loissiwsad au) Yiim Butddew Asaing oueupIQ sy) woy paonpo.day

T

TV Tl

(2]

TEES |

SEEEQI\

pooM plehaln

wie4 pooAA PleuAsID

S7/AN ;,./

00G¢-1 91edS

+

&b
oL VT

40
aa>N=TyAy3y NETA

AN oy
& woilD2s N

et

qdm_a_a.:.u% ¥



YEEES000| Jequinu asuaor

sBuipasooid 1A Jo uonnaasord o) pes) Aew pue yBuAdod umos] sebulijul uonanpoida: pasuoyineun 1ybuAdor umol] @ a0 Alauonelg s, Alsalep 1aH §o J3(10A U0 3yl jo uoissiwiad auy) uim Buiddew: Asaing soueupl() ay] Wosj pasnpoiday

= ‘ s w - A/_
o ) _m ,, ./wr_ B
% oﬂu.*ﬂcbcqﬂ_ d.ﬁ w,.,, % ...r. T agr_ﬂmﬁ / H PRO|Q
1 L5 b1
/ ~ o~ L I.L : by /aﬁ/ ._l...\.(u
AN ,,_w,/ e N G
.-I.“ -...:..cf;/-:_—.,_fﬂ.. .\\“ N‘.N : n b X R 1 e b
i " / b ] ,.ﬁ..m“ :JG . ,f/f. N f?__ \_lt"ﬂl =
uc_._bx\lf.r/ q\ M\.W __.. /w\u‘ - .m\..u@u./ .
/ » mm.uq “ ™ e 5 MV &.M.
oyw_ﬁﬁ E <ia, ¢ o
PO i
<f \\ [ Npv ¥ GG,
.._““ i .I..r..llrf i
s ¥ Foom prewer
+ ¥ 0o
\ wwes, i ¥ .
FOOM, PIAARES =

Page 38

win ,WM\\“//); R ,M,

0000} | |reds

S
/
s
[/
N




1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

2.1.

2.2.

3.1.

Appendix 3

COMMONS ACT 2006
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS
ROBIN CANDY’S FIELDS AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN
OBJECTION BY J E SHEPPARD & SONS (SAWMILLS)

Introduction

The fields over which the Village Green Application has been made (‘the Land’) are
owned by J E Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills)(‘the Owner’).

The Land was let under an Agricultural Tenancy in 1955 to Robin Candy.

Since about 2001, the Land has been licensed to N F Clothier and Sons for the grazing of
sheep.

The Application and Statutory Provisions

The Application was dated 17 July 2013 and registered by Bath and North East Somerset
Council (‘the Council’) on 19 July 2013. The user evidence forms accompanying the
Application were mostly, if not all, dated in July 2013.

The Application appears to have been made pursuant to Section 15 (2) of the Commons
Act 2006. That means the Council must be satisfied that:

(i) A significant number of the inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood

(ii) have indulged as of right

(iii) in lawful sports and pastimes on the Land

(iv) for atleast 20 years and

(v) continued to do so at 17 July 2013.

The Objection

The Owner objects is made on the basis that the Application fails to satisfy the test under
Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 in a number of regards. These are set out below.

A significant number of inhabitants

Page 39



3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

The Owners do not at present disagree that the residents of Greyfield Road, Greyfield
Common, Westwood Ave, Up the Gug, the various houses now on the former Colliery Site
and Gores Park constitute a neighbourhood. However, there are at least 137 properties
on these three roads. Evidence forms were received from only 38 households which is
approximately 28% of the total households in this neighbourhood. That is not a
significant number such as to satisfy the Section 15 test. Further the Parish Council has
resolved not to support the application. That must cast doubt on the level of use claimed.
As of Right

The Owners do not believe that any use of the fields has been as of right. The Land was
used by Mr Candy to keep first, his dairy herd and latterly his calf rearing and beef cattle
from 1955 until 2001. The cattle were generally in the fields from early April to mid
November. During most of these years, a hay crop was also grown during the months
when the cattle were not in the field. After 2001 and until the present time, sheep
owned by N F Clothier and Sons were kept in the fields.

Mr and Mrs Candy and others are clear that the fields were not used to the extent
claimed. Indeed if Mr Candy did see anyone on the Land he would turn them away or
occasionally give qualified permission.

This position is made clear by a number of user witnesses who did not use the fields
when there was livestock present. Further there are user witnesses who expressly state
that they were given permission to use the field. Some witnesses acknowledge that
qualified permission was given they could not take dogs into the field when livestock was
present or that they must keep to the field edge while the hay crop was grown.

The Owners accept that a handful, perhaps ten, of the properties adjoining the fields
have gates into it. These gates are in varying degrees of repair and some very recently
installed. The Owner understands that these gates were installed and used to allow the

respective owners to access the hedge/fence, wall or other boundary structure on their

Page 40



3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

3.10.

3.11.

3.12.

boundary in order to maintain it. Indeed that is Mr Candy’s understanding and

recollection.

Therefore user was not as of right. The users of the field were doing so with express
permission. Any other use cannot have been as of right if use did not take place whilst
livestock was present. That is because users must have acknowledged they were not
asserting a right by ceasing use at these times.

Lawful Sports and pastimes

The Owners accept that the activities claimed are lawful sports and pastimes for the
purposes of Section 15.

For 20 years

There is simply no sufficient evidence that the claimed uses took place over 20 years.
Only small number of the households which completed evidence forms had used the
Land for 20 years or more by 17 July 2013. The majority of users’ use spans, in most
cases, significantly less than 10 years.

Of those whose use was the 20 years or more, they mostly used the Land very
infrequently typically ranging from once per month or a few times a year. That use is
simply insufficient to satisfy the test.

Further the use was not for a continuous period of 20 years. When livestock were
present, use ceased and so the 20 year period would be reset.

Mr Candy kept livestock on the Land for significant periods of the year until late October
2001. That is some 12 years ago. The user evidence suggests that the use of the fields by
the user witnesses increased when Mr Candy sold off his cattle. The evidence is not good
enough to show that there was significant numbers of people in the neighbourhood using

the fields for 20 years or more.

Page 41



3.13.

3.14.

3.15.

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

The Owners accept that the user witness forms show use continuing until the date of the
Application but they do not accept that use was taking place at the levels claimed.

The Owners also have a number of letters and statements from local people which
support their objection and dispute the evidence submitted with the application. These
are enclosed with this objection.

The Applicant has also written to the Owners saying that ‘the application follows concern
by residents .. about the possibility of development of this land’. The proposed
development is on a small part of the claimed village green. The question therefore
arises as to why, if the use was as claimed, the application was not made sooner.
Conclusion

The evidence submitted with the Application is insufficient to register a Town or Village
Green. For most of the year until October 2001, cattle were kept in the fields. During
this time either the local people did not use the fields or their use was with permission.
Since 2001 the Land has been used for grazing sheep and the farmer’s agent has not seen
people using the fields, other than occasionally, despite living next to the fields.

The number of people using the fields for the claimed uses has not been sufficient since
July 1993 to satisfy the test under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Whilst the user
evidence, if taken on face value, shows use to have increased during the 20 year period,
claimed increase in use from, say, 2003 — 2013 cannot make up for the lack of use from
1993 — 2001 (when the cattle were sold).

The Applicants has failed to satisfy the statutory test. Therefore, the Owners respectfully

request that the Council reject the Application.

Page 42



Appendix 4

15 Greyfield Common
High Littleton
BRISTOL

BS39 6YL

September 30" 2013
Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer
Bath and North East Somerset Council
Riverside
Temple Street
Keynsham
BA31 1LA

Dear Mr Stark

Application Reference- TVG13/2 (Town & Village Green Application for the land known as “Robin
Candy’s Fields”)

| refer to the afore mentioned application, that has been submitted to BANES on behalf of Mark
Collins, Rachel Tidcombe, Jane Neech and Leonard Sheen, and is supported by many residents of the
neighbourhood of Greyfield.

Please find enclosed our response to the objection raised on behalf of Mr Alan Sheppard.
In addition to our response to the objection, | also enclose:

¢ 5 further statements and associated photographs that have been received by us in support of
the application.

* A photograph of the notice on a fence post adjacent to the fields, that we have referred to in
our objection

* A letter received from Jacob Rees Mogg, MP.

We await further instruction from you regarding the progression of our application to register the
land as a Town or Village Green.

Yours sincerely,

Mrs Rachel Tidcombe

Page 43



COMMONS ACT
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS
ROBIN CANDY’S FIELDS AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN
APPLICANTS RESPONSE TO THE OBJECTION BY

J E SHEPPARD (SAWMILLS) {the Owners)

1. Introduction

1.1,

The Appplicants acknowledge that the land is:

1.1.1. owned by ] E Sheppard (Sawmills) (the Owner);
1.1.2. let to Robin Candy under and Agricultural Tenancy; and
1.1.3. licensed to N F Clothier and Sons for the grazing of sheep

2. The Application and Statutory Provisions

2.1

The Applicants confirm that the Application was made pursuant to Section 15 of the
Commons Act 2006 and that the Application is made on the basis of subsection 15 (2) of the

2006 Act.

3. The Objection

3.1.

3.2,

3.3.

The Applicants assert that the evidence they have provided to the Council demonstrates
that the tests provided in subsection 15 {2) of the 2006 Act have been fully satisfied

The Applicants note that the Owner does not dispute that Greyfield constitutes a
“neighbourhood” within the locality of High Littleton Parish Council. The Applicants assert
that they have received evidence from 118 people regarding their regular use of the la nd in
question for lawful sports and pastimes which represents approximately 34% of the
residents. The meaning of significant is not defined in law but in R (Alfred McAlpine Homes
Ltd) v Staffordshire County Councif {2002} EWHC 7 (admin) 2 PLR 1 Sullivan J. ruled that
significant did not mean “a considerable or substantial” number of people but that the
number of people had to be sufficient to show that the land was in general use by the
inhabitants of the neighbourhood rather than just occasional use by individuals. The
Applicants contend that they have satisfied that test.

As of Right

The Applicants acknowledge that the land has been used for grazing animals and that on
occasions a Hay Crop has been taken. However, they assert that whilst this may have
restricted activities to certain parts of the field it has not prevented the inhabitants from
using the land for lawful sports and pastimes on a continuous basis for twenty years. This is
a rural community and the residents in general respect the country code. Thus they will
keep animals on a lead near livestock (as requested by the sign which is attached to the
gate access opposite Maynard Terrace) and would keep to the edges of the field or the
well-worn tracks when a Hay Crop is near to harvest. In his evidence Mr Chivers confirms
that dog walkers have used the fields and that a strip feeding system with electric fencing
was used for feeding cattle. Such a strip feeding system would not prevent most of the
field being available for recreation. The owners assertion that “the cattle were generally in
the fields from early April to mid-November” is not compatible with their statement that

Page 44



3.4,

3.5,

3.6,

3.7.

“During most years a hay crop was also grown during the months when cattle were not in
the field”. Grass tends not to grow much in the winter and early spring.

The evidence of Mr Martin, who may well be a very eminent Chartered Surveyor, is of little
value in this matter. As the Land Agent to the Owner, his visits to Greyfield Wood Farm
would be infrequent and almost exclusively during the working day. Little if any of his time
would have been spent on the Land in question. His claim that this Application is frivolous
or vexatious is without any foundation. Mr Kingwill's evidence does not seem to be
complete. His family kept horses at the Farm. In a separate e-mail, Mrs Kingwill has
confirmed that people walked dogs in the field. It is submitted that this was on a far more
regular basis than is suggested by Mr Kingwill's evidence. The evidence of Mr Candy
confirms that he only ever gave two people permission to walk dogs in the fields, it follows
that all others were doing so without his authority and were using the fields “as of right”.
The Applicants have ample evidence of individuals using the land for lawful recreation and
pastimes on a regular and continuous basis. Mr Candyisa respected member of the
community of Greyfield and the Applicants regret any conflict that this Application may
have caused him and his wife. He is a good neighbour and as such has shown the residents
of Greyfield neighbourly tolerance in the utilisation of the land.

The Applicants do not dispute that some inhabitants do not use the fields when livestock
are present. However, the evidence shows that others continue to use the fields at such
times, whilst respecting the need not to disturb grazing animals. The sign on the gate
referenced in 3.3 above does not try to prevent access, it does not give permission for
access, but is consistent with neighbourly tolerance and asks for dogs to be led. Itis
submitted that if dog walking was not taking place other than by the two people given
permission by Mr Candy, there would be no need for the sign. The Applicants have
photographic evidence of the fields being used by residents of the neighbourhood when
animals are present in the fields. The House of Lords Judgment in R v Oxfordshire County
Council and others ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 ALL ER 85 held that
neighbourly toleration by the landowner was not inconsistent with use as of right.
Additionally in Sunningwell (supra) the House of Lords confirmed that “village green rights
can be established in circumstances where there happens to be some lawful, and
compatible, grazing or indeed hay-cutting, on the land”.

The Applicants accept that the gates in the properties bounding the land are used for the
purpose of maintaining boundaries. However they are used by the owners of those
properties for recreational activities on the fields, A Witness Statement in this respect
made by one of the applicants, Leonard Sheen is attached, and is also acknowledged by
other withess statements.

The assertion that users of the field “were doing so with permission” is not supported by
the statement of Mr Candy, nor is it supported by the evidence produced by the Applicants.
The Applicants assert that the Owner has no basis for making this claim. The Applicants
have submitted evidence that use did take place when livestock were present. The Owners
assertion that use did not take place when livestock was present is therefore erroneous and
it follows that their argument that this acknowledged some kind of permission therefore
fails,

Page 45



Lawful Sports and pastimes

3.8.

3.8.

3.10.

3.1%

3.12.

3.13.

3.14.

3.15.

The Applicants note that the Owners accept that the activities amounted to lawful sports
and pastimes.
That the evidence of 20 years or more usage is less than that relating to more recent time
spans is neither surprising nor significant. Twenty years ago the neighbourhood consisted
of fewer dwellings. The normal turnover of houses will ensure that current evidence is
numerically stronger. However, what is clear from the Applicants evidence is that the land
has been in continuous use throughout that period (except during the period around the
2001 Foot and Mouth epidemic when Statutory Restrictions applied}. It is not necessary
for the Applicants to produce the same level of evidence for all periods, merely for them to
show, on the balance of probabilities, that the land has been continuously used during the
20-year period. Recreational Activities are also accepted to be seasonal by nature.
The Applicants assert that the evidence they have provided demonstrates continuity of use
over the 20 year period required by the 2006 Act. The Owners assertion that the evidence
from twenty years ago shows insufficient usage is erroneous for reasons outlined in 3.9
above.
The applicants have made clear in paragraph 3.5 above that their evidence shows that
residents of Greyfield do take part in lawful sports and pastimes during periods when
livestock are in the fields. The Owners assertion that this is not the case and therefore the
twenty year continuity is broken whenever animals are put out to graze is not supported by
the evidence.
For the reasons set out tn paragraph 3.9 above the Applicants argue that the Owner is
wrong in his assertion that there is not evidence of significant numbers using the Land
during the earlier periods prior to the sale of Mr Candy’s cattle. The Applicants refer to R
(Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) v Staffordshire County Councif [2002] (supra) and the
arguments set out in paragraph 3.2 above.
The applicants assert that the respondents to the guestionnaires and those who have
provided written statements have done so with honesty and integrity. There is no evidence
to the contrary. The Owners have no basis for their assertion that “they do not accept that
use was taking place at the levels claimed”.
The Applicants note that all of the statements in support of the Owner’s objection are made
by those who are or were professional advisers to the Owner, or who otherwise have a
direct or indirect financial connection with the Owner. Their evidence is contradictory and
does not disprove the case advanced by the Applicants
The Owners suggestion that the Council needs to look at either the motive for registration
or to question why an application was not made sooner is irrelevant to the process of
registration and should be discounted by the Council

4. Conclusion
4.1. The Applicants submit that the evidence they have provided is sufficient for the Council to

register the land as a Town or Village Green. Mr Candy’s evidence is that he only ever gave
two people permission to walk dogs. The evidence shows that there was far greater use of
the land and that that use was without permission, albeit with neighbourly tolerance. It is
unclear to whom the Owners are referring when they state that the “farmer’s agent has not
seen people using the fields. We presume this should be a reference to Mr Candy. Mr

3
Page 46



Candy’s house and farm yard are not in direct sight of the land in question. The fields are
surrounded by and separated by high hedging which, together with the undulating nature
of the landscape would make it difficult for anyone to have a clear view of the whole of the
land at any one time. As Mr Kingwill stated in his email, he was more aware of the western
field than the eastern field.

4.2. The Applicants assert that the evidence shows that a significant number of residents of
Greyfield have indulged as a right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of
at least 20 years and continued to do so until 19 july 2013.

4.3. The Applicants have satisfied the statutory test. Therefore the Applicants respectfully
request the Council to register the land in accordance with the provisions of the 2006 Act.

Presented by:
Jane Neech
Leonard Sheen
Mark Collins

Rachel Tidcombe

30" September 2013

Page 47



COMMONS ACT
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS
ROBIN CANDY’S FIELDS AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN
WITNESS STATEMENT OF
LEONARD WILLIAM SHEEN

| Leonard William Sheen of Willow House, Greyfield Road, High Littleton, Bristol BS39 6YA make the
following statement in support of the application to register the land known as Robin Candy’s fields
as a Village Green pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Registration Act 2006.

1) My wife and | moved to the above address on 25 April 2007. Our property backs onto Robin
Candy’s fields and we can see the eastern field from our home.

2) When we erected a boundary fence in 2007 we included a gate to give us easy access to the field
{previously we had climbed over the fence). We did not seek permission to erect this gateway.

3} Since we moved to the property we have walked our dogs on Robin Candy’s fields most days
when we have been at home. Therefore this is a regular and typical activity.

4} We gather blackberries, sloes and Elderflowers from the land for culinary purposes.

5} We play with our grandchildren on the land; games such as hide and seek, tag, and ball games.
Again this is a regular and typical activity.

6) In winter during snow falls we have used the land to build snowmen, go sledging and have
snowhall fights.

7) We use the land to introduce our grandchildren to rural matters and the nature of farms and
animal husbandry. We have also introduced them to wildlife and bird watching

8) Atall times we have ensured that our activities do not interfere with any animais grazing the
land. However, this has not prevented us from making use of the land when sheep have been
present.

9) Likewise when a Hay Crop has been grown, we have taken care not to damage the crop.
However, this has not prevented us from enjoying the fields, we have merely kept to the edge of
the fields or folowed the tracks in the pasture where little grass grows

10} | have regularly seen other resident of Greyfield making use of the land for similar purposes
either when | have been present in the land or from my home.

11) When Mr and Mrs Kingwill were residents of Greyfield Road | would regularly meet one or other
of them walking their dog and we would engage in conversation. They also rode their pony in
the field from time to time when they had stabling at Greyfield Farm.

12} We have never been given nor have we sought permission to use the fand.

13} Mr Candy would have been aware of our activities because on several occasions when we have
noticed problems on the land with the livestock we have made contact with him at the farm.
Mostly this has been because sheep have escaped or cattle have entered the field from a
neighbouring field.

14) On these occasions | have assisted Mr Candy in rounding up the strays. On other occasions
when we have seen sheep where they should not have been, we have got them back into the
field and advised Mr Candy on their escape route.

Page 48



15) Last winter when Mr Candy was in hospital | noticed that the feed to a water trough had failed
and | advised Mrs Candy of the problem so that she could get the matter resolved.

16) Mr Candy is a very friendly gentleman for whom [ have great respect. We would always
converse when we met.

17) At no time has Mr Candy asked me or any member of my family not to enter the fields.

18) | have always understood that the type of use of the field | have described has been available to
residents of the neighbourhood and | presume that it is for that reason that there is a notice on
the gate at Maynard Terrace asking for dogs to be kept on a lead when near farm animals.

19} In the South Eastern corner of the Western field there is a very well-worn track across the fence
into the woedland owned by the Woodland Trust. This seems to be a very well worn path,
clearly used and accessed by adults and children from the field and must have been in existence
for many years.

20) | am clear that express permission to use the land has not been given and therefore believe that
such use of the land is permitted because it is in effect a Village Green within the meaning of the
2006 Act

21) For the above reasons | ask that the registration authority enter into the register of village
greens the land set out in this application.

| believe that the contents of this statement are to the best of my knowledge and belief a true
statement of the facts therein set out

Signed.. 27" September 2013

Leonard William Sheen

Page 49



Thursday, 26 September 2013 07:36:41 British Summer Time

Subject: FW: Village Green Objection
Date: Thursday, 26 September 2013 07:35:29 British Summer Time

From: Rachel Tidcombe

From: paul allen <grumpy1168@gmail.com>
Date: Sunday, 15 September 2013 20:19

To: Me <rachel.tidcombe@sky.com>
Subject: Re: Village Green Objection

| can confirm use of the fields in the period mentioned by Sheppards. | frequently ran to/from Greyfield Woods,
before or after work, at least 2 days/week. As a family we also walked into the woods by the same routes. The
cows did not pose a problem (they were normally grazing in the most westerly area of the fields ) and we never
sought permission. The primary effect of the grazing cows, was to make the southern gate exit (where Candy had
a feeder and water trough) almost impassable due to deep mud and faeces.This area has always been wet,
sometimes waterlogged, and not a hormal route into the woods. | think the objectors should say what level of
evidence they require ? Are they saying whatever level of information has been presented, is not factual or
otherwise lacking credibility ?

regards

Paul

On Sun, Sep 15, 2013 at 5:06 PM, Rachel Tidcombe <rachel.tidcombe @sky.com> wrote:
All,

Further to my email last week:

We have received one objection from the Landowner (Shepherd & Sons Sawmills). The
predominant basis of their objection is as follows:

e The evidence submitted with the Application is insufficient to register a Town or
Village Green. For most of the year until October 2001, cattle were kept in the fields.
During this time either the local people did not use the fields or their use was with
permission.

If you have used the fields during 1993 to 2001, and you are able to provide a statement to
confirm use, please could you provide me with an email to state as such.

Please note also that the Parish Council have elected to not support the Village Green
Application, but have not lodged a formal objection.

If you are able to help further with the Application by providing a statement to support use of
the fields as an amenity during this time period especially, please could you contact me by Friday
20th September 2013.

Many thanks.

Regards,

Rachel

Page 50
Page 10f2



Friday, 20 September 2013 19:02:30 British Summer Time

Subject: Fw: Village Green Application.
Date: Sunday, 8 September 2013 17:46:45 British Summer Time

From: Elizabeth Hatch
To: Rachel, rachel.tidcombe@sky.com

Rachel,

Please see e mail below from Derek Hudnott. | haven't responded to Derek yet.
Liz

~~~~~ Forwarded Message «mm-

From: Sylvia Hudnott <sd@hudnoits9.freessrve.co.uk>
To: liz.hatch24@btinternst.com

Sent: Sunday, 8 September 2013, 10:26

Subject: Village Green Application.

Hi
I have just read the article in the Parish Newsletter regarding the application and would like to help.

We have lived in Scobell Rise for over 40 years now, our three children having attended all the
various village groups and organisations over the years, from toddlers to scouts.

From 1998 until last year, I was the voluntary warden for the Woodland Trust responsibie for
Greyfield Wood, when I handed over the post to Sean Skelhorn.

I still head up the Greyfield Wood Support Group, that has carried out project and maintenance
work in the wood since that date.

Regarding the field in question, over the years this was indeed used by locals for recreational
purposes, kite flying, tobogganing, dog walking etc, as well as an alternative access leading down to
Stephens Wood and the waterfall area beyond the wood. Access for us, before the existence of
'Greyfield Common', was via a gate off Greyfield Road which is probably still there.

I hope this helps
regards

Derek Hudnott. (01761 470847)

Page 51
Page 1 of 1



Friday, 20 September 2013 18:55:02 British Summer Time

Subject: Fw: Hi Nicky.... | hope you don't mind but
Date: Tuesday, 17 September 2013 10:01:15 British Summer Time

From: JOANNA MOORE
To: Rachel Tidcombe

Dear Rachel,

Please see below the response from the Kingwill's who owned Woodlea, prior to us...
Thanks
Jo

----- Forwarded Message -----

From: "Nickykingwill@aol.com" <Nickykingwill@aol.com>
To: jojomomo@btinternet.com

Sent: Monday, 16 September 2013, 20:03

Subject: Re: Hi Nicky.... | hope you don't mind but

Dear Joanna

Apologies for not replying to your email about the Village Green application, | am not very good at keeping up to date with my
emaiis!

| am so pleased to hear that you are enjoying Woodlea as a family home, we had many happy years there, congratulations on your
third daughter, no doubt you have your hands fulll

After moving from Somerset we went to Kent and rerted for 6 months and bought our present house in Jan 2011. Qur address is
Coldblow Farmhouse, Woodchurch, Ashford, Kent TN26 3PJ. Tel 01233 860631,

| can understand the reasons behind applying for Village Green status to avoid the land being built on. We were very surprised to
hear of the application for housing outside of the village boundary, Bear in mind there was a Village Design Statement produced a
fow years before we left Woodlea. | do not know if it is still valid as guidance to be used by Planners. It states the land between
Greyfield Road and the Woods is important to the village and its setting.

One could argue that the land owned by the co-op should be built on before the Jand at the back of Woodlea and Woodlea hottom
as it is more like infilling.

We were at Woodlea from 1993 to 2010. During that ime we walked our dog across the field to Greyfield Farm. We kept ponies at
the Farm and are friends of Mr and Mrs Candy. We had permission of Mr Candy and also latterly, after Mr Candy sold his cattle, of
the Farmer (also a friend of ours) who kept sheep on the land, to walk our dog across the land and we used to look over the sheep
for him

Very occasionally we used to ride our pony in the field with Mr Candy's permission.

During our time at Woodlea we did not use the field for any other recreational purpose, t am not aware of any fireworks or other
parties or events ever being held there. Other people used to walk their dogs in the fleld. | cannot recall the field ever being used for
anything other than agriculture.

The use of the land for agriculture is significant to the farming business of Greyfisld Wood Farm, and during our time in High Littieton
this has always been its primary use.

With best wishes in your endeavours,
Kind regards

Nicky and Peter Kingwill
and family,

Page 52
Page 1 ofil



Friday, 20 September 2013 18:56:48 British Summer Time

Subject: Village Green
Date: Friday, 20 September 2013 10:02:58 British Summer Time

From: Chris
To: 'Rachel Tidcombe'
CcC: 'Bridget Rylance'

Sorry for the late reply Rachel — got back last night from a week’s boogy-boarding in Cornwall.

We find it difficult to make any more clear statements about our use of the fields other than those we have
made in our previous statements. However in reply to the Shepherd’s objection we can say the following:-

We lived in “Greenwood” opposite the North west corner of the fields between 1971 and 1986. We had 3 sons,
and in that time we all frequently used the field. We never asked permission. After 1986 we lived for 3 years in
Hallatrow, moving back here to “The Old Bridge” in 1990. Whenever it snowed we would sledge and snowball
across it, as shown in the photos we have previously passed to you, but not just in the years of those photos.

Certainly Robin Candy was primarily a dairy farmer up to 2001, but would move the cows from field to field. |
have picked mushrooms there in September several times before 1986, probably with no cows in there at the
time. We have found a couple of photos from spring 1978 which clearly show an empty field, and an open gate.

I’ll forward them to you separately.

Chris

Page 53
Pagelofl






Page 55






JacoB REEs-MoOGG, MP

5 o MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT FOR NORTH EAST SOMERSET Cof?\f
nin] ‘ HousE OF COMMONS :
LONDON /
SWIiA OAA

Ms Jane Neech,
Woodleigh Bottom,
Greyfields Road,
High Littleton,
Somerset, BS39 6YA.

Jos b Bk

Thank you for coming to see me at my recent advice centre in Keynsham.

2‘ September 2013

It was good to have the opportunity to see you again and to talk about the Village Green
Consultation and your decision to pursue the tree preservation order.

You appear to have a well argues case and | know this will be taken into account when
the final decision is made by Bath and North East Somerset Council.

With every good wish,

TEL: 020 72192 7118 Fax: 020 7219 3215
EMAIL: JACOB.REESMOGG.MP@PARLDABR POk WEBSITE: WWW.JACOBREESMOGG.COM



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



Appendix 5

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AT ROBIN CANDY’S FIELDS,
HIGH LITTLETON, BRISTOL

(also referred to as Greyfield Fields and the Sheppard’s Fields

REPORT OF

MR. MARTIN EDWARDS

Vernon Hitchman
Divisional Director (Legal & Democratic Services)
Bath & North East Somerset Council
Northgate House
Upper Borough Walls
Bath
BA1 1RG

Ref: SE.PEV.9611

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 59



Introduction

1. | have been appointed by Bath & North East Somerset Council as Registration
Authority (“the Registration Authority”) to consider and hold a non-statutory public
inquiry into an application to register certain land as a new town or village green
(“TVG”) pursuant to either section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 and to report to
the Registration Authority on the application and to recommend whether the
application for registration should be approved and the land registered as a new
TVG.

2. The role of an independent inspector in these circumstances requires me, as the
inspector, to consider all the evidence submitted to the Registration Authority as
part of the application determination process including both documentary evidence
and oral testimony presented to the inquiry and to then assess that evidence

against the relevant statutory criteria and case law.

3. In advance of the inquiry, and as an aid to the parties’ preparation, on 7 January
2014 | provided Directions as to relevant procedural matters. Those directions were
generally adhered to by the parties and no issues have arisen from them that
require any further comment. | was also provided with copies of the original
application and the supporting material (including signed and other statements and
evidence questionnaires), the objections duly made to it and such further
correspondence and exchanges that had taken place in writing from the parties. |
also received written legal submissions from the parties in advance of the inquiry
and | also received written closing submissions. | would like to thank the advocates

for the clarity of their respective submissions.

4. The inquiry took place in two sessions. The first session commenced on Tuesday 17
June 2014 and lasted for 3 days until Thursday 19 June 2014. It was concerned with
the Applicants’ case and supporting evidence. The inquiry then reconvened on
Tuesday 21 October 2014 and closed on Thursday 23 October 2014. During the
course of the inquiry | heard evidence from witnesses whose details are annexed to

this report in the List of Appearances. | carried out an accompanied site visit on

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 60



the afternoon of Tuesday 21 October 2014. | also undertook unaccompanied site
visits before and during the inquiry. | would like to thank everyone who
participated in the inquiry, especially those that gave evidence, for their courtesy
and contribution. Sadly | must record that during the interval between the two
sessions both Mr. and Mrs. Candy passed away. It was clear to me that all present
had nothing but kind words to say of Mr. and Mrs. Candy and | wish to take this

opportunity of expressing my condolences to their family and friends.

5. In addition to the oral evidence that | heard, | have had regard in producing this
Report and my Recommendations to all of the written and documentary material

submitted by the parties.

6. All written and other documentary material submitted with the application and the
objections, including plans and photographs, written statements from local people
and all material submitted in the run-up to the inquiry and at the inquiry has been
read or examined by me and | have taken all of it into account in forming the views
which | have come to on the totality of the evidence. However, as is to be
expected, more weight will inevitably be accorded (where there are matters in
dispute) to evidence which was given in person by a witness who is then subject to,
or in the course of this inquiry, made available for, cross-examination and for
questioning by me, than will be the case for mere written statements, completed
questionnaires etc. where there is no opportunity to challenge or question the
author. A number of statutory declarations were also submitted. As usual | have

accorded them greater weight than | would to unsworn statements.

The Application

10. The Application was made by Mark Collins, Jane E. Neech, Rachel Tidcombe and
Leonard Sheen of c/o Mendip Ho!, Greenfield Road, High Littleton, Bristol BS39 6XZ
(“the Applicants”) and was sighed and dated 17 July 2013. It was accompanied by
statutory declarations sworn by each of the Applicants. The Application was
accepted by the Registration Authority on 19 July 2013. Notice of the Application
was advertised by the Registration Authority in the Midsomer Norton, Radstock and

District Journal on 25 July 2013 and it required objections to be submitted to it by

3
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 61



10 September 2013. The application was made under section 15(2) of the Commons
Act 2006 on the basis that a significant number of inhabitants of the neighbourhood
of Greenfield have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a period of
at least 20 years as witnessed by 41 signed evidence questionnaires showing use for
activities including dog walking, rambling/walking, nature watching, sledging and
snowballing and educational purposes by a total of 88 people who have signed the
evidence questionnaires. It follows that for the purposes of the application the
relevant period is that from 19 July 1993 - 19 July 2013.

11. The Application land (“the Land”) was described in the application form as “Robin
Candy’s Fields (also referred to as Greyfields Fields and the Sheppard’s Fields)”.
Notwithstanding the alternative names for the Land it was clear to me that all the
witnesses who gave evidence confirmed by reference to the photograph on display
at the inquiry that their evidence related to the Land irrespective of the name by
which the witness chose to give it. Therefore there was no dispute as to the
precise extent of the Land. It is that area shown on the plan exhibited to the

statutory declarations sworn by the Applicants.

12. The Land was said to be located “between Greyfields Woods and Greyfields Road
and adjacent to Greyfield Common in High Littleton, Bristol. OS reference: Two
fields approx. centred on ST 6405 5850 and ST 6424 5839”. The neighbourhood was
stated to be the neighbourhood of Greyfields (the Applicants confirmed that the
reference in the form to the plural was a typographical error). It was described as
“...bounded by Dando’s Stores at the High Street of High Littleton (A39) and
extends along Greenfield Road including all the cul-de-sacs that join it (Greyfield

Common and Westwood Avenue) and into Gores Park”.

13. The Land is owned by J E Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills) of Crosslands, Wells Road,
Chilcompton, Radstock, Somerset BA3 4ET. At the time of the application it was
tenanted and occupied by Mr. Robin Candy of Greyfield Farm, High Littleton,
Bristol BS9 6YQ.

14. On 9 September 2013 Messrs Battens Solicitors, on behalf of the Landowner,

submitted written objections to the Application accompanied by statutory

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 62



declarations from Mr. Robin Candy sworn on 5 September 2013, Mrs. Christine
Candy also sworn on 5 September 2013 and unsworn statements from NF Clothier
and Sons Ltd, Mr. Peter Kingwill, Mr. Alastair Martin and Mr. Mark Chivers. On 30
September 2013 Mrs. Tidcombe responded in writing to the objections and
enclosed five further statements and additional photographs together with a letter

received from the local MP Mr. Jacob Rees Mogg.

15. The Land comprises two large fields that have been used for many years for grazing
cattle and sheep. With regard to the extent of the Land, its boundaries, location
within the neighbourhood and its topography it was clear to me that there was no
factual dispute between the parties on any of these matters. | do not propose
therefore to describe the Land in any further detail. In any event the extent of the
Land was shown on numerous undisputed documents. What was in dispute,
however, was the use of the Land that may have been made by local inhabitants

during the relevant period.

The Case for the Applicants - Evidence

The case for the Applicants was advanced by Mr. Sheen. He did so with great skill
and courtesy for which | am grateful. He presented an Opening Statement and
provided a written copy. Whilst | have read and taken into account all the points
that he made in his Opening Statement it does enable me to merely summarise

what | consider to be the Applicant’s main opening points:-

(a) the Applicants accept that the burden of proof rests with them;

(b) they believe that they have complied with all procedural and evidential
requirements needed to satisfy the statutory tests;

(c) they do not believe that there is any ambiguity in their case;

(d) they were encouraged to undertake the Application on behalf of a strong
neighbourhood steeped in local history;

(e) people were encouraged not to exaggerate in the questionnaire
responses;

(f) they believe that the evidence in support is compelling and truthful;

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 63



(g) the Applicants would call a sample of witnesses to cover the relevant
period as others were unavailable due to work or personal commitments;
and

(h) Mr. Sheen confirmed that all the other matters related to the case were

as original submitted and previously advised.

(The Objector’s counsel, Mr. Honey, then presented his Opening Statement.
However his submissions were largely reiterated and incorporated in his Closing

Submissions which | deal with below.)

Oral Evidence

19. The Applicants called a number of witnesses as set out below. | have, of course,
taken into account the comment made by Mr. Sheen at point (g) of his Opening
Statement. The page number references in this section are to the page numbers in
the Applicants’ Bundle. Reference is made wherever possible to the first page of

the relevant document.

20.Mark Collins, (one of the Applicants) lives at Mendip Ho! Greyfield Road, High
Littleton, BS39 6X2. He produced an evidence questionnaire dated 14 July 2013
(page 112) and a witness statement dated 11 May 2014 (page 517). In addition, of
course, he had sworn a Statutory Declaration which was submitted with the
Application. He confirmed the accuracy of the original documents and read his

witness statement.

21.He has lived at his current address since December 2011. He has had first-hand
knowledge of the use of the Land by locals from that period. He and wife use the
Land in excess of six occasions a year and see neighbours using it every day that
they are at home. They went sledging during the snow of January 2013. The
livestock are sometimes a reason for using the Land. They enter the Land by the
main gate to the road and they have never tried to hide their use of the Land. He
has a clear view of the Land from his house and the gate is a common access point.
He produced a number of photographs showing use of the Land in January, May,

June and July 2013 and January 2014. The Land is a focal point for recreation in

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 64



22.

23.

24.

the village. Occasionally he has seen people using the Land at night with torches

and fluorescent jackets.

He described the background to the Application. Following parish council and
village meetings the neighbourhood decided to investigate the possibility of
registering the Land as a new TVG. The intention was to secure the rights of local
people to enjoy the Land for recreation and to protect it from development that
would be detrimental to TVG rights. He and others then circulated evidence
questionnaires in support of the Application. The completed questionnaires were
submitted with the Application and some residents also submitted additional

personal statements.

The key points that arose from the questionnaires and statements were:

(a) a significant number of inhabitants of the neighbourhood use the Land - 36% of
individuals (118 out of 331) living in the neighbourhood provided evidence
questionnaires and/or personal statements showing their use of the Land over
the relevant period;

(b) the use of the Land had been without force - 81% of individuals (95 out of 118)
using the Land accessed the Land via a gate of which 30 persons gained access
via private gardens. The remainder did not specify how access was gained;

(c) the use of the Land had been without secrecy - 33% of individuals (39 out of
118) who used the Land had been seen by the owner/occupier and none had
been asked to leave or prevented from using it;

(d) 5% of individuals (6 out of 118) had sought and been granted permission to use
the Land for specific purposes;

(e) the use of the Land is for lawful sports and pastimes with rambling/walking and
enjoying the view being by far the largest reasons for using/entering the Land;
and

(f) Use of the land has been for the relevant 20 year period - 28 out of 118

individuals who use the Land had done so for over 20 years.

The Applicants had researched the history of Greyfield and discussed the modern
Greyfield Neighbourhood and its identity with residents and the wider village
community (see pages 471-508). The neighbourhood is a recognised, distinct and

cohesive community of approximately 331 residents. “Greyfield” is marked on the

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 65



0OS map and recognised elsewhere (pages 477 & 481). It extends along Greyfield
Road and includes the cul-de-sacs that adjoin it (Greyfield Common, Westwood
Avenue and Gores Park). It is within the parishes of Clutton and High Littleton.
There is a singular vehicle entrance/exit at the east marked by Dando’s Stores at
the junction of Greyfield Road, New Road, High Street and Eastwood Close. It is
bounded by Greyfield Woods and fields to the west and south and by the poorly
maintained hill of the The Gug and private gardens to the north. The Gug is rarely
used due to its narrow width and poor surface with many deep potholes. It makes
it impassable by vehicles without high ground clearance. It is clear that The Gug is
not used a vehicular thoroughfare and visitors by vehicle do so for the purpose of

visiting the neighbourhood.

25.The neighbourhood includes amenities and leisure facilities that would be expected
of a modern rural neighbourhood. The Land is used by the neighbourhood’s
residents and the general public for daily recreation. The neighbourhood also has
direct access to other leisure facilities such as bridle paths, Greyfield Woods and
other recreational walks and paths. It is served by Dando’s Stores which sells a
wide range of groceries and provisions. There are council and school services and
facilities such as a mobile library and walking bus which both have drop off and
collection points around the village including dedicated points serving the
neighbourhood. There is a single Royal Mail collection point - Greyfield Colliery -
approximately halfway along its length. The postman refers to the neighbourhood
and confirms that the postbag is packed in recognition of the neighbourhood.
Similarly the local newsagent recognises the neighbourhood and deliveries are

appropriately sorted.

26.Greyfield was formed around the former Greyfield Colliery and has historically
been recognised as a cohesive community and separate from the localities around
it. In 1997 the High Littleton Parish supported the publication of the parish history
which describes the roots of the neighbourhood and refers to Greyfield and its
history as a distinct community within the wider area as further confirmed by
extracts from the Parish Council News and minutes of meetings. Today the
neighbourhood continues to have its own identity within the locality and there is a
strong cohesive spirit. Both of these attributes are exemplified by the response to

and support for the Application which can be contrasted with the High Littleton

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 66



Parish Council which voted not to support it. Thus the neighbourhood (and the
perception of its inhabitants) is distinct. The polarisation between the Greyfield
residents and the Parish Council regarding the Application reinforces that the

neighbourhood has a “state of mind” and a distinct and cohesive identity.

27.In cross examination Mr. Collins confirmed that he had known the Land since 2011.
His two children also live at Mendip Ho! The Parish Council meetings would have
been in April 2013 or thereabouts but these dates were from memory. The
investigation into the potential for making the Application followed a presentation
by Silverwood Partners. There was a two month delay whilst the residents
discussed what needed to be done but they did not look into the legalities until
June 2013. The questionnaires were distributed in late June or in July. His was
dated 14 July 2013. He thought that it would be in late June but some

questionnaires were put in after the Application went in.

28.Mr. Collins corrected some minor errors regarding dates on photographs (pages 122
and 520) and confirmed that photographs 7 & 8 on page 522 were outside the
relevant period but he simply wanted to show people using the Land. He agreed
that snow-based activities could only be done when it snowed and only at
weekends or when the schools were closed. Sledging usually occurred when there
was a good covering of snow and it was pretty fresh otherwise you could not sledge
very far. It was only having fun. On the couple of days a year when it has snowed
he has used the Land. It would probably be only one year in every five when the

snow was so bad that the schools closed.

29.Mendip Ho! overlooks the Land. He likes enjoying the view from both his house and
when on the Land. When on the Land he could see birds, trees, sheep and the
undulations of the Land. He sometimes takes photographs with his stepson when on
the Land. However he has only produced some in the bundle which show the snow
activities. It was possible on any one visit for him to have walked and taken in the
view and engaged in a mixture of lawful activities on the Land such as photography
and his answers on page 113 question 11 had to be viewed in that light. His
evidence covered his use of the Land between 2011 and 2013 but he accepted that
other people may have reported in their questionnaires the same activities that he

had witnessed.

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 67



30.With regard to his observation in the second paragraph on page 121 concerning
winter 2013 he did not accept that the Land was second choice after the woods as
in his view people tended to go on different dog walking routes. He personally
would go on different routes as he liked walking. People can also do a circular
route. He regularly sees dog walkers - some he knows by name and some by where
they live. On page 518 paragraph 11 he did not know who the people using the

Land at night were and he could not say if they were connected with the Land.

31.With regard to the collation of evidence he delivered the forms and evidence
questionnaires to all households within the red line area. People were not
badgered or pestered. He had been in touch with some people who had moved
away. The statistics in paragraph 18 on page 525 second bullet point show that
roughly 25% of users came onto the Land via their gardens. He could not say if they

returned that way.

32.He accepted that any use by permission would not qualify for TVG registration.
Figure 4 on page 527 showed the number of households rather than residents. Thus
eleven households had flown a kite. However this figure does not tell how
frequently the land had been used in this way and it could be that each of those
households could have flown one kite just once in the relevant period. Some of the
activities could also have been combined and undertaken at the same time e.g.

walking, taking photographs, fruit-picking.

33.With regard to the neighbourhood - Objector’s Bundle Tab 15 - OS Map 1904 -

Greyfield Colliery and Brickworks are shown on the map but there was no separate
place name for Greyfield. The postbox today still shows Greyfield Colliery. The
map also refers to Greyfield Wood. It shows two rows of terraced cottages and two
others and Oak Dene. The OS Map 1931 shows Scrumbrum Lane, New Road and
Greyfield Road. The colliery has gone but the Wood is still shown. The name is now
applied to four sets of cottages and one house. The OS Map 1958-1961 shows a
couple of houses built on the old colliery site. No other new houses have been
built. There is some development fronting Scrumbrum Lane and a house (Mendip
View). The OS Map 1975 shows further changes - a transport depot, some more
houses of The Gug, more homes at the High Littleton end of Greyfield Road.

10

Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 68



Scobell Rise and Westwood Avenue are shown. The map shows the area infilling
from the High Littleton end of the road. The OS Maps of 1984 and 1987 show little
change. The OS Map 1990 shows the first part of Greyfield Common being
developed. It was a phased build. It had been a field but was compulsory
purchased by Somerset County Council for a school which was not built and the site
was sold for housing. Mr. Collins was not quite sure about the history of that

development.

34.Within the red line area there were a number of elements. The Gug - some houses
are converted old colliery buildings and some purpose built houses. At the bottom
of The Gug and the corner of Greyfield Road are a range of houses of different
styles and ages. Gorse Park is a modern housing estate of different style to the
housing on The Gug. Westwood Avenue and Scobell Rise were built at the same
time. Scobell Rise comprises mainly bungalows. Westwood Avenue looks different
again. Greyfield Avenue comprises small groups of similar types of house and a
number of individual houses so there is a mixture of ages, types and styles. There
is some frontage development and some backland development. He did not
understand what ribbon development was and could not comment on it. However
he did accept that it comprises many different styles of housing. Greyfield
Common comprises modern housing built in two phases and therefore there are
two different styles of house. The builder’s yard is included. The only two fields
included in the claimed neighbourhood are the two that comprise the Application
Land. The red line goes down to Greyfield Wood Farm but does not include
Greyfield Wood. Mr. Collins explained that the red line followed physical
boundaries. Greyfield Wood was excluded because the Applicants did not feel that
the neighbourhood included the Wood or the Farm. With regard to The Gug he felt
that it was impassable to those without a 4 x 4. He would leave his house and drive
along Greyfield Road and go up Scrumbrum Lane. It is also difficult to get to
Greyfield Farm so that was why it was left out. Greyfield House was also left out.
The Gug appears to have been cut in half by the Application red line on the basis
that the part that has been included within the redline reflects the section of The

Gug that is passable by car.

35.Mr. Collins was then taken to the Objector’s Bundle Tab 1 and the plan document

1.0 which shows the locations from where the accompanying photographs were

11

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 69



taken. He was of the view that for most car users The Gug was not a thoroughfare
and he also believed that it was a private road. There was a sign saying “private

road” but he could not say that it was a private road.

36.With regard to a neighbourhood Mr. Collins did not accept that it had to have
relevant facilities and that these were the be all and end all. It involved a
qualitative assessment. He accepted that the red line did not include Dando’s
Store. He maintained that Greyfield is a neighbourhood within the locality of High
Littleton. There are lots of facilities in High Littleton that do not appear in
Greyfield such as a shop, pub, stores, chapel and that these were at the Greyfield
Road end of High Littleton but all outside the red line. The red line also includes
part of two parishes and half of Greyfield Wood Farm is not within the red line.
Half of the farm’s fields have therefore been excluded as was the land immediately

to the north of the farm buildings. Similarly excluded was the old BMX track.

37.Mr. Collins was taken to the postman’s letter in the Applicants’ Bundle at page 491.
The postman does not describe the area as “Greyfield” and he also calls it ‘an area
of High Littleton”. He accepted that people do not refer to Greyfield as part of
their postal address. Mr. Collins did not agree that the reference in the email at
page 492 to “Greyfield and all roads off of Greyfield” were references to Greyfield
Road as a road rather than a place. Similarly Mr. Collins was asked about the Parish
records at page 488 of the meetings on 22 June 1925 and 25 March 1930 and
references to Greyfield and Scrumbrum. It was put to him that there is no place
known as Scrumbrum and that these must be references to the roads not places.
Mr. Collins did not agree and he considered these were locals referring to

neighbourhoods.

38.In re-examination Mr. Collins pointed out that the A39 effectively cuts High
Littleton in half.

39.Jonathan Moore, and his wife live at Woodlea, Greenfield Road, High Littleton,
Bristol, BS39 6YA. He produced a witness statement signed and dated by him and
his wife on 13 May 2014 (page 542). He confirmed the accuracy of his witness

statement and read it. His wife had also prepared an evidence questionnaire (page

12
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 70



245) dated 16 August 2013. He and his wife had known the Land since 2010 having

lived at their address for three and half years.

40.He wanted to place particular emphasis on paragraph 7 of his statement and how

41.

42.

43.

he saw communities defined. People may be transient but communities are defined

by tangible, physical attributes.

In cross examination he confirmed that he had moved in to his house in the
summer of 2010. He had bought the house whilst in Hong Kong but moved in into it
in November 2010 having worked on the house since it was bought. He had
therefore known the Land for a period of two and a half years leading up to the
date of the Application. His boundary is a hedge with a fence on the field side. He
sometimes gains access to the Land by climbing over the fence but he also gains
access from some of the other access points and the gates on the western-most
boundary and in the south east corner of the Land. There are times when they
would go onto the Land through one entrance and leave by another. He and his
wife have three children born in 2008, 2010 and 2013 respectively. He had put
some foam over the top of the hedge to stop baggy tracksuit bottoms getting

snagged when climbing over.

Mr. Moore was taken to question 9 of the evidence questionnaire where there is
reference to a permissive path. He accepted that there was not a public footpath
although there was a pathway from one of the fields to the other. He was also
taken to question 20 and the reference to seeking permission in 2012 for the
fireworks. He did not do so in 2010 or 2011 as he did not know anybody in these
years. He was not sure whether the reference to the fireworks were to the same
fireworks referred to by Sarah Wheeler (page 571) but he believed that she may
have been talking about his fireworks. He was then taken to paragraph 3 of his
witness statement where he refers to the Study in their house. His Study overlooks
the Land and in addition to this they had seen these birds and animals when on the
Land.

He confirmed that the pre-school was located outside the red line area and that
children come from outside the neighbourhood. He had not personally witnessed

the pre-school group using the Land.

13

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 71



44. He was taken to paragraph 2 of his statement and the reference to his children
rolling down the hills and wading through the grass. These activities were not
incidental to them walking on the Land and sometimes they would go on to the
Land specifically to do this. There are occasions when they would go onto the Land
to walk and other occasions they would go on to it for no specific reason. He was
not sure whether the grass was long because it was being grown for hay but there
were times in the year when the grass would be longer and others when it would

be shorter. The grass was shorter when the sheep were present.

45. In addition to the Land there are times when they would go to the park but they
would go on to the Land very frequently and they would go into the woods if they
can make it. The children will go anywhere and will play down the farm track.
They would go to the park if there was a village fair etc. whereas on the Land it
was unstructured play. Sometimes the children would play down Greyfield Common
and riding their bikes. They could not go on to the Land to pick blackberries or to
go sledging without walking so they have to walk on the Land if they are to
undertake any activities other than the fireworks. They are therefore activities

that, whilst not walking, inevitably involve walking.

46.Catherine Lane and her husband live at Oakwood, 7 Greyfield Common, High
Littleton, BS39 6YL. She produced a witness statement dated 21 April 2014 (page
539) and an evidence questionnaire signed and dated by her and her husband on 11
July 2013 (page 198). They have known the Land since 2003 and have lived at their
address since May 2005. They have therefore known the Land for 10 years. She

confirmed the accuracy of both documents.

47. The Land was used by local children of all ages including late teenagers. In cross
examination she confirmed that her house had been built as part of the first phase
of Greyfield Common in 1989. She had therefore lived near the Land for the last
eight years. She had previously lived on the main road in Greyfield near the chip

shop and had therefore known the Land since 2003.

48. With regard to paragraph 2 of her statement she confirmed that she sought (and

received) permission from Mr. Candy simply to be polite and neighbourly. She knew

14
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 72



about him from conversations with the previous owners of her house. Her main
reason for approaching him was simply to introduce herself rather than to go to see
him to specifically ask for permission. The reference in the answer to question 7 of
the evidence questionnaire about agreed access and being respectful to live stock
was something that she had understood from talking to previous owners, the

Cattermoles and the Countryside Code.

49. The gate at her house was there when she and her family moved in. She had always
assumed it was there as it looked old and was a bit “wonky”. She was not aware of
any gate being put in since they had moved in. Most of the houses along that
boundary have some sort of hedge or boundary feature and only a couple of houses
have merely fencing. Her boundary is a hedge. She accepted that cutting hedges,
maintaining fences and retrieving stray balls are all legitimate reasons for going

onto the Land.

50. There were sheep on the Land when they moved in in 2005 and there may have
been bullocks. She did not challenge the account given by Mr. Norman Collier in his
statement. Sheep had escaped last year on to the track - the fence had been
pushed down by some eager sheep. She had happened to be walking past when the
sheep escaped. The chain link fence was frequently in need of repair. She assumed
that the boundary of the western field had an intact boundary. The fencing
alongside the woods had badger gaps in it. She considered that the only place
where people got on to the Land was in the south east corner of the western field.

On the northern boundary of the eastern field the fencing was mostly intact.

51. She would go on to the Land for bird and nature watching especially butterflies and
wildflowers. She had to walk on the Land in order to go wildlife watching. She saw
a variety of birds throughout all seasons. One reason for going on to the Land was
because the view from her house was not sufficient. She would also go out in all

weathers.

52. She would always follow the Countryside Code and leave gates as she found them,
follow paths where there were paths and her dogs would be on their leads. She
also felt that the other locals also respected the Countryside Code. She would also
walk her dogs in Greyfield Woods up to Clutton. The route that she chose would

15
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 73



vary but it would tend to be in the neighbourhood of Greyfield as opposed to High
Littleton because of the main road. There was no specific time of day when she
would go out as she preferred to have no routine in order to prevent her dogs going
mad. It was unlikely that she would go on to the Land during the weekdays as they

were both teachers but they do get very long holidays.

53. She would see people from the neighbourhood and from Greyfield and sometimes
new people who she would not recognise. She would see regularly Leonard’s wife
Trudy, some ladies from the W.I. Chantelle Young and a lady who has moved into
the new build. She would regularly see and recognise 3 or 4 people dog walking

from her road but more residents use it for other family activities.

54. Walks would depend on the weather and what else she may have to do. It tended
to be a mix of long and short walks and she may go on to the Land a couple of
times a day for the shorter walks. She had noticed the hay growing on the Land in
the last 2 or 3 years. It was in both fields on the Land and she had assumed that it
was a hay crop - it appeared to be grown for a purpose. She would not go on to the
Land when the hay was being cropped because their dogs are very small. The hay
would take 2 days to cut and it would be left in piles. People tend not to play
football when the hay was growing but it is cut in July or August and then sheep
are put on the Land. Consequently it does not prevent activities from being carried

out.

55. In re-examination she was asked about visiting the farmhouse. She said Mr. Candy
was surprised to have a visitor and she understood from her conversation with him
that he was happy with her being on the Land. It was more of a general

conversation and she had mentioned in passing that she had been on to the Land.

56. Neil Topping lives at 16 Greyfield Common, High Littleton, BS39 6YL. He produced
a witness statement signed and dated 1 May 2014 (page 569) and an evidence
questionnaire signed and dated 10 July 2013 (page 404). He confirmed the
accuracy of both documents and read his withess statement. He and his family
have lived at their property since moving in in October 1999. They had known the

Land for 14 years as at the date of the Application.

16
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 74



57. In cross examination he stated that they lived next to Mrs. Titcombe’s house. Their
house had been built in 1999 and it backs on to the middle of the eastern field.
They have two sons aged 19 and 17 years. Their garden is steeply sloping. The
boundary has a vertical slatted wooden fence which had been put in in 2007 and

prior to that there had been no gate on to the Land.

58. The land is used by his extended family and visitors and he accepted that any use
by people who live outside the neighbourhood i.e. outside the redline area, would
not count for the purposes of TVG registration. He readily admitted that he would
not like to see any development on the Land and that any current proposals would
not encroach on his view. He confirmed that he had not used the land on a daily
basis for the last 14 years but he felt that his family used it regularly and it would
be used on a daily basis during school holidays. This would be on the most easterly
triangle of the eastern field. He recalled the Land being used by sheep since 2002
but he could recall a couple of days when a small number of cows would be on the
Land. He could not recall specific times when the sheep would be on the Land. In
2001 he did not have a gate on to the Land and he had no specific recollection of
the foot and mouth disease outbreak. He could not recall any signage but his
children would only have been 4 and 2 years old at that time so they would not

have used the Land.

59. The hay was normally cut around September or October. It took about a day or so.
He did not recall it being cut earlier than about three years ago. There would be
gaps left around the edges so as to not disturb neighbouring properties. He could
not remember whether part of the land had been fenced off to allow the hay to
grow. The strip of land that was left between the edge of the Land and the
neighbouring properties would make it possible for people to go walking. He agreed
with Mrs. Lane’s evidence on hay cropping and access points on to the Land. The
track from the Land up to Greyfield Road may exist on maps but it has never been
used as it is heavily overgrown with nettles. He has used his gate for maintaining
his boundary as well as gaining access on to the Land. The reference to the gate in
question 10 of the evidence questionnaire was to his gate and this could not have
happened before 2007. He accepted that access for maintenance of his boundary
was a legitimate reason for going on to neighbouring land. In paragraph 8 of his

witness statement and the reference to access gained from gates in boundaries he

17
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 75



confirmed that prior to installing his gate in 2007 numbers 14, 15 and 16 had gates

and he could gain access to the land through these gates.

60. His use of the Land for playing ball games was limited to the triangle in the far
eastern corner of the eastern field. He agreed that he had ticked dog walking in
box 12 of this evidence questionnaire but he had not mentioned it in his witness
statement. However this is a more recent event when his younger boy takes
neighbours’ dogs for a walk. This only began within the last year or so. The altered
reference to team games in box 12 was done because he thought that it was meant
to cover structured games rather than kickabouts. Most users came from Greyfield

Common, Gorse Park, High Littleton and some were from outside the parish.

61. Badminton games would take place on the same area of Land in front of his house.
That part of the Land is flat. It was really just knockabout badminton involving up
to eight people but it may involve teams if there was a community event such as
royal weddings and also when barbeques were being held in the close when

activities would spill over on to the Land at the end of the day.

62. There are power lines running from north to south across the Land. Kite flying
would depend on the weather and also some parts of the land are undulating. He
could not say that he had used every part of the Land but he had used the
immediate section of the eastern field. He had used it for kite flying in 2007. The
reference to picnics was to children going on to the land and enjoying a meal
whilst sitting on a blanket on the ground. These would be primary school age
children and again they would be in the most eastern part of the eastern field. He
accepted that for kite flying you would need a suitable wind and picnics would only
be on sunny days and sledging only when there was snow. All these activities were
weather dependent. Snow does not fall every year but when there was snow there
would be families on the Land. There are parts of the Land in the western field
that are hilly and good for sledging. In the field outside his house younger children

built snow men and igloos.

63. In box 14 of his evidence questionnaire there is a reference to bicycle riding and he

stated that his children had ridden across the fields on their bicycles. People would

18
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 76



64.

65.

66.

67.

walk their dogs on the land on a daily basis and others would go on for a stroll. He
accepted that his children’s use of the Land would be in fits and starts. He worked
shifts so his use would be at a variety of times. His children would be sensible and
leave little trace of their activities although he did recall finding a fluorescent
jacket on the land and some goals being left behind. His children were not into

BMX riding but he was aware of an area for BMX riding by Maynards Terrace.

He had limited knowledge about Greyfield Woods. He accepted that it was
acquired by the Woodland Trust in 1997 (before he moved into the area) and he
accepted that it was therefore used for recreation since then. He was an
occasional visitor to the recreation ground. The school would use the recreation
ground especially for sports days. It was properly laid out with mown football
pitches and goals. There was also a proper play area with slides and swings. It was
upgraded a few years ago but has been available all the time he has lived in the
area. However crossing the main road is an issue with young children. There was a

pedestrian crossing but it is a busy stretch of road.

Sarah Wheeler lives at 193 Greyfield Road, High Littleton BS39 6XZ. She produced
a signed but undated witness statement (page 571) and an evidence questionnaire
signed and dated 11 July 2013 (page 444). She has lived at her house since
December 2010 and had known the Land for 3 %2 years. She confirmed the
accuracy of her documents and read her witness statement. She clarified her reply
to question 11 on the evidence questionnaire was to her using the land every

couple of months rather than twice a month.

In cross examination she was taken to her other witness statement at page 451
which accompanied her evidence questionnaire. She lives next door to the Greens.
She accepted that her evidence only related to 2 ¥ years of the relevant 20 year
period. She has two children born in 2009 and 2011 respectively. She accepted that
the 2013 fireworks event was outside the relevant 20 year period. There had not

been fireworks in 2011. Mr. Moore dealt with the organizing.

She thought but was not certain that there had been sheep on the Land in 2013 but

she had not seen the Objector’s evidence on sheep movements and so could not

19

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 77



68.

69.

70.

71.

answer questions on it. The reference to community celebrations in box 12 of her
evidence questionnaire was to the fireworks. The photograph on page 457 was of
Mr. and Mrs. Moore, her husband, their two older girls and her two boys. It was
taken in the western field. She was not sure who the person was walking in the
background. She has not been in the eastern field. The school was closed for about
a week because of heavy snow in January/February 2013 and people would be on

the Land most days at that time.

She confirmed that she had personally seen the activities mentioned in paragraph
two of her witness statement. Mr. Honey wished to record the fact and it was duly
noted that he would not be asking the witness any questions regarding the eastern
field because the witness had confirmed that she had not been in that field. Her
evidence concentrated therefore on evidence of dog walking, recreational walking

and children playing.

Adrian Neech lives at Woodlea Bottom, Greyfield Road, High Littleton, Bristol BS39
6YA. He produced a witness statement signed and dated 25 April 2014 and an
evidence questionnaire signed and dated with his wife dated 8 July 2013. He and
his family have lived there since 2007 and have known the land for 6 years up to
the date of the Application. Mr. Neech read his witness statement and confirmed
that he was prepared to answer questions about his wife’s evidence as well. He

confirmed the accuracy of his statement and questionnaire.

Their house had been built in 1994. It is next to the two fields that comprise the
land and on which it is proposed to build housing. He had lived in the area for the
last 6 years of the relevant 20 year period. “Greyfield Fields” is his wife’s term to
describe the Land but he would also refer them as Robin Candy’s Fields. He

accepted that Robin Candy had other fields.

He confirmed that the reference to daily/weekly in response to question 11 on the
evidence questionnaire reflected the fact that between he and his wife one of
them would use the Land on that basis but individually it would be more on a
weekly basis. With regard to question 17, he could not say for sure that the

owner/occupier of the Land had never seen either of them. He had never seen Mr.

20

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 78



Candy on the Land or ever talked to him but he accepted that it was possible that

they might have seen him.

72. You can see the western field from the road and from the lane. The photographs
on pages 264-265 were taken by his wife on the same day. He was not sure of the
precise date but thought they would have been at the time that the form was
signed i.e. July 2013. Both photographs showed relatively long grass. He has seen
the grass both long and short. In July each year he would see the grass get long and
then be mown for hay at the end of the summer. He confirmed that it had been

grown for hay in summer 2014.

73. In paragraph 4 of his witness statement he referred to him maintaining his hedge
twice a year and he accepted that this activity would not constitute a lawful sport
or pastime. He had been on the Land for fruit picking. He used to make a lot of
wine between 2007 and 2010 or 2011. These would be elderflowers in June, elder
berry and blackberries in September and rosehips and sloes in October. He would
pick these from two locations - one at the rear of his property and along the
eastern boundary of the eastern field. There is a gate in his hedge. The photograph
on page 266 was taken from inside his garden. The gate was upgraded in the
summer of 2011 and he uses the gate more than twice a year. The hedges around
his garden are very tall. You can see into the Land room his upstairs window. He
had also cut “windows” in the hedge so that they can look out onto the Land. He
did not accept that the bottom castellation was above head height. He accepted
that retrieving stray balls etc. was a legitimate reason to go on to neighbouring
land.

74. With regard to his reference to the fireworks these were separate from the Moore’s
fireworks although he did go to those as well i.e. he always held his own small
fireworks parties. They were in 2008, 2009 and 2013. The last occasion was his
daughter’s birthday. In 2008 and 2009 there had been about 10 people in

attendance - visiting friends and relatives from outside the red line area.

75. On one occasion on 30 November 2013 he drove the sheep in the field away from

the rear of his garden but he accepted that this was outside the 20 year period. He

21
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 79



76.

77.

78.

79.

also accepted that generally speaking bonfires and grazing sheep were
incompatible uses. He had no specific knowledge of sheep movements but
accepted that there were a significant number of sheep on the Land for most of
the year. They had been there in November and sheep may have been present all

year round.

On page 546 at paragraph 5 his wife makes reference to using the Land for keeping
fit. It was her main use of the Land. She does not have a regular routine but they
would tend to walk the Land at about 7 pm once a week or so before having an
evening meal. His wife may also walk during the day. Mr. Neech would go into the
eastern field through the hole in the hedge. His nature watching would be a
secondary activity as he would be there mainly to walk. Their evidence covers all
of the Land. They have used all parts of it. The survey in paragraph 4 on page 545
was undertaken outside the 20 year period but it was typical of how the Land has
been used. He considered that walking with or without dogs was the predominant
activity. He had found golf ball in his garden which he presumed came from the
fields. He did once find a steel tipped arrow which he felt must have come from
somewhere close to his garden but he had never seen anyone on the fields with a

bow and arrow. He had never been on the old BMX track.

In re-examination he stated that he felt that the view of the Land from Greyfield
Farm was restricted. Mr. Honey acknowledged that the Objectors accepted that it

was not possible to see the Land from Greyfield Farm

David Fenton lives at Greenwood, 154 Greyfield Road, High Littleton. He has lived
there since October 2002 i.e. for nearly 11 years as at the date of the
Application. He produced a written statement signed and dated 1 August 2013 by
his wife and himself (page 154) and a witness statement signed by him. He
confirmed the accuracy of both documents and read his witness statement. Mr.
Fenton is a retired Planning Inspector. Most of his evidence related to the western
field.

In cross examination he confirmed that he had not completed an evidence

questionnaire. He had only glanced at other witness statements and had not read

22

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 80



any of the Objector’s evidence. He had lived at his house since October 2002 i.e.
the latter half of the 20 year period. He did not know about the cattle on the Land
and he had only seen sheep on the Land. He would work from home when not away
at a planning inquiry. His last professional engagement had been the Oxford Core
Strategy. He did not undertake any village green work when with the Planning
Inspectorate but he had briefly looked at the relevant legislation. He did not know
Robert Ladd but knew his name. He believed he was a retired town planner. He did

not know Peter Kingswill.

80. He was aware that sheep were present on the western field most of the time. He
was taken to Tab 7 of the Objector’s bundle and the table of sheep movements. He
had no reason to doubt its accuracy. He has a clear view of the western field from
his upstairs main bedroom window. He had seen tobogganing on the western field
and has seen people walking from west to east on the Land until they go out of
sight. The majority of walkers went from the western edge to the far corner but
other would walk a circuit. He would not describe it as a single route and some
people preferred to walk the perimeter. Some walkers stop in the middle of the
field and throw balls. The majority traverse the fields and he accepted that there
were a variety of walking routes. The majority of dog walkers would carry on
walking down the lane rather than go on to the Land. Those that went in to the
fields may do so as part of a circular walk. He would see a lot of familiar faces as a
large proportion of residents have dogs but he cannot necessarily name people. He
does not have dogs of his own and whilst he may recognize faces he could not say
whether the people he saw came from within the red line area. Cars would be
parked outside his house but a comfortable majority of dog walkers would arrive on
foot. Car users were more a weekend feature. Whilst he could not say that the
individuals live in a defined area he had gained the impression that the majority
were locals. He has never seen a dog loose in the field when sheep were present.
Where there are paths he would expect to see them follow them. There is a sign in
the lane that asks people to put their dogs on leads and people generally obey the
instruction. He considered that the use of the Land reduces when sheep are

present but it does not stop.

81. The frontage of his house is Greyfield Road. The Gug does not start until after his

property. A new house was built and occupied in later spring 2013. He wrote the

23
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 81



supporting statement for the outline application. Within the red line area there is
no consistent building line, a range of house styles - detached, semi-detached and
terraced. He felt that the characteristics of Greyfield Road are different to the
rest of the area. Gorse Park was built in a single style and Greyfield Common and
Westwood Drive were built in different styles. There is therefore no prevailing
style or form of development other than the fact that they face on to Greyfield
road. The Gug is not a dead end road. It is open for anyone to use but the surface
is appalling and he never uses it. It is used by a very modest amount of traffic -

occasional users or those sent there by their satnav devices.

82. In his opinion Greyfield is a neighbourhood. Having been born in London and then
Bath before moving here he was of the view that it has a sense of community and
locality separate from High Littleton. In his view Greyfield has a strong sense of

community. It has a small, local focus.

83. Leonard Sheen (one of the Applicants) lives at Willow House, Greyfield Road, High
Littleton, Bristol BS39 6YA. He and his wife moved there on 25 April 2007 and had
known the Land for 6 years as at the date of the Application. He produced a
witness statement signed and dated 29 April 2014 (page 554) and an evidence
questionnaire signed and dated 11 July 2013 by him and his wife (page 353). He
confirmed the accuracy of these documents and read his witness statement. He
lives next door to Mr. Neech. He also explained how his dogs - cocker spaniels -
chase after rabbits on the Land. He also explained further the reference in
paragraph 2 of his witness statement and how he joined the wire of his fence to

that of the sheep wire.

84. In addition he commented on the evidence of Norman Collier in the Objector’s
Bundle Tab 7 at paragraph 9. He stated that this year the fences have been better
maintained than ever before. They had been improved a couple of years ago after
some sheep escaped. He and his wife are the only people who use the track at the
side of their property. He refuted the assertion in paragraph 9 that there had been
any wire cutting. The wire in the south-east corner of the field by Greyfield Wood
was now good but before that it had not been very good - it was a metal hurdle

knocked into the ground. He had not seen any indication that the fence wire had

24

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 82



been cut rather there were two pieces of wire that had been joined together but
had then come undone. He referred to the Objector’s Bundle Tab 7 regarding the
movement of sheep and wondered how there could have been a crop of hay in both
fields if sheep had been on the Land from April onwards. He wondered whether
these were sheep movements out of Greyfield Wood Farm not the Land as the

sheep movements did not appear to match the hay cropping.

85. In cross-examination Mr. Sheen conformed that he was one of the four Applicants.
He is now retired. He had worked for 40 years in human resources in senior roles
within both the public and private sectors. He had once worked for the Council as
number two in the HR department from 2002 to 2005. After that he had worked as

a freelance consultant.

86. Willow House had been built in 2005. He can see the entire eastern field from his
house and part of the western field from the upper floor. Before the gate was
installed he used to climb over the wooden fence which is his wooden fence. No
one used the side track to access the field at any stage. They had two
grandchildren living with them in 2010 for about one year. They were one and ten

years old.

87. He knew Mr. Candy who he described as a very nice and honourable man. The two
fields have been used for stock each year with the exception of 2008 and 2009. He
admitted that he missed them. The fencing essentially fulfills the function of
keeping the stock in for the majority of the time but he did not think that the
Clothiers did a particularly good job of inspecting the fencing when they put their
stock in. He understood what Mr. Candy and the Clothiers had said about the field
fencing but he thought that there may have been an element of deference
between tenant and landowner. Whilst there may have been a degree of economy
with the facts he would not accuse them of lying. Also, Mr. Candy was an elderly
man and his recollection may have faded. Mr. Sheen accepted that Mr. Candy was
trying to recall matters to the best of his memory and was not trying to lie. In fact
Mr. Candy was a man who Mr. Sheen admired and who had a wonderful sense of

humour. However he felt that communication with Mr. Candy was not always easy

25
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 83



but he had no doubt that in making his statutory declaration Mr. Candy believed

that what he had declared was true.

88. With regard to hay cropping, Mr. Sheen was certain that it has been done on two
occasions as silage rather than as hay. He thought that it had been grown like that
on two occasions when the fields were empty. He remembered it being cut and
that it was done in almost one day. He thought that the evidence of the earlier
witnesses sounded right but it was important that none of the Applicants or their
witness kept diaries. He mentioned the electric fencing in 2010 which had been
towards the southern boundary of the eastern field and on one occasion for may be
up to 48 hours it had been along the middle boundary whilst fencing was put up.
The fencing was for controlling the sheep as opposed to a cattle electric fencing.
He recalled when five bullocks escaped from the eastern field into the field to the
south which was not in the Candy’s ownership. A bullock had escaped from the
field to the south into the eastern field and sheep had escaped the other way. This
was largely because badgers had undermined the fence. The gaps have been made

by animals getting through not humans.

89. Most people enter the Land from the gates on the track that runs down the western
edge of the western field. There was a hurdle in the south east corner of the
western field which was effectively a metal style. It had been there until 2010
when new fencing went in. There are boundary gates from the adjacent houses but
not all have gates. He could not say whether they had all been there for the full
twenty years but he did not think that any new gates have been put in since he
arrived other than Mr. Neech’s new gate. The other new gates had been put in
before he had moved in although he felt that it was probably correct to say that

other gates had been put in during the 20 year period.

90. His main use of the Land was for dog walking and also fruit picking. He would also
use the Land with his grandchildren. He goes on to the Land and returns by his
back gate. He tends to take a longer walk in the morning and then an afternoon
walk confined to the field but it will depend upon the sheep situation. His wife is a
nurse. Today all the sheep were in the eastern field so he went up to and used the

western field. Yesterday he took a similar walk but the sheep were then in the

26
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 84



western field. He follows the Countryside Code. Prior to living in Greyfield he had
lived on Dartmoor so he knew the Code well. If he was in the field of vision of
sheep he would ensure that dogs were on leads because sheep get used to you and

can recognize familiar faces.

91. He would regularly see the same people. Whilst he did not know their names he
would recognizes their faces and their dogs. He regularly sees the Lanes, a lady
with large dogs and a couple of people with black Labradors. He knows the BMX
area and his two cocker spaniels know it even better. He has visited it twice. On
one occasion he had to ring the Fire Service because there was a fire out of
control. This was more than four years ago - he membered it because he was doing
a piece of work for the Fire Service. He understood that it was an old coal mining
slag heap. It has been used by older children for recreation. Generally he does not
take issue with what the Objector had to say about the BMX track.

92. His grandchildren play ball games on the Land but this was a lot less frequent than
his use of the Land for dog walking. These ballgames would be about once every
couple of months. Ball games and tag would be played on an area around the
rather splendid oak tree. It was dependent on the age of the child - it would have
been from when they were stable on their feet so from primary school age and

rising fives through to about 14 years of age.

93. With regard to fruit picking, blackberries were the biggest single commodity,
elderflowers behind his house and fronting Greyfield Road on the northern
boundary of the western field and sloes in the hedge between the two fields.
Blackberries occur all over the Land in the boundary hedges. They would go on to
the Land with boxes or pots. They use the sloes to make gin, blackberries for apple
and blackberry pies and elderflower for cordial. They had used the eastern field for

sledging.

94. Emily Malik lives with her husband and children at 199 Greyfield Road, High
Littleton BS39 6XZ. She produced an evidence questionnaire signed and dated 10
July 2013 (page 215) and a witness statement signed and dated May 2014 (page

27
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 85



541). She confirmed the accuracy of both documents and read her witness

statement.

95. She and her family had lived at their address since March 2011 and had known the
land for 2 years of the relevant period. In cross-examination she accepted that
they had been using the land for less than 2 %2 years of the 20 year period. They
have three children born in 2006, 2008 and 2010 respectively i.e. all before they

moved in.

96. She was taken to the photographs on pages 220-222. She could not say whether
they showed a typical summertime view of the Land since she had known it. The

grass is long and this was typical of those summers that she had known the Land.

97. The Nature Club started in January 2013 i.e. 6 months before the end of the
relevant 20 year period. Children come from Bath to attend and it is a drop-in
group. The purpose is primarily educational - an outdoor version of a toddler
group. As to the formalities, the group is insured and in association with the Cam
(?) valley wildlife group. They do a risk assessment for their activities for insurance
purposes. There is the risk of exposure to ticks. Sheep and lambs do not come close
to the children and so they do not see them as a risk. She was aware that the
community uses the Land and she did not consider it as trespass. They often use
the Woodland Trust land. They do not go in there every week but probably one
week in every three on the way back from the woods. They would use it in all

weathers.

98. She was asked whether they would spend more time dwelling on the Land when it
was dry but she commented that sometimes children like playing in the rain. Her
evidence on bonfires was the same as the Moores. They would be attended by
friends and family. The friends might be local but family members do not live in
the area. She recalled Wendy and Geoff Connor from 220 Greyfield Road on the
Easter egg hunt and the Moores and the Millers participating in the sledging.

99. The picnics involved them having food whilst sitting on a blanket on the ground. It
was more of a family meal/picnic as opposed to a larger picnic. They do this

28
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 86



irregularly but more than once. They had been out with balls etc. so they would
take snacks with them. There was no particular spot but sometimes this would be
on the Land in front of their house. The picnic was not their main use of the Land.
As to games, they played football, rounders, handstands etc., shadow shapes and
anything that gets them outside. This would be in the western field on the Land.
They would exit from the western gate on Greyfield Road. Whilst her evidence
related to both fields she tended not to use the eastern field as much. The

predominant use was of the western field.

100. In re-examination she named as associated with the nature club Louise,

Wendy, Sarah and Jo as coming from within the red-line area.

101. Bridget Rylance lives at Greenwood (where Mr. Fenton now lives) with her
husband and three sons overlooking the Land from 1971 to 1986 and then, after
four years at Hallatrow, then moved to the Old Bridge, just off Greyfield Road,
High Littleton, Bristol BS39 6YD from 1990 until the present day. They had
therefore known the Land for 42 years. She produced a witness statement signed
and dated 7 April 2014 (page 547) and an evidence questionnaire signed and dated
9 July 2013 (page 315). She confirmed the accuracy of both documents and read

her witness statement.

102. She had last been on the Land on Sunday walking with her husband. They

had seen quite a few people because it had been a beautiful day.

103. In cross-examination she confirmed that she had also written a witness
statement (page 322) so there were in fact two witness statements and an
evidence questionnaire. Both witness statements were virtually identical save for
the final sentences which were slightly different. She believed that she had written
both statements herself. She has been at the Old Bridge since 1990. It is down the
lane to Maynards Terrace but their drive looks out onto the Land. Her three sons
were born in 1962, 1963 and 1967. Her last son left home in 1988. They now live
outside the red-line area. She retired in 2004/5. She accepted that her children’s
playing games etc. was outside the relevant 20 year period. Mr. Honey said that he

would ask her husband about the dog walking.

29
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 87



104. She was taken to page 316 and her answer to question 9 on the evidence
questionnaire regarding the public right of way. She was asked where this was. She
replied that she had assumed that there was a public right of way but she has now
been informed that there never was one. She did not disagree that there was a
gate in the north western corner of the western field even though Mr. Sheen had
said that he could not recall one in his time. She was unable to say that the gate
was available for use. In her evidence questionnaire she had referred at page 322
to The Seekers youth group that she had run in the Methodist Hall and she
accepted that even though they may have walked through the Land this was

outside the relevant 20 year period.

105. The photographs on page 322 were taken in 1978 in the western field on the
way to sledging in the eastern field. The other photographs on pages 323 and 324

were taken in December 2010 and show sledging on the western field.

106. The Land has been used for farming throughout the 20 year period. At first
there were dairy cattle and then sheep. She could not recall beef cattle being

there.

107. She confirmed that she had not read the Objector’s evidence. She believed
that locals generally follow the Countryside Code. People can and do get killed by
cattle and people would generally not have their dogs off their leads when cattle
are around. She agreed that some people would not go onto the Land when cattle
were present. She could remember young stock being on the Land. These were

calves with their mothers and this was an added risk element.

108. She had known Mr. Candy for 42 years. He was a traditional farmer and he
had only been absent for a few days. The Land was his home fields and they make
up more than half his total pasture. The rest of his fields were down Maynards
Terrace. He had never told her that she could not walk on the Land even when she
had a dog. Sometimes when her dog was off the lead it would not always be under
control but she would not send the dog off on its own. This would have been before
the beginning of the 20 year period but it did not bother the cattle. She stated that

30

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 88



presently they do not have a dog but they have had one in the past which she
would walk on the Land. She could not recall if dairy cattle had been present in
1994. She accepted that there had been around forty cattle present on the Land
between March and November time. She could not be more specific but saw no
reason to contradict Mr. Candy’s evidence. She had no clear recollection of dairy
cattle being on the Land from 5 pm in the evenings but Mr. Candy would bring
cattle in, milk them and then take them out again. On some days there would be
dairy cattle on the Land throughout the day. She could not recall if cows calved on
the Land. She could not recall cattle being strip fed up until 1994. She was shown
the 1992 aerial photographs and recalled the fence in the middle of the western
field. She thought she could remember it being cordoned off but she did not
remember it across the whole field. However she would not dispute this and she
remembered areas of the field being fenced off with electric fencing to stop them
eating too much rich grass. People would not go into the fenced off area when this
was being done in the summer months. She thought strip feeding lasted for a few
weeks. The fence was moved in sequence away from the Lane incrementally.

Whilst cattle may not have been there all the day the fence would remain in place.

109. Beef cattle were on the Land from 1994 to 2002 and she thought that
approximately 45 cattle sounded about the correct figure. The difference between
dairy and beef cattle is that beef cattle would remain on the Land all the day as
they would not be taken out for milking. She could not say whether for half of the
time the beef cattle would be on the Land and for the other half of the time they
would be in the field by Maynards Terrace and she could only say that she saw

cattle on the Land for some of the time.

110. She could not dispute that sheep were introduced for wintering from 1998
and from 2002 the Land was used solely for sheep or that the Land was only used
for beef cattle between 1994 and 1998. She could not recall whether cows at
calving were brought on to the Land and would remain there for two months after
calving. She did recall hay being grown and cut between 1994 and 2002 when
cattle were there and she recalled hay cropping at that time. She explained that
she does not keep a diary. She did agree that her evidence was not inconsistent
with that of the Objector.

31

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 89



111. She knew the western field better than the eastern. She remembered the
noise from hay cropping. It was sometimes done on a Sunday. You were just
conscious of the noise and the dust. She saw the normal cycle of haymaking and
remembered it happening in most years but was not conscious of it happening
every year. People would go around the edge of the field or along the track when
hay was growing. People would ensure that it was not fouled by dog mess. In some
good years there would possibly be two cuts but in most years it was just the one

cut, probably in late June.

112. She would not argue with the fact that there was muck spreading on both
fields and when this was happening most people would not go on the Land. She

could not say whether this would be for a couple of weeks a year.

113. She recalled the foot and mouth disease outbreak but could not remember
Mr. Candy erecting the NFU signs. However if those signs were there then the
locals would have respected them. It was put to her that the Applicants accepted

that when the signs were up people did not go on to the Land.

114. She recalled sheep being present on the Land since 2002. She could not say
whether they were present for most of the year because one was only semi-
conscious of the noise. She recalled them arriving around May in 2014. She could
not recall either way whether sheep were present in the winter time. She could

not recall any pattern nor could she recall if the sheep had been there every year.

115. She agreed that the wood had been sold to the Woodland Trust in about
1997 although she did not necessarily agree that it was sold cheaply. When sold to
the Woodland Trust it was opened for public access. The village had raised half the
purchase money. She recalled the BMX track and had seen people riding bikes on it
when she had visited it. It has probably been there for about ten years but it was
not in the red line area. When the BMX track was set up the Objector did not do
much about it at first then they put up a sign but they did not do much after that.

116. Chris Rylance lives at Greenwood (where Mr. Fenton now lives) with his
wife and three sons overlooking the Land from 1971 to 1986 and then, after four

32

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 90



years at Hallatrow, then moved to the Old Bridge, just off Greyfield Road, High
Littleton, Bristol BS39 6YD from 1990 until the present day. They had therefore
known the Land for 42 years. He produced a witness statement signed and dated
10 April 2014 (page 550) and an evidence questionnaire signed and dated 9 July
2013 (page 325) and accompanying witness statement (page 342). He confirmed

the accuracy of both documents and read his witness statement.

117. He did not disagree with anything his wife had said in her evidence. He had
the same recollection of farming activities as his wife as they did not keep diaries.
He remembered occasional electric fencing. His memory of the beef cattle was
dominated by the moving of cattle form the Land to the fields by Maynards Terrace
and sometimes frisky animals would end up in their garden. He did not know Mark
Chivers. He was taken to the photographs on page 337 of the hot air balloon and
whilst he could not recall the precise year it must have been prior to the 20 year
period. They were photographs of the same balloon. He confirmed that the
photographs on page 343 were the same as the ones that his wife had talked about.
The photographs at pages 340 and 341 were not on the land but looking out across
the western field. It shows an empty field with and open gate and was taken in
1975. He had no other photographs of activities on the Land. He referred to the
December 2010 sledging photographs and commented that there were a huge

number of footprints which showed that others had been on the Land.

118. He confirmed that he had nothing different or additional to what his wife
had said to say in relation to dairy cattle, strip feeding, beef cattle, hay cropping,
dairy cattle and muck spreading. He did not recall seeing the foot and mouth
notice but he acknowledged that others did so he accepted that he might have
seen it. People were told at the time that the countryside was closed. He agreed
with his wife regarding sheep but he never found his walks through the fields
limited by the sheep but he would have the dog on a lead. With regard to the
wood, the village had taken a year longer to raise the money because the Heritage
Lottery Fund changed its rules. It was Woodland Trust policy that the wood should
be open to the public. The BMX track is still going. He occasionally has a bit of
disturbance - overnight camping was rare but there would be boom boxes used.
The use of the track has gone in fits and starts but the use is now in a second

active phase. He also recalled an incident with a mini-digger.
33

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 91



119. He and his wife have not had a dog for the last fourteen years or so. They
had a dog when they first moved in and would go walking the dog. They had a dog
all the time in their previous house and had an overlap when the old dog was on its
last legs. It was about 1997 when they last had a dog. They would walk their dogs
on a variety of routes including across the fields on the Land. They might go
diagonally from the north west corner of the western field to the south east corner
and then into the woods. Sometimes they would go onto the land through one gate

and leave by another.

120. Michael Brewer lives with his wife Susan at 14 Greyfield Road, High
Littleton BS39 6YA. They had lived there since 2002 and had known the land for 11
years as at the date of the Application. He produced a witness statement signed
and dated by him and his wife on 20 May 2004 (page 516) and an evidence
questionnaire signed and dated by them both 8 July 2013 (page80). He confirmed
the accuracy of both documents and read the witness statement. He commented
on his use of The Gug and he explained that he picks up their daughter from Gores

Park to go to Clutton but he would never use it because of the road surface.

121. In cross examination he recalled that he had been given the evidence
questionnaire but was not sure how he had been given it or by whom. His daughter,
May White, now lives at 30 Gores Park and has lived there for the last three years
having moved in in 2011. His house fronts onto Greyfield Road but it was built as
part of Greyfield Common in about 1987 or 1988. They moved in in 2002 after Mr.
Candy had sold his cattle. He could only remember sheep and they would be there
for most of the time but they would come and go. With regard to The Gug he only
has had a saloon car since 2011 and does not own a 4x4. If he had had one he might
have used it but the potholes are very deep. Consequently his route to his daughter

does not involve The Gug.

122. His fruit picking activities varies. He would pick blackberries but they were
not greatly abundant, elderflowers, sweet chestnuts from the trees down the
bottom of the Land and he also picked mushrooms. The blackberries were around

the edges of the fields, elderflowers were around the edges as well but down

34
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 92



towards the bottom. These were seasonal activities. Walking and fruit picking were
his only two activities on the Land according to his witness statements at pages 87
and 516. The reference in the answer to question 12 of this evidence questionnaire
to nature watching was to him doing this as he walked around the Land. Sometimes
he would go for a power-walk, sometimes they would go for a more casual walk
and just observing as they went along and sometimes walking whilst they were
fruit picking. They would enter the Land from the gates in the lane and if they
were cutting across the Land they would use the top gate. They might use the
bottom gate to get to the woods. It would be a decision that they would make at
the time. They would wander around both fields. If they were going from west to
east they would use the gateway in the middle of the field. They tend to leave by
the same gate but sometimes they would go through the south east corner of the
western field - it is a low (hurdle) fence which can easily be stepped over - to get

to the woods.

123. He had seen the Land with long grass that was grown and then cut. It has
been like this for most of the time but he had not taken much notice. Typically the
hay making involved the grass being cut, left and collected over a two or three day

period.

124. Paul Allen and his wife live at 1 Greyfield Road, High Littleton, Bristol BS39
6XX. They moved there in September 1975 and have known the Land for 40 years
as at the date of the application. He produced a witness statement signed and
dated 24 April 2014 (page 514) and an evidence questionnaire signed and dated by
him and his wife on 9 July 2013 (page 19). He confirmed the accuracy of both

documents and read his witness statement.

125. His property extends to the very edge of the western field. He could not
recall any organized activities and was surprised by the mention of a car boot sale
as he could only remember two car boot sales in Gorse Park when it was a

transport depot. He had never been asked to leave the Land.

126. In cross-examination he accepted that a lot of what he had stated in the
two documents related to a period before 1992 and was therefore outside the 20

year period. His wife had had one accident on The Gug because someone had been

35

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 93



driving too fast and on another occasion two wheels on a company car had been
wrecked. The Gug is navigable with great care and parts of it get washed away in
winter floods. With regard to fruit picking he had omitted to mention this but he
did pick sloes from various points and there were also wild apple trees on the
eastern boundary of the eastern field. He had seen the gate adjacent to Fairland
used by a number of people but it became densely overgrown after the dairy
farming had stopped. He did not recall animals being herded through it but it had
been used by some residents at the time when he had moved in. He thought it had
become overgrown between 1992 and 1995. His house is the most easterly house
backing on to both fields. It has a long garden with trees and shrubs along the
boundary with the next property. His rear boundary has nettles and ivy. There is a
gate next to the shed. There had been a stile there before 2013 which he had put
in in 1986. The gate was erected in the last 9 months i.e. September 2013. It was
just a makeshift gate. There is a sheep fence between the gate and the field.
There are older fence posts present and once there was another fence between his
gate and the sheep fence. The fence was tatty, badly supported and tied on to his
fence by twine. It could be stepped over because it was at an angle. It is a small
stock fence now and it can be stepped over. He remembered cattle being on the
Land, more often in the western field, where there would be cow pats. In contrast
they could get around the western field without getting mucky. There was a
feeding trough in the western field. It used to get very muddy near the bottom

gate from the land into the western field.

127. They have three children and four grandchildren who all live outside the red
line area. He was taken to his answer to question 2 on his evidence questionnaire
where he referred to the land as sometimes being called “Candy’s field”. He
explained that if you spoke to someone from the other side of the main road they
would know Greyfield but not Candy’s field. Similarly they would know of Gorse
deport but not Gorse Park. With regard to question 10 and the reference to two
gates. These would use either of them but they did not often use the southern gate
on the western field. Normally they would gain access from their house into the
eastern field and then on to the western field. He was then taken to the first
paragraph of his witness statement and the reference to badger setts. He
explained where the badger sett was. There were lots of rabbits and he explained
his route along the eastern boundary of the eastern field. The fencing was

36
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 94



intermittent because the terrain was quite steep and it could be easily pushed over

by sheep.

128. With regard to paragraph 3, once he stopped cross-country running his use
of the Land changed and he would spend more time with his children flying kites
and model aircraft, having picnics and showing them wildlife. He now uses a
variety of ways to get to the woods. He recalled that between 1993 and 2013 (the
relevant period) the Land had been used for farming throughout that period. He
first saw the sign on the lane on the western side of the Land regarding keeping
dogs on leads about a month ago. He is not a dog walker and he does not use that
gate much. He would expect local people to follow the basic rules of the
countryside. He had not seen people in that field with dogs running free when
livestock were present. He remembered the cattle electric fences and he had
never got a shock when he touched them. The fencing was used to keep cattle in
an area and he guessed the purpose of it was to keep animals in. He did not
disagree with the Objector’s evidence about the types of fencing. It did not
prevent him from accessing the Land - they were small enclosures. He was shown
the 1992 aerial photograph and he recalled the enclosure which he said was
consistent with his memory. He could not recall the whole field being divided - it
was more of an enclosure. If livestock were present he would keep to the field
boundary and others would do likewise. Regular users would go onto the field and
would know how to navigate away from obstructions like cattle; and electric

fences.

129. He agreed with the sequence of dairy cattle, beef cattle and then sheep on
the Land. He remembered a large bull ploughing its way through the eastern
hedges but this would have been in about 1980. It cooled off in a neighbour’s pond.
He thought dairy cattle had been present until 1984 and there would have been
about 40 cows. In general the cattle were moved from the farm into the field. The
dairy cattle were kept in at the farm over winter and were in the fields from March
to November. He could not recall if the cattle were put into the fields after milking
at 5 pm each day. He did not know where Mr. Candy’s other fields were. He had no
reason to doubt Mr. Candy’s evidence. He could not recall anything of significance
about the dairy cattle but he remembered the switch to beef cattle as the heifers
jumped around a bit. He did not dispute that beef cattle were present between

37
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 95



1994 and 2002. There were about 45 beef cattle, slightly more than the dairy
cattle which he thought were about 40 in number. The beef cattle would be kept
in the fields and moved around so there would be beef cattle in both fields for
some parts of the year. He recalled a bar across the fence/boundary between the
eastern and western fields but he could not remember when this was. The cattle
tended to be in one or other of the fields and they would stick together. He could

not recall seeing calves.

130. He recalled the hay cropping. There were big, noisy machines. He could not
recall seeing a combine harvester moving from the one field to the other but they
would generally keep out of the way especially as one of their sons has hay fever.
He accepted the Objector’s evidence that hay cropping was done when the beef

cattle were present and more recently by the Clothiers.

131. He recalled the foot and mouth disease outbreak but there was no outbreak
in the area unlike elsewhere in the country. He did not recall any associated
signage. His recollection was that the countryside was generally closed. He did not
recall Mr. Candy’s NFU signs. He was taken to the Objector’s bundle tab 3
paragraph 7 and tab 18 paragraph 11 and the state of the fencing. He was

confident that the fencing at the bottom of his garden was no different.

132. In re-examination he described the state of the fencing as variable. Some
was secure and others not. Some was old, some hidden in hedges and some sub-

standard.

133. Rachel Titcombe and her family live at 15 Greyfield Common, High
Littleton BS39 6YL. They moved there in October 2006 and have known the Land
for 7 years as at the date of the Application. She produced a witness statement
signed by her (but undated) (page 556), a withess statement signed and dated 27
July 2013 (page 385) and an evidence questionnaire signed and dated 8 July 2013
(page 375) together with a number of photographs. She confirmed the accuracy of

the documents and read her witness statement at page 556.

38

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 96



134. She explained the nature of The Gug and Gorse Park. She clarified her
answer to question 11 on the evidence questionnaire - she does not physically go
onto the Land every day as she considered the Land to be an integral part of her

garden view. Her daughter Sophie does go on to the Land most days.

135. In cross-examination she was referred to her email of 6 July 2013 (page
140). It was sent after the Silverwood Partnership had been to the extended Parish
Council meeting. She and the others had been outside and people were asked for
their email addresses. They then formulated a distribution list from this and from
the lists of a couple of neighborhood watches. The neighbourhood watch lists were
pre-existing. She put herself forward at the Silverwood Partnership meeting. There
were over 100 people on the distribution lists. This email came after the initial
meeting by the Silverwood Partnership on the Tuesday. Chris Rylance booked the
Methodist Hall for the Friday and at that meeting there were about 60 people
present including 3 members of the Parish Council. The meeting unanimously
decided that the Applicants should act on behalf of the neighbourhood. She
accepted that Mr. Weallans (page 436) lives outside the red line area and that not

all of the evidence came from people within the red line area.

136. The Briefing Note was written by the Applicants. She accepted that the
Objector’s costs would not be borne by the Council. However the Applicants had
decided that they did not want to be abrasive and therefore suggested that they
should contact the landowners who had generously supported the area by selling
the woods cheaply. Part of her thought that the landowners might support the TVG
Application. The Parish Council did not support the Application.

137. She and her husband are the second owners of their house. It was built in
1999. She identified by name the various people shown on the photographs at
pages 398. The photographs had been taken from Mr. Topping’s garden. There have
been two organized events for the whole of Greyfield Common and everyone was
invited to join in. They charged people a few pounds per head for the barbeque
food. They have had other impromptu events on the Land. The street parties were
limited to Greyfield Common itself and there had been no need to close the street

as it is a cul-de-sac. There was no public liability insurance but they relied on a

39
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 97



waiver of liability and acceptance of the invitation denoted a waiver of liability.
The two events were community celebrations. The photographs on pages 386 to
388 were taken from her house using a zoom lens. They were of activities all
around the southern end of the eastern field and all were taken in good weather.
The top photograph on page 389 was of the western field near the middle
boundary. It was her daughter in the photograph and she was 7 years old. The
bottom photograph was taken from her land looking at the eastern field. The
bottom photograph on page 390 was taken from her land and the photographs on
page 396 were taken close to her land. The people in the photograph on page 563

were going from her house between the two oak trees and on into the woods.

138. The gate had been put in her boundary so that sheep could be put back
onto the Land after sheep had strayed into their garden according to the previous
owners. They would also use the gate to access the field to cut their hedge. She
was taken to page 385 regarding her boundary and she said that the title deeds to
their house placed an obligation on them to maintain the boundary fence. It needs
little maintenance because it is made up of railway sleepers. She accepted that
use of the Land by visitors and family from outside the red line area count not

count for TVG purposes.

The Case for the Objectors

Oral Evidence

139. The Objector called a number of witnesses as set out below. In addition the
Objector submitted Statutory Declarations from Mr. Kevin Bird, Mr. Robin Candy,
Mr. Christopher Cawood, Mr. Brian Clothier, Mr. Norman Clothier, Mr. Peter
Kingswill, Mr. John Ledbury, Mr. Alastair Martin, Mr. Richard Memory, Mr. Alan
Sheppard, Mr. Michael Sheppard, Mr. Henry Wareham, Mrs. Margaret Wareham and
Ms. Laura Wilkinson. As this written evidence contained in these Statutory
Declarations has been given under oath | have attached greater weight to it than to

unsworn statements, evidence questionnaires and the like.

40
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 98



140.  Mark Chivers produced a witness statement signed and dated by him on 30
May 2014 (Objector’s Bundle Tab 5). He read his witness statement. He works for
DHL since February 2001 and around that time he changed from working on the

Land to more occasional visits to the Land and helping Mr. Candy.

141. He recalled cows on the land from July 1993 onwards (the start of the
relevant 20 year period). He mentioned the dairy cattle operation and the fence
around the middle of the field. The eastern field used to be called “The Common”.
Mr. Candy also had fields on the other side of the lane going down to Maynards
Terrace. The dairy cows would be milked about 6.30 am and then between 3 and
3.30 pm (twice a day). Both fields on the Land were used all the time and

throughout the year.

142. In paragraph 4 of his witness statement he referred to calves. The calves
would be in the home fields as mothers were very defensive towards their calves.
They would try to integrate dry cows with milking cows as separation can cause
problems such as fighting. Dependent on the grass, the cows and calves would be
kept together in the home fields for about four days. After about two weeks the
calves would go to market and the mothers reintegrated into the herd. This was an
on-going situation as calving is not seasonal unlike lambing. With cattle it is a 12
month exercise. At any one time at least one cow would be calving. Occasionally

they would put one bull in the field to impregnate cows in season.

143.  Mr. Chivers explained the strip grazing. There would be ten foot strips and
it would be continuous across the two fields. It would take place between March to
October but was dependent on the richness of the grass and the weather. It would

take two to three weeks to go through this.

144. The beef cattle were on the Land from 1994 until 2002. The fence across
the field was still there to prevent the grass being trampled down. Unlike with
dairy cattle they would not strip graze the field but the fence was to stop the grass
being trampled down. The middle fence was still there. The fenced off areas would

not be fenced off for a large amount of time unlike with dairy cattle. They would

41
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 99



try to keep one area free from cattle to encourage grass growth. They would keep

some cattle out in the home fields all the year.

145. Between the Common and the eastern field is a fence which would stop the
cattle going between the two fields. To move them between the two would require
the gate to be opened. This walkway arrangement would last from April to
November each year. Mr. Candy would buy in four or five calves and suckle them
and they would be weaned off after six or so months and another set of calves

brought in to replace them

146. With regard to hay making, with the airy cattle they would strip feed the
top of the eastern field and would cut the grass and make hay or silage once a year
and, sometimes, twice. They would do the same with The Common. Mr. Chivers
recalled hay making when the beef cattle were present but his memory of this was

not as good as with the dairy cattle.

147. Muck spreading took place between March and May and after July. It would
be spread across the fields and would depend on the weather. They would also
spread the muck from the sheds. The main area for muck spreading was the top
half of the western field but which was dryer but not the bottom half which was
wetter. Muck spreading was always dependent on the weather. The muck spreading
involved manure and some was sloppy and other manure would be firm. However
no one would want to be using the Land for recreational purposes when this was

happening. In summer the muck spreading could take up to a week.

148. When the foot and mouth outbreak occurred in 2001 Mr. Chivers was no
longer actively working on the farm but he would visit once a fortnight. He recalled
the signs on the fence and the gates. He would have more general conversations
with Mr. Candy.

149. In cross examination Mr. Chivers explained how he came to work with Mr.
Candy. Mr. Roy Blacker used to work with him as did others. Mr. Candy had his
cows on the Maynards Terrace fields and on some rented land. He was not aware of
any of Mr. Candy’s cattle on a farm in Wells. He (Mr. Chivers) was paid pocket
42
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 100



money but he did it more for enjoyment. He explained that the dairy farming was a
complete rolling annual cycle of use and they would be rotated in the fields. Mr.
Candy would hire in a bull and would also use artificial insemination for his best
cows. The less good cows (in terms of yield) would be put to the bull. They did not
need to strip graze in every field. The beef cattle did not go to the fields at
Maynards Terrace very often. They were grazed on all the fields in Greyfields
including by the woods. The dairy cattle would sometimes make more limited use
of the land - it all depended on sensible husbandry. The length of time that the
dairy cattle would be in the fields would depend on the weather. The strip feeding
involved fairly wide strips but it depended on how the cows had eaten the previous
day. With regard to the observation in paragraph 8 of this witness statement he
agreed that some people would be seen walking in the fields when muck spreading

had taken place.

150. When the foot and mouth outbreak occurred he would drive down to the
farm. He could not remember whether he disinfected his car. He would be calling
in for a chat and his knowledge of the faring activities at that time was not that
great and he could not remember much about the effect of the outbreak on his

farm.

151. John Ledbury produced a witness statement signed and dated 2 June 2014
(Objector’s bundle tab 12) and a Statutory Declaration. He read his witness

statement.

152. He found some people who said they would give evidence on behalf of the
landowners but had not been forthcoming. He also met a lady who was aware of
the TVG application - she is a longtime resident - and they had a long conversation
about it and she had the wrong impression that the Land was to be delevloped and
he had convinced her that the whole of the Land would not be covered with
houses. However her statement was not forthcoming because her partner had

persuaded her not to get involved.

153. He had visited The Gug on 8 June 2014 and in the second week of October
2014. On 8 June he was present from 6.45am to 8.30am. He was trying to assess
the traffic usage. He saw it used on eleven occasions including one taxi and one

43
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 101



commercial vehicle. Ten vehicles accessed Briggs Yard. Eight vehicles came down
The Gug and three came up from Gorse Park. In second week of October he was
there from 6.50am to 8.30am. The main difference between the two visits was that

there had been some fairly bad potholes that had now been filled in.

154.  With regard to snow falls, there had been large snowfalls in 1993 and 2013.
He did not have accurate records as he lives closer to sea level. However he could

say that it did not snow every year and perhaps only 6 times in the 20 year period.

155. In cross-examination the agreed that The Gug was at time difficult to pass
along. It is in a considerably improved condition but he was unaware of how this
had come about. The chairman of the Parish Council had told him that it was a
public road. He was not aware that the residents on The Gug had asked the Parish
Council to contribute funds to its repair but were told that the Parish Council could

not contribute because it was a private road.

156. With regard to his visits to the site during the relevant 20 year period he
felt that he had visited the area about fifty times or more but he had not been
specifically looking out for use of the land but there was nothing that caused him
to wonder what was going on. He believed that some people who exercised their

dogs on the Land had permission from Mr. Candy.

157. Alan Sheppard produced a witness statement signed and dated 2 June 2014
(Objector’s Bundle Tab 15) and a statutory declaration. He read his witness

statement.

158. The BMX track has seen renewed activity and he had spoken to Paul Wyatt -
the chair of the Parish Council - who told him that another group of youths, older
than previous groups, appeared to be reconstructing the BMX track and playing
loud music and causing some disturbance. Signs had now been put up stating that it
was private property and that people should keep out. He also stated that there
was no evidence that there had been a statutory closure of the Land during the

foot and mouth outbreak.

44

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 102



159. In cross-examination he was taken to the aerial photograph taken on 3 June
2006. This showed some sheep on the Land. They were spread out. He was then
taken to Mr. Clothier’s sheep records (Tab 7) which shows 116 sheep on the land.
He was then taken to the aerial photograph of 22 May 2010 which appeared to
show no sheep in the field. However he felt that it was hard to identify any animals
in that field even though Mr. Clothier’s records show 78 sheep should be in the
fields. It was put to Mr. Shepherd that the entries might refer to other fields
owned or used by Mr. Candy. It was also accepted that Laura Wilkinson recorded no
livestock on the Land when she visited it on 2 May 2013. (Mr. Honey accepted that
the figures were inaccurate). The July 1999 photograph showed a number of
animals on the Land. The sheep were distributed over the whole of the western
field and there was no fencing. Mr. Sheppard could not say what the image showed

as his eyesight was not that good.

160. With regard to the signage there was only one sign and that was the one on
the gate post. It was a small sign by the NFU asking people to keep their dogs on
leads. He was then taken to the witness statement of Mr. Kevin Bird (Tab 1) and
the accompanying report conclusion on page 5 which records increasing public use
of the Land which could be taken as accepting that there was some public use of
the land taking place already. However Mr. Sheppard felt that the only person that

could interpret that sentence in the conclusion was its author.

161. In re-examination Mr. Sheppard was taken to the visual assessment on page
3 of the report which referred to “opens up” this area of land and Mr. Sheppard

agreed that this was looking to the future.

162. Alastair Martin produced a witness statement signed and dated by him on
2 June 2014 and a statutory declaration. He confirmed the accuracy of both
documents and read his witness statement. He also read the email in the Core
Bundle (Tab RAO3: Objection).

163. The fields had always contained livestock when he had visited the farm. He
explained why strip grazing was undertaken. It is a technique used by many dairy

farmers to ensure the efficient use of grass. Dairy cattle can ‘blow’ if they have

45
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 103



unlimited access to grass. It is quite a laborious exercise as the fencing has to be
moved each day. Mr. Candy certainly used strip grazing - it was entirely logical for

him to do so.

164. The Foot and Mouth outbreak was horrendous in the area. It was impossible
to say where it would spread but happily for High Littleton there was no outbreak.
He confirmed that the area was not subject to statutory closure but it did mean
that everyone had to be very conscious of hygiene and farmers were paranoid with
people mixing with their livestock. It was common practice to erect Foot and
Mouth signs - some were homemade and others were provided by MAFF. It was not

just that animals were lost but also whole bloodlines would be lost.

165. In cross-examination he stated that he visited the farm approximately once
a year for an average of one hour. There was no particular pattern to his visits but
it would normally be at springtime when farmers would have turned out their
animals from the buildings into the fields and the buildings could then be examined
for repairs. He would drive down to the farmstead and go inside to talk to Mr.
Candy who would often show him something that needed attending to. He (Mr.
Martin) did not have a practice of walking every field. The fields are very
undulating and views from the farmstead to the Land are limited. He had no
reports of sheep worrying but he felt that Mr. Candy would have kept people out of

his fields if livestock were present.

166. He was referred to the sign on the gate. This was an NFU sign. It was about
keeping dogs on leads but it did not necessarily infer that the farmer is inviting
people to use the Land. Sheep are, by their very nature, nervous animals. In 2001
the Land was leased or licensed to the Clothiers but sheep had been on the farm
before then for over wintering. The Foot and Mouth outbreak was spread by
vehicles and peoples’ boots etc. so it was not just caused by animal to animal

contact.

167. Peter Kingswill produced a witness statement signed and dated 2 June
2014 and a statutory declaration. He confirmed the accuracy of both documents.

He also referred to emails dated 28 August and 17 September 2013.

46
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 104



168. When cows were due to calve they would be placed in the area close to the
farmhouse. Once born the calf would accompany its mother into the main field on
the Land. He referred to the aerial photograph of 1992 which showed strip grazing
in the south west corner of the western field on an area of land that had been
enclosed by an electric wire fence. It was possible to see the animals in them
because of the evidence of grazing - you could see the channel or cows “walkways”
that used to be enclosed by wires. The strip grazing would move at different
speeds due to the growing conditions of the grass. The fields would be strip grazed
in the first half of the farming year from April to June then in June it would move
on to making hay or silage. In general the grass growth falls away after the middle
of the year. Strip grazing uses wire fencing because it is quick and efficient and all
farm stock recognize the effects of electricity. Sometimes you would get a grassy
crop in the autumn if the summer had been warm and wet. This can provide
additional silage. It is a useful management tool because you can be in control of
your inputs. Redundant dairy cows would be used for weaning. The dairy cattle and
calves would be in Mr. Candy’s home fields because they are on the doorstep and
so it was Mr. Candy’s main production area or workplace. Adolescent cattle would

be kept closer to Maynards Terrace.

169. At the time of the Foot and Mouth outbreak he (Mr. Kingswill) was chairman
of the livestock auctioneers. It was a horrendous period and it was impossible to
say where it would next come from. His business was effectively closed for the best
part of a year. He was very concerned about this highly contagious disease. It was
transmissible aerially as well as through soil, muck and dirt. He did not have any
direct cases in north Somerset but it was never very far way. He was very conscious
of his responsibilities as were the people in the village. Mr. Candy certainly put up
signs and he recalled that the NFU had been very forward in posting out notices to
all farmers to reduce the chances of the disease being transmitted. He
remembered a sign on the main gate by the oak tree and on the bridge down to
Maynards Terrace. He was certain that there had been no statutory closure of the

Land and he did not recall any public use of the Land during that period.

170. In cross examination he stated that it was normal practice to keep dairy
cattle in buildings from November to March although younger cattle might stay out

47
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 105



longer. The strip feeding would take place from the time the cattle were turned
out until July as this is the time of the main grass growth. He did not think that Mr.
Candy used any other land for his beef cattle although he did have another parcel
of land at Clutton Hill and also some at Mendip. Whilst Mr. Candy did not form a
cordon sanitaire during the Foot and Mouth outbreak he did in the early days
construct a bund of disinfected straw on the track down to the farm and Greyfield
Wood.

The Submissions for the Applicant

171. The Applicant produced written Closing Submissions with appropriate

references to relevant case law. | set out below a summary of those submissions.

172. In 2013, concern grew in the Greyfield neighbourhood that the land known
as Robin Candy's Fields, over which several generations have enjoyed access for
community and individual recreational purpose, appeared to be coming under
threat. To address these concerns the inhabitants of the neighbourhood applied for

the land to be registered as a Town or Village Green.

173.  We have "properly and strictly proven” on the balance of probabilities each
and every element of the Statutory Test as set out in section 15(2) of the Commons
Act 2006. This has been demonstrated by our legal submission which we submitted
before the Public Inquiry in June 2014 and the evidence provided by the Greyfield
residents that is contained within Volumes 1 & 2 of the Applicants’ Bundle

prepared for this Inquiry.

174. For the purpose of brevity we will not repeat here the statements and
references contained in our legal submission, or our response to the Objector

(contained in the Registration Authority's Bundle).

175. During the first session of the inquiry we were asked to consider the point
raised in the decision in Barkas that the Beresford case can no longer be relied

48
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 106



upon. Our view is that the reasons of the Supreme Court for the decision that
Beresford cannot be relied upon are not relevant to this application. Robin Candy's
Fields are not a piece of land owned by a local or public authority or held under a
provision such as the Housing Act. However, there is text within the Barkas
Supreme Court judgment that is pertinent. We would like to draw attention to
paras 15, 16, 17 & 24 and Lord Neuberger reinforces Lord Hoffman's views on "as
of right" and clearly states that the position of a private landowner is very different
to that of a local or public authority. Robin Candy's fields are owned by a private

landowner.

176. The Objector has submitted Naylor v Essex under cover letter dated 1
September 2014, and stated that he will refer to it in his closing statement . We
note in Paragraph 74 that any break in the interruption of use is a matter of
judgement for the Registration Authority. There has been no construction work to
the application land that would prevent usage by the neighbourhood residents.
John Howell QC states in paragraph 75 that such an obstruction to the public is

very different to low level agricultural activities.

177. A significant number of inhabitants: You have heard from Mr. Collins that
36% of persons who reside in the neighbourhood at the time of application have
provided evidence of usage. This equates to 118 residents which is clearly a
significant number. The Objector submits that some usage should not count
towards village green registration. We do not agree with their argument. Even if
we discounted all usage by residents having permission for specific activities (e.g.
fireworks) and all residents having a garden gate onto the land then the number

would only drop from 118 to 82 residents. This remains a significant figure (25%).

178. In the Objection letter (9 September 2013) the Objector stated that
evidence of usage has been provided by 38 households. The 2011 census shows an
average occupancy of 2.3 persons per household. This equates to 87 residents. We
provided evidence to show that the actual figure is higher. However, we submit

that even the Objectors conservative figures of usage are significant.

49
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 107



179. Neighbourhood: Mr. Collins, Mr. Moore and Mr. Fenton provided evidence
under cross examination that demonstrated that Greyfield is a neighbourhood for

the purposes of the Application.

180. The Objection letter (9 September 2013) from the Objector clearly stated in
paragraph 3.2 "The owners do not at present disagree that the residents of
Greyfield Rd, Greyfield Common, Westwood Avenue, Up the Gug, the various
houses now on the former colliery site and Gores park constitute a neighbourhood".
Furthermore they refer to the households who have provided usage evidence as

being within " ....this neighbourhood".

181. You have heard from Mr. Kingswill, a witness for the Objector who lived in
Greyfield for 24 years. He describes in his statement the use of the land by
children from Greyfield Common. He stated that he saw other persons using the
land and he was "neighbourly” to them. The term "neighbourly" is a characteristic
of a "good" neighbourhood. It means that residents behave with friendliness,

helpfulness or kindness and have as a sense of cohesion and identity.

182. During the site visit you saw that the road surface of the steep and narrow
hill of The Gug has been partially repaired in places along its length. This is an
initiative of the residents of this private road. They reside outside of the Greyfield
neighbourhood. Overall, the road surface of this private road remains in a very
poor state. The repairs took place after the Application for the Land to be

registered. They are of no significance to the application.

183. Mr. Ledbury was a witness for the Objector and he has told us, under cross
examination that he observed cars using The Gug in June and October 2014 (which
is outside of the 20 year qualifying period). He noted that The Gug had been

repaired and the surface showed "considerable improvement”.

50
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 108



184. Lawful Pursuits and Pastimes: Signed statements from the Objector's
witnesses support the Applicants in that the Land has been used for lawful pursuits
and pastimes in accordance with the requirements for Town & Village Green

Registration.

185.  For the Objector this evidence has been provided by Mark Chivers, Brian
Clothier, Norman Clothier, Robin Candy, Christine Candy, Karen Corrigan, Peter &
Nicky Kingwill, Robert Ladd, John Ledbury and Anthony Smith. They have all
witnessed recreational use of the land. We point out that John Ledbury only
observed the land on five occasions for between one and three hours at a time. An
extrapolation of his observations of use over the 20 year period show significant

usage.

186. In his evidence to the Inquiry, Mr. Bird of Silverwood Partnership for the
Objector has provided a copy of a preliminary visual assessment of the land in
question prepared by Tisdall Associates. The assessment report concluded that
there were opportunities for "increasing public use and enjoyment of the adjacent
high quality landscape”. It was therefore clearly accepted by Tisdall Associates that

public use of the land was already taking place.

187. Under cross examination, Mr. Chivers told us that he witnessed mushroom
picking in addition to the recreational activities listed in his evidence in chief, of
people walking and children playing. Mr. Chivers observed these recreational

activities when he was on the land (which he told us was once or twice a day).

188. In his statement Mr. Chivers declared that there were no worn paths. This
confirms the evidence of our witnesses who have demonstrated that they did not
walk set routes or defined pathways. Residents used the Land as a whole for their

sports and pastimes.

51

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 109



189. The objection letter (9 September 2013) clearly stated in paragraph 3.8
that "the owners accept that the activities claimed are lawful sports and pastimes

for the purposes of Section 15.

190. As of Right (without force, secrecy or permission): We have provided
evidence that demonstrates that the use of the land by the residents was not
trivial, sporadic or in secret. This is supported by the evidence provided by the
Objector. Farmers and other persons associated with the farm have confirmed such

recreational use.

191. During the site visit you saw the sign on the main gate to the field which
politely asks dog walkers to put dogs on a lead near livestock. The sign
demonstrates that the farmer recognised this type of recreational activity was
taking place when livestock were in the field and was significant enough to warrant

the erection of a sign.

192. Volume 1of the Applicants' core bundle has provided to the Inquiry evidence
from 118 residents who submitted their evidence of use of the land. It can be seen
that 97 residents included frequency of usage data. The average frequency of use
is 91times per year per person. It is improbable that this level of use could be in

secrecy.

193. You have heard from Mr. Collins that of the 118 residents who have
provided evidence of usage of the land, 95 have specified that they access the land
by farm or garden gates whilst the remainder have not indicated how they access
the land. There is no dispute that the main gate to the field from the road is

unlocked. We have shown that entry is without force.

194. The gates in residents’ garden boundaries have been present for many years
and are clearly visible from the land. You have heard witness evidence confirming

that they are responsible for maintaining the boundaries of their property.

52
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 110



195. The Objectors have tried to demonstrate that the fencing around the field
was in a good state of repair. This is simply not the case. We have numerous
witnesses who have provided statements and described to the Inquiry under cross
examination that the fencing was insufficient to prevent the livestock from
sometimes escaping. Mr. Neech, Mr. Sheen and Mr. Topping described how they
repaired old or missing fencing / hedges. In fact the Objector's example of fence
wire being cut is actually an example of Mr. Sheen repairing a fence that was
poorly maintained. During the site visit you saw the age and poor structural

quality of some of the fence posts.

196. You have heard that many residents have been seen on the Land by Mr.
Candy and other persons associated with the farm. Mr. Collins told the Inquiry that
39 residents who provided evidence of usage stated that they had been seen on the
land by the owner/farmer. 33 residents had spoken to the owner/farmer when on
the Land but none had ever been asked to leave. Mr. N Clothier, who keeps sheep
on the Land has stated in his evidence that he saw people on the Land but did not

ask them to leave.

197. Of the 118 residents who provided evidence of use, 6 have asked for
permission to use the Land for their own specific use or event (such as fireworks).
There is no record that any signage or broadly communicated permission or

restriction of usage has ever taken place.

198. Mr. Sheppard described how he erected signage at the land used by local
children for a BMX Park which clearly told people to keep out. The BMX Park is a
short distance from the main gate to Robin Candy's fields. If the landowner, his
agent or tenants did not want people to use the fields subject to this application,

why did they not place similar signage at the fields?

53
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 111



199.  Mr. Collins told us that of the 118 residents who provided usage data for the
application in 2013, 28 of those residents have used the land over the 20 year

period.

200. The significance of this figure is reinforced when you consider the "normal”
turnover of residents in a neighbourhood over that period. There will have been
evolutional growth of the number of houses in rural neighbourhoods such as
Greyfield. i.e. 28 individuals would represent a larger percentage of the residents

at the start of the 20 year period relative to 2013.

201.  You have heard from the Objector that he doubts the continuity of use of
the land over the 20 year period because of the 2001 Foot and Mouth outbreak.
The Applicants have provided evidence in Volume 1of their bundle submitted by 47
residents that their use of the land for recreation included use during 2001 without

interruption.

202. There was widespread media attention regarding the Foot and Mouth
Outbreak and the impact on the countryside. You have heard during the Inquiry
that there were no outbreaks within High Littleton or nearby. Mr. Candy has stated
the need for him to perform regular daily visits to the Land to ensure no public
access during the outbreak. He obviously felt that these visits were required due to

the fact that the public were using the Land during the outbreak.

203. We do not dispute that the usage of the countryside for leisure reduced in
2001 as a result of the Foot and Mouth Outbreak. During the outbreak there was a
period where footpaths were subject to statutory closure by the local authority
(Bath & North East Somerset).

204. Issues affecting the Land during the 2001 Foot and Mouth Disease are
unclear. You have received a copy of an email from the Bath & North East

Somerset's Public Protection Service stating that there was a "blanket ban on the

54
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 112



use of all footpaths and entry to farms during the Foot and Mouth Outbreak of
2001".

205. You heard from Mr. Honey, in his opening statement that signage had been
erected on the Land that had been supplied by the NFU. You have now been
advised by the Objector that the signage was not issued by the NFU. The Objector
has provided a press cutting of a sign that he says is identical to the one displayed
by Mr. Candy. The sign states "Foot & Mouth Disease, Please Keep Off This Land,
Ministry of Agricultural, Fisheries & Food".

206. At the Inquiry, Mr. Martin stated that people were asked not to cross over
farmland and that farmers displayed signs to this effect. He told us that some signs
were homemade and some were issued by the Ministry of Agricultural Fisheries and
Food.

207. You have heard from Mr. Topping, Mr. & Mrs. Rylance and Mr. Allen that
they do not recollect any signage regarding Foot and Mouth disease relating to the
land subject to the application. A witness for the Objector (Mr. Clothier) has stated
that signage was present at two gateways to the Land. There is however no dispute
that signage was not placed at the numerous gates that accessed the Land from

residents gardens.

208. It is pertinent to the Application to consider how the signs which have been
provided by the Objector would have appeared to a reasonable user of the Land.
The sign does not demonstrate that the owner is exerting a right over the Land. It
is a statement that the public should keep out due to Foot & Mouth Restrictions
under instruction by the responsible Ministry. A reasonable person would have
believed that it was issued with statutory force especially given the closure of

footpaths crossing parts of Greyfield Wood Farm.

55
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 113



209. Given the usage figures from the residents, the context of the time, the
neighbourly tolerance & deference that has been demonstrated and the wording of
the alleged sign, it does not cause the use of the land to become contentious,
prevent the use of the land by the residents as being "as of right" or constitute an

interruption of use.

210. Although the applicants’ evidence demonstrates that there was not a break
in continuity of usage of the land during Foot and Mouth, if this were to be the

case it would not be fatal to the application.

211. The Application was made in accordance with the DEFRA Guidance "Section
15 of the Commons Act 2006: Guidance Notes for the Completion of an Application
for Registration of a Town or Village Green" (2007) in which a foot and mouth
outbreak is given as an example of a closure which should be disregarded. It states:
"Any period of statutory closure (e.g. during a foot and mouth disease outbreak) to

be disregarded when deciding whether there has been 20 years' use as of right".

212.  In our legal submission we discussed Newhaven which refers to Hollins v
Verney. This clarified that an easement by prescription can be continuous although
intermittent. The case contemplates that even low usage (such as annual usage)
could be enough to comply with the Prescription Act if usage were visible to a
reasonable person. Newhaven makes it clear that it is not necessary for the

application to be successful, that the use of the land be non-stop.

213.  Agricultural use and compatibility with the Town & Village Green
Application: It has been demonstrated in law that that low level grazing and taking

of a hay crop is compatible with Town and Village Green registration.

214. The Applicants have demonstrated in their evidence statements and in oral
examination that there has been no incompatibility between the agricultural use of

the land and their recreational use.

56
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 114



215.  You have heard a detailed description by Mr. Chivers of muck spreading on
the Land. Muck spreading did not extend to the whole of the Land and was
concentrated on approximately a quarter of the Land. We would like to refer you
to his statement where he confirmed that he saw people dog walking during this

activity.

216.  Mr. Chivers also described the calving that took place on the land. It is
noted that calves were kept separate from the rest of the herd in the field by

fencing and that only 1cow was calving at any one time.

217. The compatibility has been demonstrated by Mr. Kingswill (witness for the
objector). He observed people in the field with and without dogs when cattle and
sheep were present. He states in his declaration that he observed people 'behaving

responsibly to the land and the stock'.

218.  Mr. Kingswill states that he would have reported any usage to the field
owner, farmer or agents if any of his observed usage by the public was becoming
an issue. He did not. This is substantiated by Mr. Martin (the managing agent). He

states in his signed declaration that there were no such reports made to him.

219.  You have seen the aerial photographs presented by Mr. Sheppard that serve
to illustrate that the number of sheep on the land is very low level in intensity

when considering the size of the land.

220. Mr. Norman Clothier has submitted a sworn statutory declaration that
purports to provide sheep movements to Home Fields and identify this as being the
land subject to this Application (see para 4 and 6 of his statement in particular). It
shows quantities of sheep and dates when they went "In" and "Out” of the land.
Under cross-examination you have heard Mr. Sheppard try to claim that the data
relates to movements to Greyfield Wood Farm and not Home Fields. However, this

is speculation on his part and there is no evidence to support his claim. Mr.

57

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 115



Clothier states clearly in his statutory declaration that the figures relate to the
Application Land. It is clear that the data and Mr. Clothier's signed declaration are

inaccurate.

221. The sheep records of the Clothiers have been found to be contradictory to
the evidence provided by both the Objector and the Applicant for several periods.
In some periods (e.g. the whole of 1999) the Clothiers admit that they can find no
records at all. For example, the Clothiers provide sheep records that show that

sheep were in the field at the time when Ms. Wilkinson (under instructions by Mr..
Sheppard) visited the land to appraise it. Ms. Wilkinson stated that there were no

sheep in the fields (and provides photographs to support her statement).

222. With respect to the cattle, the intensity of grazing has been questioned
during the Inquiry and the number has been roughly agreed as between 35 and 45

at its peak. This is clearly very low intensity grazing for the size of the land.

223.  Mr. Honey questioned Mrs. Rylance and Mr. Allen at length regarding the
cattle in the field. It was clear that his view of the cattle grazing differed to their
first-hand knowledge. This perhaps is not surprising. Mr. Honey has relied on the
Objector's witness statements that have been shown to contradict one another

regarding the periods when cattle were in the field.

224. The Statutory Declarations signed by the Clothiers state that solely cattle
were in the field during the summer months until 2002. However, sheep movement
records show that sheep were in the field all year round in 2000 and the summer
months of 1998 and 2001.

225. You have heard that the cattle were not always in the Home Fields (the
Application Land) during the day and the beef and dairy cattle were moved

between fields along the lane known as Maynard Terrace and the public right of

58

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 116



way to the farm. The dairy cattle were moved as frequently as 4 times per day

along Maynard Terrace and the lane to the farm.

226. Under cross examination, Mr. Chivers stated that the cattle only spent part
of the day on the Application Land. This was usually overnight and that at other
times they were kept in fields along Maynard Terrace. He confirmed that some of

these fields had public footpaths within them.

227. It follows that the beef and dairy cattle's presence was not incompatible
with recreational use by the public. Maynard Terrace is open to the public and the
lane to the farm and some of the fields where the cattle were kept have public

rights of way.

228. Any person who walks through the countryside will have experience of
cattle and sheep held within fields having public footpaths. We have provided
literature from the Health and Safety Executive and Outdoors West that
substantiates this widespread observation of fact that cattle and sheep grazing is

compatible with the use of the Land by the public for recreational purposes.

229. We have heard that at some time during the year the cattle were held in
enclosures within the field. Our witnesses under cross examination state that these
fences were not electrified or that they were easily negotiated. Mr. Allen has
described the electric fences as "a bit of a joke" under cross examination. Mr.
Chivers, for the Objector has provided evidence stating that the electric fences he

constructed were not always turned on.

230. Mr. Chivers states in his declaration that the strip feeding lasted only a few
weeks at a time and that over a period of the year the strip feeding would be
relocated to cover 60% of a field in total. Therefore, during the period of time
when strip feeding was applied only a very small part of the fields would have been
affected.
59
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 117



231.  Mr. Chivers has shown you a photograph (May 1992) of the field and
described how the fields were typically used during strip feeding. The evidence
that he gave verbally by referring to the photograph shows that the strip feeding
typically covered an eighth (12.5%) of the field at any one time for a period of a

few weeks.

232.  Mr. Kingwell gave a comprehensive view of how the cattle were distributed
within the application site and the use of strip feeding. Based on Mr. Kingwell's
evidence it is clear that the cattle were not on the land between Nov and
March/April each year. During the period between April and July (possibly into
autumn, depending on the weather) Mr. Candy would operate a strip feeding
system. This means that there was always space available on the land for the

residents to pursue leisure activities alongside agricultural use.

233. In conclusion we have shown that the agricultural use of the land is entirely

compatible with the recreational use by the residents of the neighbourhood.

234. Conclusion: We have "properly and strictly proven” on the balance of
probabilities each and every element of the Statutory Test as set out in Section
15(2) of the 2006 Commons Act.

60

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 118



The Submissions for the Objectors

235. Referenced written submissions were received from the Objectors
supplementing rather than repeating the Objector’s submissions in its Opening
Statement and its Legal Submissions dated 3 June 2014. Both those documents
have been read together with the closing submissions as requested by the
Objector. The Objector’s submissions are summarized (wherever possible) below.
The Objector’s references have been omitted where possible from the summary
below but they have been considered and taken into account by me in coming to

your conclusions.

236. The Objector's evidence has, in the main, been provided by way of sworn
statutory declarations, so that it can be given very considerable weight. Moreover,
the Objector's main witnesses have been cross-examined at the inquiry. Mr. and
Mrs. Candy both sadly died during the course of the inquiry and so could not give
evidence. The Objector’s written evidence is not summarised in these submissions
and the Inspector is asked to read the Objector's written evidence in its entirety
when reaching his recommendation. The Objector's concerns about the fairness of

the pre-inquiry process, summarised orally in opening, remain.

237. Applicants’ Evidence: All the witnesses who gave oral evidence for the
Applicants confirmed that their evidence was complete and that they had said all
that they had to say which was relevant to the inquiry. That is perhaps
unsurprising as most had completed a questionnaire and produced two witness
statements. Mr. Collins explained in cross-examination (XX) that there had been a
"blanket drop” of questionnaires to all households in the red line area, and that
there had also been a second chance for people to submit questionnaires after the
initial round . He also said that they had taken questionnaires from people who

had moved away from the area.

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 119

61



238. Itis clear that the Applicants made every effort to collect evidence for the
inquiry so all the evidence which the Applicants could have produced in support of

the application has been put before the inquiry.

239. Many of the witnesses were also frank about their motivation for giving
evidence. Rachel Tidcombe, for example, said that they would try everything they
could to protect the Land. In her letter to the Registration Authority (6 September
2013) she said: "we wish to protect the area from development of any kind". Her
email sending the questionnaire out to people to complete said that evidence on
usage was needed for "opposition to development”. She also said that it was

"important that we collate as much data as possible”.

240. The witnesses wanted to stop the development of the Land which had been
proposed. That is why they were giving evidence. It is interesting to note the
location of the houses of those who came to give evidence, as was shown
highlighted on the large aerial photograph used during the inquiry. They all border
the application site. They would all stand to lose something - perhaps in amenity
and in the value of their houses - if the application site came to be developed.
They have a strong motivation to stop development. It was clear, in some cases at
least, that this motivation coloured their evidence and prevented them from giving
evidence genuinely aimed at assisting getting a complete and correct picture of
the use of the Land.

241. When considering evidence, in particular photographs of use, it should be
borne in mind that, as Mr. Collins told the inquiry, the Application was being talked
about in April 2013. It is interesting that there are very few photographs of use of
the Land during the relevant 20 year period. Those provided, for example by Chris
Rylance, were either outside the 20 year period or did not show the Land. If the
Land really was used as much as the Applicants suggest, it would be expected that
there would be photographs of the Land, particularly from the 2000s with the rise
of digital photography.

62
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 120



242. The position with the Parish Council was clarified with Mr. Collins. He
accepted that, although the Parish Council did not formally object to the
Application (in the way that the landowner did), it did not say that it had no
objection to the Application. Indeed, as Mr. Collins explained, the Parish Council
said that it did not support the Application and felt that it was an inappropriate
use of village green law. That the Parish Council does not support the Application,

and feels that the Application is inappropriate, is not without significance.

243. Farming Activities: The Applicants’ written evidence failed entirely to
address the farming which has taken place on the Land. Of the witnesses called by
the Applicants to give oral evidence, few were around at the time when the Land
was used by cattle, before 2002, or at the time of the foot-and-mouth outbreak in
2001, and those who were around did not remember much about the detail of the
farming. However, importantly, they generally accepted the Objector's evidence

and said nothing to contradict it.

244. Paul Allen - who had read the Objector's evidence - was asked whether
there was anything in there with which he disagreed. Mr. Allen said that there was
not, and that he was not saying that the evidence was wrong. This echoed what
was said by other witnesses when asked about particular aspects of the Objector's
evidence on farming matters. Moreover, the Objector's evidence on farming

matters was not challenged to any significant degree by the Applicants in XX.

245. The Objector's evidence on farming (including cattle, strip grazing and foot-
and- mouth) is not controversial. It is effectively, albeit perhaps reluctantly,
accepted by the Applicants. The result is that, when the law is applied to facts
which are not in dispute, the Application is bound to fail for any one of a number

of reasons arising from the farming activities.

246. Bridget Rylance confirmed that she had seen the Land with dairy cattle,

beef cattle and sheep on it and said in XX that the Land had been used for farming

63

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 121



throughout the 20 year period. She had known Mr. Candy for 42 years and
confirmed that he was a diligent and traditional farmer who not only lived very
close by but had also only ever been away for few days at the most. Mrs. Rylance
also confirmed that the Land comprised Mr. Candy's home fields, which amounted
to more than half his total pasture land. Mr. Sheen said that Mr. Candy was an
honourable man. He also said that he accepted that Mr. Candy was telling the truth

in his statutory declarations.

247. When asked about the agricultural use, Chris Rylance said that he did not
disagree with his wife's evidence and that his recollection was very similar,
although she had remembered more than he did. He said that the position was
broadly speaking as it had been put to his wife in XX. He confirmed that he had

nothing additional or different to say from his wife's evidence on all the topics.

248. Catherine Lane said that in her experience the local residents all followed
the Countryside Code and this echoed the written evidence. She agreed that this
meant that they would use gates where there were gates, leave gates as they
found them, follow paths where there were paths, keep dogs under effective
control, and keep dogs on a lead around farm animals. Leonard Sheen said that he
would keep his dog on a lead if he could see sheep in the field. Neil Topping said in
XX that even the kids were sensible and careful in how they used the Land when
animals were in the field. It was formally accepted by the Applicants in their
Response dated 30 September 2013 that local residents did keep animals on a lead

around livestock (para 3.3).

249. Bridget Rylance accepted that cows can be dangerous, especially if there
are dogs around, and said that she was sure that most people would have had dogs
on a lead when there were cattle on the Land. She accepted that people would
keep away from cattle, especially if there were calves or if they had a dog, and
that the evidence showed that many people did not go onto the Land at all if there

was livestock present. Mrs. Rylance said that they themselves had kept their dog

64
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 122



on the lead when cattle were in the field and she said in re-examination (RX) that

she had seen young cattle on the Land.

250. Paul Allen accepted that it would not have been a good idea for children to
be playing on the Land with cows, especially if the children were unsupervised. He
agreed that local people would keep their dogs on a lead if there was livestock on
the Land. He also said that if there were livestock present people would generally

stay away from the livestock and keep to the boundaries.

251. The Applicants' evidence shows beyond doubt that the Land has been in
agricultural use, including grazing by cattle and sheep. It also shows, importantly,
that many people did not use the Land (e.g. for walking, dog walking or "games"”) at
all when livestock was present. This was confirmed by Chris Rylance who said in XX

that they always had the dog on a lead when there were sheep on the Land.

252. Dairy Cattle (to 1994): In addition to the Objector's written evidence, the
position on dairy cattle was explained in oral evidence by Peter Kingswill and Mark
Chivers, by reference to the large aerial photograph. The oral evidence was that
when there were dairy cattle kept, the Land was split into three areas by fencing:
the eastern field (known as the common) and the western field split into two by a
fence running along the middle of the field, east to west. The dairy cattle would
be in one of these three areas every day, as the fields were close to the milking
parlour at the farm and were the best grass. The fields were used all through the
summer and into the winter sometimes as well. The cows would be milked twice a
day, around 6.30am and 3.30-4pm. The home fields would be used for cows at

different times throughout the day as well as over-night.

253. Cows due to calve would be brought in to the milking herd (as dry cows
were kept separately) in the home fields a week or two before it was estimated
that they' would give birth, and then kept in the home fields for a few weeks after

they were born, before they were sold. Calving was on-going throughout the year

65
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 123



and not confined to any season, so that throughout the year all forty odd cows

would have a calf, but generally with each cow giving birth at different times.

254. Alastair Martin explained in XX that milking cows were kept separately and
treated differently from the cows which were not producing milk at any one time.
There was a constant, rolling, 12 month cycle of calving. Mothers would be very
defensive when they had calves with them. Occasionally a rented bull would be put

out in the home fields with the cattle.

255. Bridget Rylance confirmed in XX that Mr. Candy had dairy cattle present
until 1994 and that he had around 40 cattle. When questioned on the details, she
said that she just did not remember but that she would not contradict Mr. Candy's
evidence. She did remember dairy cattle being in the home fields. Paul Allen said
in XX that the cattle were more often in the western field than the eastern field.
He said that around forty cattle was the right "type of number" he remembered and

that they were in the fields from March or April until November.

256. Hay Cropping: In addition to the Objector's written evidence, the position
on hay cropping was explained in his oral evidence by Mark Chivers, by reference
to the large aerial photograph. Hay cropping was particularly connected with strip
grazing (which is explained further below). As the grass got older, parts of the
home fields were left to grow for hay or silage and the cattle were kept in the
other parts, by electric fencing. There would be one or two hay cuts a year,
depending on the weather. Both fields, east and west, would be cut for hay. The
evidence from Peter Kingswill and Mark Chivers shows that this was mainly done
when dairy cattle were kept but that it was also done during the beef cattle

period, at least in the early years of keeping beef cattle.

257. The evidence from the Applicants’ witnesses confirms that both fields have
been cropped for hay. Mrs. Rylance said that she remembered hay cropping in the
period when beef cattle were present (1994 to 2002) and said that she thought it

happened in most years. She said that in some years she thought that there could
66

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 124



have been two cuts of hay and described what she remembered as being the
normal cycle of hay growth. Paul Allen also said that he could not recall anything

about how the dairy cattle were operated by Mr. Candy.

258. Bridget Rylance said that when the grass was growing long for hay people
would just walk across the middle of the (western) field on a track and Mr. Topping

said that people would use the perimeter of the field.

259. When hay was being grown it would have been apparent that it was being
grown as a crop. Catherine Lane said that in her experience it was obvious it was a
crop. She said that she would not go on to the Land when there was a hay crop
growing. She also agreed that people would be considerate and would not flatten
or damage the crop, especially those with dogs that could foul the hay. She said
the people could not have used the Land for ball games when hay was growing and
she said that when the hay was drying people would not mess it up but rather
would walk in the tracks between the rows. Neil Topping expressly agreed in XX
with Catherine Lane's evidence on the effect of hay cropping. He said that people
would keep to the perimeter of the fields and Paul Allen also said that his general
recollection accorded with the Objector's evidence. Mike Brewer said in XX that
when the grass was grown long there tended to be a worn path which people

tended to follow.

260. It was formally accepted by the Applicants in their Response dated 30
September 2013 that when a hay crop was being grown people would keep to worn

tracks or the edge of the field (para 3.3).

261.  Neil Topping described in XX the process of cutting hay as including heavy
machinery going up and down and a process lasting two or three days when the
weather was good. Paul Allen said that there were "big, noisy machines”, that there
was a lot of noise when it was done and that people kept out of the way when it

was going on. Mike Brewer's evidence was to a similar effect: tractors going up and

67
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 125



down, typical hay-making with it being cut, left for two or three days to dry out,

and then collected.

262. Emily Malik confirmed in XX that the photographs from June 2013 showing
the western field with very long grass were typical of the summers during the time
she has known the Land. It is clear from this that in the summer period, when use
of the Land would be expected to be at its highest, the western field at least could
not have been used for activities such as ball games. The growing grass would also
have been treated with respect, as described by other witnesses, and would not

have been used for activities anyway.

263. Muck Spreading: In addition to the Objector's written evidence, the position
on muck spreading was explained in his oral evidence by Mark Chivers, by
reference to the large aerial photograph. His evidence was that as well as
fertilising the land, muck would be spread twice a year, in around February or
March and in July. It would take around a week to cover the whole of the home
fields with muck. The muck would be "sloppy manure”, spread from a muck
spreader, which had accumulated over time from the cow sheds. In
February/March it would be spread mainly on the top half of the western field, as
the bottom half was too wet. In July it would be spread on all the home fields,
except where strip grazing was then happening (i.e. where the cattle where then
being kept). The effect of muck spreading would last a minimum of a period of two

weeks, during which no one would want to be on the field.

264. Bridget Rylance said in XX that she recalled muck spreading and agreed that
all the fields would be covered, and that no one would want to use fields for
playing after that had been done. The effect of muck spreading would have lasted
for weeks potentially, depending on the weather, and at least a fortnight even in
wet weather. The result would be that no one would have used the land for
recreational purposes for a period of weeks after muck spreading. The only use
that there could have been was simply walking across the Land (which is what the

evidence shows was the primary use in any event).

68
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 126



265. Strip Grazing for Dairy Cattle: Alastair Martin explained that strip grazing
was a technique used by many livestock farmers, especially dairy farmers, to allow
an efficient use of grass, which was their main resource. Cattle tended to spoil
good grass by walking over it or lying on it, and could also become bloated by
eating too much, especially in spring and early summer. Mr. Martin explained that
strip grazing was quite laborious and involved fencing land with electric fencing
and moving the fence line every day. Mr. Martin confirmed that Mr. Candy used

strip grazing in the Application fields.

266. In addition to the Objector's written evidence, the position on strip grazing
was explained in oral evidence by Peter Kingswill and Mark Chivers, by reference to
the large aerial photograph. This evidence was that the three areas of the home
fields would be fenced off from each other. The cattle would be put into one of
the three areas, with an electric fence penning the cattle into part of one area at
a time. The fence would then be moved along progressively, from west to east,
away from the lane. The fence was usually moved over once a day to expose a
fresh strip of grass. The width moved each time would vary with the
circumstances, but could be 10 ft. There would be a moving line of electric fence
progressing across the field so that it eventually moved across the entire field. The
fencing would remain in place even when the cattle were not in the fields. Each of
the three areas of the home fields would be strip grazed in turn. It would take a
good two to three weeks to get through each of the three areas. During strip
grazing, land already grazed would also be back-fenced so it would be protected
and able to re-grow more quickly, to allow the grass to be re-grazed. Once an area
had been strip grazed it would be fertilised so the grass could re- grow. The cycle
continued around the three areas of the home fields continuously from March
through to September or October, depending on the weather and the grass growth.
There would be active strip grazing through to July and then fencing to allow grass
to grow for hay. There would be electric fencing in place throughout the
application fields from March through to September time, first for strip grazing and

then to allow grass to grow for hay or silage.

69
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 127



267. The May 1992 aerial photograph provides strong corroboration of the
Objector's evidence, both that strip grazing occurred and what was involved. It
shows land fenced off in such a way that any recreational use of the land simply
could not have occurred. It also shows a channel or walkway for cattle fenced off
along the bottom of the western field. This was described in oral evidence by both
Mark Chivers and Peter Kingswill, who said that the area would be fenced off for
the duration of the season from spring through to autumn. Although outside the 20
year period, the photograph is only just outside the period. In any event, it merely

illustrates and confirms the sworn evidence given by the Objector's witnesses.

268. Bridget Rylance said in XX that she remembered land being cordoned off for
strip grazing by fencing. She said that she did remember areas being fenced off by
electric fence to stop the cattle eating too much rich grass. She said that although
she did not particularly recollect the details, she was sure that Mr. Chivers'
evidence on this was right. She agreed that the strip grazing would be during the

summer months.

269. Mrs. Rylance said in XX that people would not get into the fenced-off area
when the cattle were there. She said she expected that the fencing was left in
place when the cattle were not in the field, and that the fencing would have been
moved in sequence, away from the lane. Chris Rylance said in his XX that he did
remember electric fences across the field to limit the amount of feed taken by the

cattle.

270. Paul Allen could remember electric fences being used for the cattle. He
said that they were an effective deterrent and that they would keep the cattle in
as well as acting as a deterrent to people getting in. He described seeing
"enclosures” made of electric fencing. Mr. Allen said that the 1992 aerial
photograph was consistent with his memory of the type of thing that was done and
was consistent with his memory in showing an enclosure. He remembered this in

the eastern field as well, with fencing across the field running north/south. Mr.

70

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 128



Allen also said that he had no reason to doubt the evidence from the Objector on

strip grazing.

271. It was formally accepted by the Applicants in their Response (30 September
20 13) that a strip feeding system using electric fencing was used for feeding cattle

(para 3.3).

272. Strip grazing in this way would, in practice, have prevented the use of the
Land for recreational purposes. The area which was being strip grazed at any one
time would have the electric fence through it and would have the cattle contained
within it for large parts of every day. There could be no use of the relevant part
whilst it was being actively strip grazed. No member of the public would have gone
into it, for recreation or any other purpose. Each area would be subject to active
strip grazing for a period of weeks at a time. All the application land was subjected
to this process throughout the season. This would prevent any of the Land from

being registered as a green.

273. Moreover, whilst one part of the Land was being actively strip grazed, the
other two areas of the Land would be fenced off and fertilised for the grass to
grow. They would not be used for recreation either. Not only would access be
difficult because they were securely fenced to keep the cattle out, but also they
would be unsuitable for recreation, due to the growing grass, fertilising and muck
spreading, and then eventually the cutting of the hay. The system of fencing for
strip grazing and hay growing would also have prevented anyone from getting

across the land or from one part to another.

274. The system of strip grazing and hay growing to which the Land was subject
was so intensive and so disruptive to any recreational use, that, in practice, no
recreational use could take place on any of the home fields whilst this system was
in use. There would be a moving network of electric fencing in place from April

through to September on the two home fields, for both strip grazing and hay

71
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 129



growing, and with dairy cattle (some with calves) on the Land, and the other
related activities. This would cover the first two years of the relevant 20 years. It
would amount to an interruption of any use of the Land for lawful sports and
pastimes and prevent continuous use arising. It is an absolute bar to the

registration of any part of the Land.

275. Submissions on continuous use and interruption were made in the Objector's
Legal Submissions at paragraphs 16 and 18 and in the Objector's Opening Statement
at paragraphs 22 and 23. Since then, the High Court's judgment in R (Naylor) v
Essex CC [2014] EWHC 2560 (Admin) has confirmed that interruption could occur
either by physical exclusion of inhabitants from the land or by carrying on an
incompatible use of the land (paras 70-71). The case reinforces the submissions

previously made by the Objector.

276. The system of electric fencing for strip grazing and hay growing in this case
would have had the effect of interrupting any use and preventing any use of all the
Land during 1993 and 1994. The Applicants cannot therefore show 20 years’

continuous use of the Land for lawful sports and pastimes. The application must be

rejected for this reason alone if no other.

277. Beef Cattle (1994-2002): In addition to the Objector's written evidence, the
position on beef cattle was explained in oral evidence by Peter Kingswill and Mark
Chivers, by reference to the large aerial photograph. This evidence was that beef
cattle would be out in the fields for a full 12 months of the year. The home fields
would be used constantly for keeping some beef cattle all year. There were always

some cattle in the home fields.

278.  Although strip grazing was not done as such with the beef cattle, areas
would be fenced off for periods of three to four weeks, to allow the grass to grow
without being trodden. The fenced areas would cover around three-quarters of the
home fields throughout the year, at different times. There would also be a fenced
pathway from the south-western gate of the western field, along the bottom of the
western field, and then up to the gate into the eastern field, to allow cattle to be

72

Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 130



taken to and from the eastern field without straying into the western field. This

would be in place from April through to November time each year.

279. Robin Candy would buy-in ten or twelve calves a year, as well as having his
own calves from his former dairy cows, and put them to suckle with four or five
cows, to rear them. They would be weaned after some six months or so. They
would be kept for two years and then sold, but there would be a continuous cycle
of animals being bought in and then sold on. As with the dairy cattle, the calves
would be kept in the home fields with their "mothers”. The "adolescent” calves

would be kept in the fields towards Maynard Terrace or elsewhere.

280. Mrs. Rylance confirmed in XX that, after the dairy cattle had gone, there
were beef cattle at the farm until May 2002. She said that a number of about 45
sounded right. She accepted in XX that beef cattle were in the home fields for
some parts of every year from 1994 to 2002 that only beef cattle were in the home
fields from 1994 to 1998, and that, except for over-wintering, there were no sheep
in the fields until 1998. When asked about the detail of the arrangements,
including whether there were calves in the home fields, Mrs. Rylance said that she

could not remember one way or the other.

281. Paul Allen remembered the beef cattle and said he was happy to accept
that they had been present from 1994 until 2002. He said that he thought the
number of about 45 cattle was "OK". He agreed that the beef cattle would be kept
in the fields and moved around, but less frequently than the dairy cattle. He
confirmed that beef cattle were in the home fields for some parts of every year
from 1994 to 2002.

282. As with the system of fencing for the strip grazing and hay cropping during
the dairy period, the fencing described above would also amount to an interruption
of the use of the Land sufficient to prevent continuous use accruing during the

period when beef cattle were present in the 1990s.

73
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 131



283. The Foot-And Mouth Outbreak: The foot-and-mouth outbreak ran from
February 2001 through to January 2002. Alastair Martin, who was in practice as a
land agent in the area at the time, explained that the outbreak was horrendous for
farmers, not least because it was not known where the disease would spread
next. Farmers lived in constant fear of being infected and made every effort to
avoid infection. He said that the countryside was a very different place during
2001. Mr. Martin said that the public was invariably asked not to cross farmland
during the outbreak and that they respected that. He explained that the NFU sent
out signs for farmers to use and that, as well as using signs, farmers would be
especially diligent to ensure people were not walking through fields. Mr. Martin
confirmed that there were no cases of foot and-mouth in the vicinity of High
Littleton and said that he was sure that the application site was not subject to any

statutory closure.

284. Peter Kingswill was chairman of the Livestock Auctioneer s' Association in
2001. He said that it was a horrendous period, when farmers were extremely
worried about the outbreak. He confirmed that there were no cases in north
Somerset and that the Land was not subject to a statutory closure. He said that
everyone in High Littleton wanted to be a responsible neighbour to Mr. Candy and
that there had been no access at all to the application fields by members of the
public during the outbreak. Mr. Kingwill said that notices sent out by the NFU had
been erected on the two gates into the western field from the lane, and also on
the oak tree in the lane. Mr. Kingwill said that the evidence in Norman Clothier's

second statutory declaration accorded with his recollection of events.

285. During the outbreak, Mr. Candy put up signs to prohibit entry to the home
fields and checked the Land to ensure that the signs were obeyed. The evidence is
that local residents respected the signs and would not have gone into the home
fields at all during the outbreak. Written evidence on what was done during the
foot-and-mouth outbreak is contained in the statutory declarations of Robin Candy,
Norman Clothier, Peter Kingswill and Henry Wareham. Norman Clothier's second

statutory declaration (18 September 2014) provides the additional information

74
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 132



requested. This confirms that notices were in place from February 2001 until
January 2002 on the two gates into the home fields from the track to the farm,
that the fields were checked regularly to ensure that they were not used, and that
they were not used. Mr. Clothier had sheep in the home fields from March until
September 2001, having obtained licences to move the sheep. The notices were for
use in "non-restricted areas”, where no outbreak of the disease had been
confirmed. They said: "FOOT AND-MOUTH DISEASE | PLEASE KEEP OFF THIS LAND".
This echoes the evidence given by Robin Candy in his statutory declaration of May
2014 (para 7). The evidence is consistent and confirms that signs were erected, the

home fields were checked, and that in practice no one went into the fields.

286. Mark Chivers was visiting the Candys about once a fortnight in 2001. He
recalls seeing foot-and-mouth signs on the gates from the lane and he recalls Mr.
Candy checking the fields. Mr. Chivers also confirmed that what was said by
Norman Clothier in his second statutory declaration accorded with his own

recollection.

287. There is no dispute that the Land was not used by local residents during the
foot-and- mouth outbreak. It was formally accepted by the Applicants in their
Response (30 September 2013) that there was not use "during the period around
the 2001 Foot and Mouth epidemic” (para 3.9).Locals did not go into the fields

during the outbreak.

288. Bridget Rylance said in XX that she remembered the foot-and-mouth
outbreak in 2001, although she was "hazy" on the dates. She did not remember any
signs, but was clear that she was not saying that there were no signs. Mrs. Rylance
said that "of course” the locals respected the foot-and-mouth disease measures and
would not have gone into the fields during the outbreak in 2001. Chris Rylance
agreed with this, but added himself that he would be very surprised if Mr. Candy
had not put signs up, and that people at the time were very conscious that the

countryside was closed.

75
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 133



289. Neil Topping's evidence in XX was that there might have been signs for foot-
and- mouth but that he simply did not remember. He also said that he was not
saying that Mr. Candy's evidence was wrong or inaccurate at all. He simply did not
recall the foot-and-mouth outbreak at all. David Fenton said that he would expect

local people to obey foot-and-mouth signs.

290. Paul Allen's evidence, after he had seen the evidence of Robin Candy and
Henry Wareham, was that he did not doubt that there were signs. He said that
there was no actual outbreak of foot-and-mouth here, but that his recollection was
that the countryside was closed. At least one questionnaire states that use was

prevented during the foot and-mouth outbreak.

291. The agreed position is that when the foot-and-mouth outbreak was
underway in 2001, locals would not have gone into fields. They did not. There was

no recreational use of the application site at all during this period.

292. Submissions on the foot-and-mouth position were made in the Objector’s
Legal Submissions at paragraphs 16 to 18 and in the Objector's Opening Statement

at paragraphs 15 to 21.

293. The recent judgment in Naylor confirms that the Objector's submissions on
foot-and- mouth and section 1 5(6) are right. In that case, the Deputy Judge held
that section 15(6) was concerned with a case in which there was a statutory
prohibition on access to the land imposed on members of the public which had the
consequence that the public could not lawfully use the land (para 81). In Naylor, as
here, there was no evidence that access to the land was prohibited by reason of an

enactment, so section 15(6) did not apply. It is exactly the same in this case.

294. No evidence has been produced by the Applicants to show that there was a

statutory prohibition on access by members of the public to the Land imposed

76
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 134



during the outbreak. The evidence that has been produced shows that there was
not such a prohibition, because it refers to other locations or to closure of public
rights of way, neither of which are relevant to the Land. It is clear that in fact
there was not such a prohibition, as was explained by the Objector's witnesses in
oral evidence. As well as Alastair Martin and Peter Kingswill, Alan Sheppard

confirmed that there was no statutory closure of the Land during the outbreak.

295. It was accepted by Mr. Sheen on the morning of Day 4 of the inquiry that
there was not a statutory closure. He said, however, that because the signs came
from MAFF a person seeing the signs would believe that a government department
was asking them to keep off the land and would probably presume there was some
statutory backing for that request. That is not accepted, but, be that as it may, it
would not be enough to satisfy section 15(6) which requires there in fact to have
been a statutory prohibition. The Somerset CC report dated 2 July 200l notes the
infected areas, but none of them include High Littleton. There are no public rights
of way on the Land which could have been affected by a closure of PROWs (but
that would not count anyway, as section 15(6) requires that "access to the land" be
"prohibited to members of the public”, so merely closing PROWs would not fall
within the ambit of section 15(6)). The email from Mark Erickson dated 18 August
2014 says nothing of any substance, and it is merely one person's general
recollection from 13 years ago. It falls a very long way short of even suggesting, let
alone proving, that access to the Land was prohibited to members of the public

under an enactment during the entire 2001/2002 foot-and-mouth outbreak.

296. Access to the Land by members of the public by reason of an enactment did
not happen here. What people might have thought underlay the signs is nothing to
the point. It is common ground both that the signs were obeyed and that there was
no statutory closure. That is an end to the matter. It is agreed that there was in
fact a very long interruption to continuous use of the Land. That interruption does
not fall to be disregarded under section 15(6). This is utterly fatal to the

application.

77
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 135



297. Sheep: Evidence on the use of the application land for keeping sheep is
mainly in the statutory declarations provided by the Clothiers and corroborated by
other statements. The position in summary is that sheep were first introduced into
the home fields when they were kept there over winter from around 1993. As Mr.
Candy disposed of his cattle, the Clothiers kept sheep in the fields at other times
of the year. From around 2002 the fields have only been used by sheep and not
cattle. The sheep are present, for long periods, for most of the year, and in large

numbers.

298. Mr. Topping confirmed in XX that the Land had been used by sheep rather
than cattle since 2002. He also said that there were times when sheep were not
present, when the grass had been left to grow for a hay crop. The evidence is
therefore that after 2002 either sheep were present or the land was being used to

grow a hay crop. It was not left unused.

299. Adrian Neech said in XX that sheep were present on the Land in "all seasons”
and accepted that they were present on and off for most of the year and in large

numbers. Mike Brewer also accepted that the sheep were present in large numbers
and said that they were there "most of the time". Catherine Lane accepted that the

evidence from the Clothiers stacked-up.

300. Sarah Wheeler confirmed that sheep were present for most of the year in
her experience (since 2010). David Fenton also considered Norman Clothier’s

schedule and said that he had no reason to doubt it at all.

301. Alastair Martin explained in XX that sheep are very nervous and that even a
dog putting its head through a gate from the lane would be enough to scare sheep,
which would be a particular concern when there were pregnant ewes in the field.

He said that a farmer would not want dogs off a lead anywhere near sheep.

302. Itis clear that any recreational use of the Land could not co-exist with the

agricultural use. Not only is there evidence showing that much of the claimed use
78

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 136



simply did not happen when there was livestock in the field, and that that which
did was much more confined, there is evidence showing clearly that the two could
no co-exist. For example, Emily Malik said that when they went into the field the
sheep and lambs would "flee". Similarly, Adrian Neech said that he had to drive the
sheep away before holding his firework party in 2013. He accepted in XX that this
was not compatible with the agricultural use of the Land. So, even when the Land
was used for sheep rather than cattle, it is apparent from the Applicants' evidence
that the use was incompatible with most recreational use of the Land - and that
much claimed recreational use simply did not happen at all when there were sheep

on the Land.

303. Challenges To Use: The evidence on farming uses corroborates the evidence
given about challenges to the use of the Land by Mr.. Candy, well into the 1990s.
Christine Candy was clear in her statutory declaration of September 2013 that her
husband had told local people to get out of the fields when they were seen there.
Robin Candy said that himself, in his statutory declaration of September 2013,
albeit that it was only "very seldom" that he would see members of the public on
the Land.

304. The XX of Alan Sheppard about the scheduled did not affect the general
point about the extent of the use of the home fields by the Clothiers' sheep, which
had in any event been accepted by a humber of the Applicants’ witnesses. Alastair
Martin explained in XX why the sign on the gate on the lane would be just as likely
to refer to people with dogs on the lane as people with dogs walking across the
field. The challenges were sufficient such that it ought to have become known by
anyone using the Land that recreational use was not allowed, so that any use would

have been contentious.

305. Itis clear that any recreational use of the Land during the period it was
actively farmed by Mr. Candy - that is, throughout the 1990s and beyond - would
have been contentious or vi, and not therefore as of right, because of these

challenges. The legal basis for this is set out in the Objector's Legal Submissions at

79

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 137



paragraph 6 and in the Opening Statement at paragraph 4. None of the use during
the 1990s and into the early 2000s would count for the purposes of section 15

because it was not use as of right.

306. The Overall Effect Of The Farming Use: As Ross Crail said in her report on
land at Station Road, Newport, livestock may be nervous or temperamental or
vulnerable. In concluding that the claimed use by inhabitants was wholly
inconsistent with the farming use of the land, so that the two uses could not
sensibly co-exist, David Manley QC observed in his report on land at Derry Hill,
Menston, that most sensible people, at least with dogs, would not wander about
fields containing cattle and also that responsible parents would not let their
children play in fields with livestock in them. Those same points apply here.
Alastair Martin confirmed in his statutory declaration that it would have been
unwise for anyone to have used the fields for any kind of recreation whilst the

cattle were present (para 5).

307. This is confirmed by the HSE publication "Cattle and public access in
England and Wales" and the advice from Outdoors West (page 5 of 7), both of
which were submitted (late) by the Applicants. The HSE publication is clear that
the two most common factors in incidents involving cattle and members of the
public leading to death or serious injury are cows with calves and walkers with
dogs, both of which would have been present in this case (on the Applicants'
evidence). The Outdoors West document explains that it is an offence for a person
to allow a dog to be ‘at large’ in the presence of sheep, that is not on a lead or

otherwise under close control.

308. Peter Kingswill and Mark Chivers- both explained graphically in their oral
evidence just how intensively farmed and used were the home fields (i.e. the
Land). This was corroborated by Alastair Martin. The use of the home fields was
contrasted by the witnesses with the other land on the farm (i.e. the four fields
down the lane towards Maynard Terrace), which was nowhere near as intensively

used. Such an intensive use of the home fields would make the agricultural use, at

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 138

80



least when cattle were present throughout the 1990s and into the 2000s, so
intensive that it would be entirely incompatible with any significant recreational

use of the land.

309. Alastair Martin explained that the application land was Mr. Candy's home
fields, used for grazing his main stock, especially of dairy cows. The home fields
were the two best fields Mr. Candy had. They were also closest to the farm, so that
Mr. Candy could keep an eye on them. They were the centre of his farm business,
for both dairy and beef cattle and Mr. Martin said that the home fields would be
used for the dairy cattle who were producing milk, as the fields were the best

fields and were most accessible.

310. The same thing was said by Mr. Kingswill. He said that the two home fields
were absolutely integral to what was a small farm, and that the two fields,
especially the western field, were the best fields in terms of production. The fields
had the best grass on the farm and, whilst cattle would use other fields, these two
fields were fundamental to milk production from April and all through the summer.
Mr. Kingwill described the application site as the two main production fields on the
farm. He also pointed out that the fields were on Mr. Candy's doorstep and were in
effect his main place of work - the core element of his business. They would be
used for his main milk production cows and cows with calves, who would all be in

the home fields and not in the other fields towards Maynard Terrace.

311. This is very far indeed from the "low-level agricultural activities” which the
courts have suggested might in principle be able to co-exist with recreational use.
Any significant recreational use would plainly have come into conflict with the
agricultural use made of the home fields, at least whilst cattle were kept by Mr.
Candy. This is a case where the claimed recreational use could not sensibly co-

exist with the undisputed agricultural use at all.

81
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 139



312. The evidence shows that there could not have been any material use of the
land for recreation during the period when cattle were kept by Mr. Candy and it
shows that even when sheep were on the land there was not any significant use of

the land for lawful sports and pastimes.

313. This was confirmed in the Objector’s oral evidence to the inquiry. Mark
Chivers, for example, said that although he had sometimes seen children on the
Land when the grass was long, he had never seen any children on the Land when
cattle were in the fields. Submissions on this point were made in the Objector’s
Legal Submissions at paragraph 11 and in its Opening Statement. The result is that

the agricultural use of the Land means that the application cannot succeed.

314. This is separate from, and in addition to, the freestanding points set out
above on interruption and lack of continuous use which arise in relation to fencing
and the foot- and-mouth outbreak. These are further, additional reasons why the

application must be rejected.

315.  Whilst it may be that there has been some recreational use of some of the
Application Land, this has been intermittent, occasional and sporadic, and has only
occurred more recently, after the sale by Robin Candy of his cattle in May 2002 and
indeed the construction of more houses in High Littleton. In the context of the
farming, any recreational use would not be enough to qualify for registration, but
the interruptions to continuous use which have occurred would prevent registration

in any event.

316. The Application Site: The home fields which comprise the application site
are about 19 acres in all. The fields were Mr. Candy's home fields, and about half
of his entire land holding, and were subject to an intensive level of use. They were
also subject to a high degree of surveillance by the Candys and their visitors, being
visible (in part at least) from Greyfield Road and the lane leading down to the

farm. Mark Chivers explained that whilst the cattle were at the farm (i.e. until

82

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 140



2002) there was an intact fence and gate between the western and the eastern
fields. He also said that until sometime in the 1990s, after 1994 when the switch
from dairy to beef cattle occurred, the fence which split the western field in two

was intact.

317. Western Field: The western field is about 12 acres. It is simply an open
field. It is overlooked from Greyfield Road and the lane down to the farm (certainly
from higher vehicles such as Land Rovers and tractors). Mr. and Mrs. Candy would
have been able to see the western field when they were going to and from the

farm, and along main road, as well as when they were on the farm.

318. The western field itself slopes down southwards from Greyfield Road. There
is a deep valley dip in the south-eastern corner of the western field, as is shown on
the site survey plan dated 2 December 20 10 submitted by the Objector. It is
flatter in the south-western corner, near the gate. The evidence shows that the
agricultural use of the western field was more intense than the eastern field,
which is corroborated by the fact that it is closer to the farm and the gate to the
lane. The evidence showed that it was often very muddy and not easy to get
through the western field. Paul Allen explained that it was possible to get through
the eastern field without getting mucky but that the western field was more
difficult to get through. He said in XX that he had not used the western field

anything like as much as the eastern field.

319. The only real evidence of any use of the western field came from a small
group of recent arrivals in the area who have small children and who live very near
the western field. This included the Moores (since 2010), the Wheelers (since 2010)
and the Maliks (since 2011). This use would not be representative of the 20 year
period. Even the "Nature Child" group run by Emily Malik was attended by Sarah
Wheeler and Jo Moore. The same names were repeated in connection with

different activities (e.g. fireworks, sledging, etc.).

83
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 141



320. Emily Malik described in XX how it was the middle part of the western field
that had been used, in front of the top gate from the lane. There was no evidence
at all of use of the top one-third of the western field. This is perhaps not surprising
as it is steeply sloping, as it was described by Adrian Neech in XX. Sarah Wheeler
also said that she had never been into the eastern field, showing how limited and
confined this use was and Mrs. Wheeler said in examination-in-chief (XIC) that they
only go on the land every couple of months. She also said in XX that she had never
seen children out on their own in the western field, also showing how limited any

use of the western field was.

321. There is virtually no evidence of any recreational use of the northern third
of the western field. This is not surprising when one considers that all the access
points into the western field are in the bottom two-thirds of the field (i.e. the two
gates from the lane, the hurdle to the woodland in the corner, and the gate from
the eastern field). Given the access points, and the topography, it is entirely

understandable that this northern third of the western field has not been used.

322. Thereis, in reality, very little evidence of the use of the western field for
lawful sports and pastimes at all, even taking the Applicants’ evidence at face
value. It is apparent that the western field was not used for recreational purposes
to anything more than a de minimis extent. If it is concluded that any land should
be recommended for registration as a village green, then the western field must be
excluded from that registration. It simply has not been used for lawful sports and
pastimes to anything more than a wholly de minimis degree, even on the

Applicants' evidence, and cannot therefore be registered as a TVG.

323.  Whilst it is accepted that not every part of the Land has to have been used
for lawful sports and pastimes before it can be registered, it is the case that the
whole of the Land needs to be used. It must be the case that the Land could
properly be described, viewed as a whole, as having been used for recreation. The
area to be registered would be the area "all of which was sensibly regarded as

constituting a single identifiable area”. The east and the west fields in this case are

84
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 142



single identifiable areas. Accordingly, evidence of use of the eastern field would
only go to justify registration of the eastern field and would provide no evidence at
all to justify registration of the western field. Only evidence of use of the western
field (of which there is virtually none) could justify registration of the western
field.

324. Similarly, evidence of use of only part of the western field (e.g. the
southern part) would not be enough to justify registration of all the western field,
as the area which has not been used (e.g. he northern part) is so large in relation
to the whole that it could not sensibly be said that evidence of use of the southern

part demonstrates use of the whole.

325. The position is that, on any analysis of the evidence before the inquiry, the

application must fail in relation to the western field.

326. Eastern Field: The eastern field has some significant slopes within it. It is,
to say the least, undulating. There are slopes down in each of the southern
corners. There is a flatter area in the north-eastern part of the field, behind the
houses of the second phase of Greyfield Common and into the triangular corner.
The north-western part of the eastern field, towards Mr. Sheen'’s house, is too
steep and the ground too rutted for any ball games or the like to be played. It is
clear that only the north-eastern part of the eastern field could have been used for

sports or pastimes.

327. Much of the evidence of use came from the residents of Greyfield Common
who back on to the eastern field. As they back on to the Land, such use is perhaps
less unexpected. But it is not an indicator that other people who lived elsewhere
also used the land; it does not tend to suggest that there has been any wider use of
the Land. In fact, that so much of the evidence related to use by people who lived
immediately adjacent to the land, tends to suggest that there are no other people

from further away using the Land.

85
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 143



328. The evidence of Neil Topping, for example, shows that the recreational use
was confined to the north-eastern part of the eastern field - the strip behind the
houses and the triangle in the north-eastern corner. He said in XX that the football
was played in the triangle of land. His written evidence describes games played by
Greyfield Common residents. He said in XX that this was people who had accessed
the land through gates in their gardens or their neighbours' gardens, and comprised
ball games on the flat triangle of land behind the houses. He said that they were
"tucked away" in the north-eastern corner playing football. The same land - behind
the houses and the north-eastern corner triangle - was identified as the site for all

the claimed activities, including not only games but also kites and picnics.

329. Rachel Tidcombe's evidence also strongly supports this. She said in XX that
there was a very flat part of the land behind her house which is where people
would play football and cricket. She described it as a strip behind the second phase
of Greyfield Common. The photographs she produced also show activity primarily in
this area and, when she described the so-called den building, she said that it had
been done just in front of her house. Indeed, she said that the previous owners of
her house had moved because of the noise of football being played in the field so
close to their house. This was corroborated by her written evidence which said that
she would find footballs in her garden which had bounced over from the field
(p560).

330. Mr. Neech said in XX that the golf balls he had found on his lawn on three
occasions had to have originated near the house. If they came from the application
site - and Mr. Neech said he had no idea where they came from - then it would

have been the strip of the eastern field behind the houses.

331. The only evidence from the Applicants showing the use of the Land for
lawful sports and pastimes to anything more than a de minimis degree (and even
then it is limited) relates to north-eastern part of the eastern field - the strip

behind the second phase of Greyfield Common and the triangle in the north-

86
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 144



eastern corner. If any part of the Land is to be registered as a village green (and
none of it is) then it must only be this area of land. Nothing else could possibly
qualify, even taking the Applicants ' evidence at face value but the use of such a
small part of the eastern field means that it cannot sensibly be said that use of this
part of the eastern field amounts to use of the field as a whole for recreation. The
part which it is claimed was used is such a small part of the whole field that the
claimed use would not render the whole field liable for registration as a village

green.

332. Access to the Land: It is clear from the evidence that the land has been
fenced throughout the 20 year period. The fencing was clearly not always good
enough to keep livestock in, but it was generally good enough to do that and it
was clearly always good enough to mean that people had to go in and out by
recognised entrances. It is also apparent that the western field was more securely
fenced than the eastern field. Paul Allen said in RX that the western field had
always been secure. For example, Mr. and Mrs. Skarden (who lived at 15 Greyfield
Common from 1999 to 2006, before Rachel Tidcombe) said that "the land was

always fully fenced".

333. Even where access points were improvised, such as the jumper/coat over
the barbed wire in the middle of the southern boundary of the eastern field, they
were defined and people would always use the same place. The same applies to
the "hurdle” in the south-eastern corner of the western field, which led through to

the woods.

334. Catherine Lane confirmed that during the period she bad known the Land
(May 2005 onwards) the only accesses to the Land for people were the two gates
off the lane, a way through to the woods in the corner, and gates from houses -
and that otherwise the fencing was intact. This was confirmed by others, including
Jonny Moore, Mike Brewer, Leonard Sheen, Bridget Rylance (resident since 1990)
and Neil Topping (resident since 1999). Leonard Sheen described a time in 2010
when sheep had escaped and electric fencing was deployed. He said that electric
fencing had been put down the boundary between the two fields for a period of 48

hours and confirmed that this was not crossed by people. Paul Allen also said in XX

87
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 145



that the gateway between the two fields had been closed at times. There were
also other references to this in the written evidence. This would constitute an
interruption to the use of the land which would prevent continuous use of the land

such that the application site could not be registered as a TVG under section 15.

335. Neil Topping confirmed that since at least 1999 the ‘alley’ from Greyfield
Road had not been used by Mr. Candy and was impassable. He said that it was
heavily overgrown. Paul Allen confirmed in his XX that the access track became
overgrown in the early 1990s. It was therefore overgrown and inaccessible

throughout the relevant 20 year period.

336. It is apparent that the only access points to the Application Land during the
relevant 20 year period have been the two gates from the lane, the way through to
the woods, and gates from houses. As is explained further below in relation to
walking, the limited access points to the land have influenced how the Land is

used.

337. The fencing may not have been perfect but it is clear that it was good
enough to confine access by people to these points at all times, and to keep stock

in for the majority of the time.

338. Access by climbing over a fence - as had been done by Paul Allen, the
Moores and by Mr. Sheen - would not qualify as use as of right because it would
have been vi. Nor would any access to the application site which had been gained
from the woodland by climbing over the 'hurdle’ in the south-eastern corner of the
western field. Mr. Sheen said that this 'hurdle’ was in place until around 2010 and
that there has been fencing there since then. The legal position is as explained in
the Opening Statement at paragraph 6 and in the Legal Submissions at paragraph 7.
All this use must be left out of account in considering whether there has been a

sufficient quantity and quality of use to qualify for registration.

88
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 146



339. Boundary Gates: Mr. Collins accepted that his analysis showed that a
quarter of people who had said that they had used the land had had access from
their private gardens, via a gate or over a fence. If the use of the land claimed by
people with gates in their boundaries has to be discounted from consideration, as it

must, then a large element of the claimed use simply falls away.

340. Rachel Tidcombe said that her understanding of why the gate had originally
been installed in her boundary was to allow sheep to be let out of the garden if
they got in and she said that the gate was used to access the field to maintain the
boundary. Catherine Lane accepted that most houses have hedges or shrubs on at
least part of their boundary and that only a couple of houses were purely fencing.
She also accepted that gates into the field would be used to maintain the boundary
and retrieve balls, shuttlecocks and the like, and that these were all legitimate

reasons to go on to a neighbour 's land.

Paul Allen described how although there was a stile in his boundary until 2013 he
would also have to climb over a fence which was between his boundary and the
field. Adrian Neech also said that he used his gate for access to the field for
regular maintenance of the hedge (p260) and accepted i n XX that this was a
legitimate reason to go on to a neighbour's land. This is echoed in the written
evidence (eg p540, para 3). This was also accepted by e.g. Neil Topping (and see
e.g. p569, para 6).

341. This evidence is correct and shows that the existence of a gate does not of
itself suggest to an observer that there is use of the Land by adjoining owners as
trespassers. Gates could be there for entirely legitimate reasons. Even the
Applicants said in their legal submissions at paragraph 4(b) that in most cases gates
were installed where it was the householder's responsibility to maintain the
boundary and it was formally accepted by the Applicants in their Response (30
September 2013) that the gates are used for the purpose of maintaining boundaries
(para 3.6). Robin Candy's evidence was that he understood that the gates were
present for boundary maintenance purposes and he never saw the gates being used

to access the field for any other purposes.
89

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 147



342. Not all the gates had been there for the full 20 years. Neil Topping said that
his had been installed in 2007. He confirmed that he used it for boundary
maintenance. Before that time he said that he would squeeze through gaps in his
hedge to retrieve things such as balls that flew over the hedge and to cut the

hedge.

343. In legal terms, there are two important points arising from access by
boundary gates. The first is that, because there were perfectly legitimate reasons
for the gates to be present, other than for any recreational use of the Land, any
such use as was made of the Land would have been clam. This is explained in the
Objector's Opening Statement at paragraph 6 and in the Objector's Legal
Submissions at paragraph 8. Use by people gaining access from gates in their
boundaries would have been secretive rather than open and therefore would not
qualify as being use as of right for the purposes of section 15. Such use must be

ignored.

344. The second point is that if a right has arisen from access through the
boundary gates it would not be in the nature of a public right such as a village
green, but would simply be a private right of access, i.e. a private easement. The
use would not count towards prescribing a public right but only, at most, towards

prescribing potential private rights.

345. There are two important points about the claimed use of the land which it
is important to recognise at the outset. First, use of the land is largely claimed by
people who live adjacent to or very close to the land. Secondly, the main use of
the land has been to walk, with and without dogs. This is clear from the
Applicants’ written evidence but was put beyond doubt by the oral evidence

presented to the inquiry.

90
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 148



346. Mr.. Collins accepted that some things done on the land were more common
than others, as did Neil Topping, who said that walking and dog walking was the
common use. Mr. Neech also said in XX that walking, with and without dogs, was
"the predominant activity” on the land and Sarah Walker said that in her
experience the use was mainly walking dogs and walking through the field. It is
clear that walking, with and without dogs, is by far the most common activity

claimed to have taken place on the Land.

347. It is notable that Mr. Fenton's witness statement said that, apart from
walking, the "other main activity” was when it snowed, showing that there really is
nothing else apart from walking done on the Land save the very rare snow-related
use. This was echoed in other evidence, for example the statement from Nicola
Green which describes the use she has seen as "mainly for dog walking or sledging

during snowy weather".

348. The various summaries of the Applicants ' case make it clear what the
primary use of the Land has been. The Applicants' legal submissions say at
paragraph 3(b) that the Land has been "used for dog walking and also other
activities". On the application form at (7), the first named activities were dog

walking and walking.

349. Overall, the Applicants' evidence simply does not stack-up. Adrian Neech
said that most of the field could be seen from the road and the lane down to Mr.
Candy's farm, and that he did not believe that Mr. Candy had ever seen him or his
wife on the field, but then said that they were on the field at least weekly. It is
simply impossible to believe this. Given how visible the western field is (and this is
common ground on the evidence), if Mr. and Mrs. Neech were going on to the Land
weekly and in an open manner, then they would have been seen. The evidence is
simply not credible. The Applicants’ evidence of use generally is over-stated by a

very substantial degree, as was perfectly apparent from cross-examination.

91
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 149



350. Another example is Mr. Neech's frankly desperate attempt to claim doing
hedge maintenance as a lawful sport and pastime and he was over-egging the
pudding to the extent to which the land is genuinely visible from his garden;

visibility is in truth limited to only small parts of the garden.

351.  Mr. Collins accepted in XX that in cases where permission had been granted
that use would not qualify towards the application. Catherine Lane had sought and
received permission to use the Land, despite what she had been told by the seller,
presumably because she thought what she had been told was not credible. That
use, for example, must be ignored when considering the test in section 15. The
legal position on permissive use was explained in the Objector's Legal Submissions

at paragraph 5 and in its Opening Statement at paragraph 5.

352. Moreover, as was explained in paragraph 36 of the Objector’s Legal
Submissions, use by visitors and family members who lived outside the red line
area would not count for the purposes of section 15, as they would not be residents
of the neighbourhood claimed. It is clear that much of the claimed use was by

people outside the red line

353. Mr. Neech accepted in XX that when he had said on the questionnaire use

was “daily/weekly" (p259) it was in fact "more weekly than daily".

354. It was perfectly apparent from the site visit that there are only particular,
very small, parts of the Neechs' garden which gain views over the fields, and even
then only a small part of the field can be seen from each (e.g. the part behind the
shed and next to the compost bins in the bottom corner of the garden). The hedge
had also been cut between the first and second parts of the inquiry, as Mrs. Neech
admitted on the site visit. What Mrs. Lane reported as being said by Mr. Candy
(that's fine but not by the sheep) amounts to sufficient permission to render the
use precario. This was accepted by Rachel Tidcombe in XX and she accepted in XX
that not all the written evidence came from people who lived in the red line area.
Again, all this claimed use needs to be left out of account when assessing whether

the application satisfies the test in section 15.

92

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 150



355. It is notable that Peter Kingwill's evidence on the limited use of the Land
was not challenged in cross-examination. It appears that Mr. Kingwill's evidence is
accepted by the Applicants. Given Mr. Kingwill's independent position - where
material from him was submitted by both sides - what he says should in the

circumstances be given very considerable weight.

356. As noted above, it is clear from the Applicants' evidence that walking, with
and without dogs, is by far the most common activity claimed to have taken place
on the application site. Moreover, it is also clear from the evidence that the great
majority of the walking on the Land has been not only in straight lines but also on
particular routes. It is interesting that Jonny Moore thought that there was a
permissive path on the land because, as he explained in XX, there was a pathway
from one side of the field to the other (he was referring in particular to the
western field, but the path carried on into the eastern field of course). The same
was said by Bridget Rylance. She explained in XX that she had assumed that there
was a public path running east/west across the western field and through the

gateway to the eastern field.

357. Paul Allen said in XX that he would use the gateway to get to the western
field from the eastern field, as did Mike Brewer. The photograph produced by
Rachael Tidcombe illustrates this: there is a group of people walking in a straight
line. Her written evidence refers to walks "across the fields". The same thing is
illustrated in a photograph from Mark Collins, which he described as typical. Other

photographs show people walking across the land.

358. David Fenton said in XX that walking with dogs was by far the most common
activity on the application site. He said that that most people he had seen would
enter via the western gate in the middle of the field and walk either to the gate to
the eastern field or to the south-eastern corner of the western field (which led
through to the woods). He described that he would see people "walking across” the
Land and said that the majority of people would "traverse” the Land. He said that a

"few" people would walk around the perimeter of the site in a circuit.

93

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 151



359. The evidence clearly shows that the majority of the walking between the
two fields was by people who passed through the gateway and was concentrated on
a particular line either side of the gateway. That this is the picture to emerge from
the evidence is not at all surprising. It is obvious that a walk on the Land would
have to start and end in defined places, namely access points on to the Land and
there were very few of those, as already noted. Moreover, it is natural that walking
would be through the field from gate to gate. This is especially so given the very
large area of land comprised in the fields. It is to be expected that people would

take a direct route across the site from one field to another.

360. Not only has the bulk of the walking been through the application Land, it is
also apparent that the majority of it has been walking through the Land as part of
a larger route. Mr. Collins accepted in XX that people would tend to walk through
the site to different places when on a walk. He said himself that "quite often”
people would walk and take in a number of areas so that they went out one way
and came back another. Even Jonny Moore, with very young children, said that
some of the walking in the field was as part of a larger walk and that they would

also go into the woods.

361. Paul Allen described the routes that he would take: along the eastern edge
of the eastern field, down to climb over the wire fence at the centre of the
eastern field, or through the gate to the western field and down the edge of the
western field to the south-eastern corner and into the woods. In his second
statement he said that "generally now | walk the fields to gain access to the woods

and the route south towards the waterfall and Hallatrow".

362. Mike Brewer described the walking that he had done. He said his walks
would tend to continue further than the field. He described walking through to the
woods and walking around the edges of the two fields. The walk described by
Rachel Tidcombe was from her garden to the middle of the southern boundary of

the eastern field and then on into the woods, climbing over the fence to do so.

94
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 152



Bridget Rylance's evidence was of walking to the woods via the field. Mr. Neech
described his wife's "keep fit" walking in XX. He said that this was her main use of
the Land. He said that she would walk in the fields around 6pm or pm once a week
or once a fortnight, and would walk down to the woods and around to return via

the gate in the boundary.

363. In answer to an inspector’s question, Adrian Neech described the walking he
had seen on the Land. He said that walkers were very often just going across the
field from gate to gate. He indicated walking routes from the two gates on the lane
into the western field and across to the gateway into the eastern field, in straight
lines. Not only is this purely linear walking from A to B but it is also confined to the
bottom two-thirds of the western field. Mark Collins’s statement said that the first
gate to the western field was "a common access point". Walking would not happen
in the northern third of the western field as that was to the north of the routes

shown by Mr. Neech.

364. It is apparent, as one would expect that any running on the Land was done
as part of a larger route and was also done very infrequently. Neil Topping had
mentioned riding bicycles, but made it clear in XX that this was kids who had "gone

across the field on bikes".

365. Dog Walking: Whilst a great deal of the claimed use of the Land was dog
walking, it is apparent that there was in reality little use for dog walking (and even

less for other claimed activities).

366. David Fenton accepted in XX that most of the dog walking done locally was
done in the woodland, with some also down the track towards Maynard Terrace. He
said that the majority of dog walkers going down the lane would carry on,
either to the woods or towards Maynard Terrace, rather than go into the field.
He agreed that he tended to see the same people walking dogs each day and he
said that most of the people who go on to the field to walk a dog were doing a

circular walk which involved the field.
95

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 153



367. Mr. Fenton also said that he had never seen a dog loose in the field at any
time. His experience was that dog walkers would have dogs on a lead when they
were anywhere near livestock and would also keep to paths where there were
paths. He said that use of the site for dog walking reduced when there was
livestock present in the field. This was echoed by Paul Allen who said in XX that he
had never seen anyone over many years with dogs running free whilst there was
livestock in the field. This is not surprising given the evidence about how local

residents would respect the Countryside Code, noted earlier in these submissions.

368. Catherine Lane said that her route for dog walking would depend on the
weather and how long she had, and that there would be a mix of longer and
shorter walks, but that walks in the field would also include a route either into the
woods or along the path to Maynard Terrace and Clutton. In her written evidence
she said that she used the land for dog walking "weekly" and said that she would
"walk our dogs around Greyfield Road fields and through them to go on to Greyfield
Woods".

369. Leonard Sheen said that his use of the field would depend on "the sheep
situation”, but that he would usually take a long walk in the morning, walking
through some of the field and into the woods before returning via the field and his

back garden. This, he said in XX, was his main use of the land.

370. In his oral evidence, Chris Rylance said that they would always walk
"through” the field. He described how they would walk diagonally across the
western field from the top gate on the land to the south-eastern corner and then
through into the woods, and also sometimes along the boundary of the western
field. He said that going to the woods was the usual way he used the field for

walking, both with a dog and without.

96
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 154



371.  Mr. Collins could identify four regular users of the Land for dog walking.
Catherine Lane identified around half a dozen regular dog walkers. Leonard Sheen

identified a similar number, including some who were clearly the same people.

372. The Applicants’ evidence is consistent with the Objector’s evidence. For
example, Mark Chivers said in XX that he had only ever seen dog walkers walking
"across” the land, and indicated particular routes from gate to stile and the like. He
said, in response from a question by the Inspector, that seeing dog walkers was

"very rare" and that he only ever saw "the odd person”.

373. A number of points emerge from the evidence. Most of the dog walking in
the area is not done on the Land, but in the woods and on paths and tracks. The
presence of livestock in the fields deters many people with dogs, and for others the
dogs are kept on a lead. Any walking which is done with dogs on the Land is across
the fields, and most of it is done as part of a larger walk, as described above.
There are a limited number of people who ever use the land for dog walking, and

the same small group of nhames and descriptions is given repeatedly.

374. Al the walking, with and without dogs, described in the Applicants’
evidence was walking in the nature of walking on a public right of way. Moreover,
it is apparent that the majority of it was on defined routes, on some of which paths
had apparently become worn. None of the walking was such as meandering all over
the Land, back and forth, and the like, which could qualify as a lawful sport and
pastime for the purposes of section 15 rather than something which would qualify
for a new public right of way. It does not matter that the walking has not been on
an established public right of way. As the January 2014 DEFRA guidance says,
highway-type use is to be separated out and discounted where "routes across or
around a claimed green have been used in a manner suggestive of the exercise of a
public right of way even though no such right has been formally established or even
claimed” (para 8.10.45).

97
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 155



375. As was explained in the Objector's Legal Submissions at paragraphs 12 to 15,
the result of this is that the claimed walking, with and without dogs, does not in
this case count as a lawful sport or pastime. It is not use which can count towards
satisfying the section 15 test. All this use must be discounted before the section 15
test is applied to the facts. Given how much of the claimed use falls into this
category, it is clear that, when this is done, so little claimed use is left that the

application must fail.

376. Neil Topping described in his evidence the games of football, rounders,
cricket and badminton which he knew had taken place on the Land. He said that
they were played by mates from Greyfield Common, other parts of High Littleton
and from outside the parish. He also said that they were only kickabout or
knockabout games and were played on the Land behind the houses in Greyfield
Common. He said that they were played in "fits and starts", depending on school
holidays and what sports events were. As to the "community events”, Mr. Topping
said that the games were played predominantly by Greyfield Common residents
and were on the eastern field. Rachel Tidcombe confirmed in XX that there had
only been two such events and that invitations only went to households in Greyfield

Common.

377. The evidence of ball games was confined to the north-eastern area of the
eastern field. There was no evidence of ball games on any other part of the
application site and the evidence was that even this use was limited, occasional

and sporadic.

378. This is perhaps not surprising when one considers the topography of the
Land, and the fact that grass was grown long on it for much of the relevant 20 year
period, especially during the summer. The prospects of being able to play a ball
game on the land, even a small kickabout game of football, were limited. Larger-
scale games, even if only played by a few people, such as cricket and rounders,
would barely have been possible on the Land. This reflects the evidence of the

actual use, as well as the absence of finds of lost balls.

98

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 156



379. Neil Topping accepted that being able to use kites depends on weather
conditions: it had to be windy but not too windy. He explained that the kite flying
was the same part of the eastern field as used for other activities, and was when
his children were of primary school age. The reality is that kite flying would always
have been confined to a few people, happening infrequently, occasionally and
sporadically, confined to one part of the land at any one time, and not lasting very

long.

380. Much of the use of the land described by the Applicants' witnesses (and in
the questionnaires) was highly seasonal. It would not have been carried on very
often and not for very long. This is important when considering what would have

been apparent to a reasonable landowner.

381. Snow-related uses - sledging, building snowmen, snowballing and the like -
could only ever happen when it snowed, as Mr. Collins accepted. The events
described by the witnesses were days when parents and children went out
together. This would only be at weekends or when schools were closed. It could
not happen on school days. Moreover, sledging could only be done when the snow

was quite fresh and also when there was a good covering of snow.

382. This combination of events would not happen very often. Mr. Collins said in
his experience it happened once a year on average and lasted for a couple of days -
but it had snowed in the years since he had lived in the area. He accepted that the
land only become a focal point for families in this way perhaps once in every five
years on average, and accepted that it would not happen at all in some years. Neil
Topping's evidence was similar. He said that when there were snowy days the fields
would be used by families, but that there were some winters when there had not
been any snowy days. Peter Kingwill's statutory declaration says that in the period
of time he was in High Littleton (1986-2010) it only snowed on perhaps half a

dozen occasions (para 10). This was confirmed in XIC by John Ledbury.

99

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 157



383. Neil Topping explained that there was a really steep hill a few fields away
where the older kids would go to sledge. On the application site, he said that the
younger children would use the western field. This was confirmed by Sarah

Wheeler, who said in XX that families and younger children would use the western

field, whilst older children used the eastern field.

384. It is clear from the Applicants’ evidence - as would be expected - that when
the land was used for sledging and the like it was used intensively and by multiple
groups of people but it would not have happened very often - only perhaps one in
every five years as Mr. Collins accepted -and only for a couple of days at a time. In
terms of the picture of use that would have been available to a reasonable

landowner, it would have contributed very little.

385. Moreover, use of sloping grass fields for sledging and the like when it snows
is not at all uncommon in the countryside. Some people appear only ever to have
claimed to have used the land in the snow. Even if it had been apparent to a
landowner, it would have given no indication at all that there was any different or
wider recreational use being made of the Land when there was no snow on the
ground. It was a very particular and limited sort of activity, as intense as it might

have been when it happened.

386. Fireworks were another seasonal use. The evidence of it was, however, very
limited. Jonny Moore said that the fireworks involving the Wheelers and the Maliks
had happened only once in the 20 year period, in 2012 (and not in 2010 or 20 11).
This had been done with permission from Mr. Candy. It would not therefore count

towards the use to be assessed under section 15 in any event.

387. The only other evidence of fireworks within the 20 year period was of the
two occasions claimed by Adrian Neech in 2008/2009. He explained that one was a

bonfire party and the other was a birthday party, and that on each occasion there

100
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 158



were about 10 friends and relations who visited, but all of whom lived outside the

red line area (and whose use would not therefore count towards registration).

388. The truth is that the use for fireworks has been virtually non-existent. That
is not surprising as Mr. Neech accepted that it was not compatible with the

agricultural use of the land which we know was happening as a matter of fact.

389. Adrian Neech described his fruit picking in XX. It was done at only two
locations, both at the edge of the field. He also confirmed that he would walk
around picking fruit and would then take it home to use. Leonard Sheen's evidence
was very similar. He identified only a few spots, all of which were on the
boundaries of the fields. He accepted also that it could only be done at certain
times of the year, when the fruit was in season. Mike Brewer’s use was also similar,

with him walking around the edges of the field to collect fruit to take home.

390. Not only does this not amount to a lawful sport or pastime, as explained in
paragraph 10 of the Objector's Legal Submissions, it was at most a peripheral use
which would do nothing to put a reasonable landowner on notice that the land was
being used for recreation. Fruit picking adds nothing in practice to the Applicants'

case.

391. Neil Topping described a typical picnic as being children out on the part of
the eastern field behind the houses, on a picnic mat, on a warm day, when they
were of primary school age. Emily Malik said that they had been into the main part
of the western field but it had not been a regular event and Nicky Green described

them as "the odd picnic”.

392. Itis clear that what is claimed in this case was not picnicking in the sense
of a proper meal with a hamper, picnic blanket and the like. It was much smaller

scale than that. It would in any event have been seasonal, infrequent, occasional,

101

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 159



sporadic, short- lived, confined to one small part of the land, and involving only a
handful of people. The claims of picnicking, even if taken at face value, add

nothing to the Applicants’ case.

393. Many of the users of the land have claimed to do things like enjoying the
view, photography and bird or nature watching. But it was clear from the evidence
that this use was not what it at first might have seemed. First, it was apparent that
much of it was done not on the Land at all but overlooking the Land. This would
not qualify under section 15 as it was not indulging in lawful sports and pastimes on

the Land. This use would have to be discounted.

394. Secondly, it was apparent that much was also done as part and parcel of
another activity, mainly walking. This would not therefore add anything to the
claimed use of the Land. They were not separate and additional activities which
would count towards the use of the land. As the walking does not count towards
use for the purposes of section 15, for the reasons already given, enjoying the view

whilst walking and the like would not count either.

395. Mr. Collins, for example, said that he did the other activities he claimed
when out walking and on the same visits he had described in his evidence. He
accepted as a generality that it was possible in one visit to the Land to walk,
photograph, pick fruit, watch nature and enjoy the view, and that ticking those
boxes on the questionnaire did not show that a person had undertaken one visit for
each activity. Mr. Brewer said that the two activities he had done on the land were
walking and fruit-picking, but accepted in XX that he had done both together -
picking fruit whilst walking.

396. This is an illustration of why the evidence from the questionnaires needs to
be treated with a very large degree of caution. The questionnaires simply do not
show what at face value they suggest. The questionnaire responses are misleading

in this sense.

102
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 160



397. Mr. Neech accepted in XX that things done whilst out walking - like
observing nature, children playing around, picking fruit, etc - would be secondary
things done when walking. These would not be separate, freestanding activities in
their own right. They would be referable to the walking use of the Land which

would not qualify as a lawful sport and pastime in the circumstances of this case.

398. In addition to the points made above by Mr. Collins, it was clear from the
evidence that nature-related use of the land was not a freestanding use which
could count towards registration. Even Emily Malik described in XX how her nature
club visits (only in the last 6 months of the 20 year period) would involve going in

one gate and coming out the other side on the way to or back from the woods.

399. Claimed use by children: It is apparent from the Applicants' evidence that
the claimed use of the application site by children is limited, both as to its

frequency and intensity and also as to where it took place.

400. First, as to location, Neil Topping said in XX that children would play
football on the north-eastern part of the eastern field when they were of primary
school age. This echoes the other evidence about use in this particular location and

not elsewhere on the application site.

401.  As to the age of children, Mr. Topping's view of the children as being of
primary school age is supported by the other evidence from the Applicants. When
speaking about the use of the BMX track, Chris Rylance said that there would be
"batches” of kids of similar ages in the area from time to time, and that groups
would come and go so that some years it was used and others not. The same thing
applies to younger children who it is said might use the application site. And it
makes sense. You do get "batches” of children of similar ages who stick together in

rural areas. They might use the Land when they were of primary school age, but

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 161

103



then outgrow it and stop using it, and it might then be some years until another

group of children reached the age to use the Land.

402. This fitted also with Mr. Sheen'’s evidence of playing with his own
grandchildren on the Land. He said that it depended on the time of year and
weather, and might be once every couple of months on average. He also said it was
during primary school age and that children tended to get distracted by other

things when they reached teen years.

403. This overall picture fits with what one would expect. Younger children tend
to get tired or bored quite quickly, and so would not be playing long games. If
children are out with their parents, as younger children must be, there is in
practice a limit to how long parents will play with children. Younger children also
tend to be keen on swings and play parks, which are found at Gores Park and the
recreation ground, not on the application site. There is in reality only a narrow gap
between the time when parents are first content to let children out on their own
(although usually not too far from home) and the time when children want to roam
further afield. The age range of children who could conceivably have wanted to
use the application site is the narrow band after first being allowed out on their
own but before they want to go slightly further afield to more interesting places,
such as the woods, the shops or the recreation ground. This perhaps explains why
there was some use of the north-eastern part of the eastern field, but why the use

was clearly limited.

404.  Evidence of use by the Bo Peep pre-school, provided by Jo Moore, is
limited. Jonny Moore said that he had never seen any school parties on the field. In
any event, the evidence shows that those who attend the pre-school come from
High Littleton and elsewhere, rather than just from the red line area. Indeed, the
pre-school is based in the Methodist church which is outside the red line. In these
days of risk assessment and insurance it is inherently unlikely that any such use was

significant. It would have been reckless in the extreme to have taken pre-school

104
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 162



aged children into a field which contained livestock. The claimed use is in any

event educational and would not therefore qualify as a sport or pastime.

405. When considering the evidence of use, it is of the utmost importance to
consider also how often claimed uses might have been occurring. This is a vital part
of considering what picture would have been presented to a reasonable landowner.
The evidence shows that the land was not used very often at all by most people.
Mr. Collins said that for both him and his wife they had visited the application site

six times a year.

406. The claimed use of the Land was not at all frequent even by those people
who provided evidence to the inquiry. When it is appreciated that the frequency of
use by many people giving evidence is so limited, the picture of use painted by the
Applicants' evidence is very different from how it might first appear. The truth is
that the Land was hardly ever used, even by the people who have been advanced

by the Applicants to give evidence of use.

407. This evidence is however consistent with what one would expect. Except
perhaps dog walking, people have a choice about whether or not to go out. If the
weather was poor, they would choose not to go out. People would generally not go
out for recreational purposes when it was wet, blustery or cold, for example. They
would tend only to go out in good weather. Some of the claimed activities - such as
picnics, ball games, playing, nature observation and the like - would only normally
be undertaken in good weather. It is also true that people can only go out for
recreational purposes when they have free time. Most people cannot go out during

working hours or during school time.

408. So, for recreational use you need both suitable weather and free time.
Apart from those who are retired, or parents with young children, this essentially
just means weekends and holidays (perhaps some summer evenings) and school
holidays are not that long. They tend to be, say, six weeks, during which time most
families are away for a fortnight, leaving only four weeks for children to need a

recreational outlet during the summer holidays.

105
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 163



409. Itis also the case that had there been significant recreational use it would
have left traces, such as grass trampled down or worn short in areas and lost balls.
Children also tend to leave at least some litter, such as drinks containers, crisp
packets, sweet wrappers, etc. These are very apparent in the BMX area, so
children here do drop litter when they use land for recreational purposes, as one
would expect. Also, if children were building dens on the Land, you would at least
expect to find remains and materials (sticks, sheeting, etc), if not the dens

themselves.

410. The farmer would have seen traces of recreational use if it was taking
place. The Objector's evidence is that such traces were very limited and very
rarely seen, and confined only to the north-eastern part of the eastern field. This
sits with the overall picture of the evidence, namely no recreational use of
virtually all the application site and only occasional and low level use of the north-
eastern part of the eastern field. This picture is also corroborated by the
Applicants’ evidence e.g. Mr. Neech said in XX that he had never seen any lost balls
in the two fields and had never seen any dens. This is because there hardly was any

recreational use of the Land.

411. As the witnesses confirmed in XX, when giving evidence they had identified
all that they could remember having seen done on the application site, over the
entire period they had known the Land, and for all the land. Although some
witnesses had known the Land only for a very short time, others had known it for
many years. The picture presented in the evidence is therefore a condensed or
concentrated picture of use which would tend to suggest a much more intense use
of the land than was ever the case. This evidence does need therefore to be
treated with considerable caution. The use needs to be greatly discounted to get
to a picture reflecting what would have been available to be seen by a reasonable

landowner.

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 164

106



412. There is another reason why the evidence has to be treated with caution
and discounted, namely because others could have seen the same things at around
same time. Someone undertaking an activity on the land would give evidence of
that, and then a number of people might give evidence of having seen that
activity. The evidence could be taken to give a picture of the activity happening on
a substantial number of occasions when in fact it was a one-off. This was accepted
by Mr. Collins, who also agreed that each person was not reporting unique events

and that the events cannot just be added up to give a total.

413. An example of this was the fireworks event (which was in any event by
permission). The evidence of fireworks in 2012 given by Sarah Wheeler, Jonny
Moore and Emily Malik all related to the same event. Similarly, although Neil
Topping had said in his questionnaire that he used the land "daily”, he said in oral
evidence that this was only during school holidays. Taking the questionnaire alone

would give a thoroughly misleading picture.

414. Related to this is the problem that the questionnaires tell you nothing about
the frequency of use. Mr. Collins agreed in XX that the questionnaires showed that
14 households had said they had had a picnic on the land and 11 households had
said that they had flown a kite on the land. These are low numbers anyway, and
show the low level of the use of the land but as Mr. Collins accepted, these could
have been done by each household only once during the entire 20 year period and

that the questionnaires tell you nothing about the frequency of use.

415. This is a critical consideration for judging what would have been apparent
to a reasonable landowner and whether the use was of a sufficient quantity and

quality to qualify to make the land a village green.

416. Other Recreational Space: Bridget Rylance confirmed in XX that the
woodland had been sold cheaply by the Objector to Woodland Trust in around 1997

and that it was then opened-up for recreation. She also accepted that there was a

107
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 165



PROW down and through woods before then, and that the woodland was very well
used for walking - with and without dogs. With young children, Jonny Moore
explained that they would also go into the woods, would play on the lane down to

the farm, would go to the park and would ride bikes in Greyfield Common.

417. It was clear from the Applicants ' evidence that the woodland was the main
recreational resource in this area. The fact that the woodland has been used tends
strongly to suggest that the application site has not been used for recreation. The

use would be only as essentially described in the Applicants' evidence, namely to

walk through the application site when going to or from the woods.

418. The recreation ground in High Littleton is properly laid out for recreation.
As would have been seen on the unaccompanied site visit, it has various facilities,
including a basketball net. Neil Topping knew the recreation ground and confirmed
that it was a flat, mown football pitch with goals, and a play area. He said that it
was used by children of an age to get there safely, but not younger children. It is
where older children would have gone. It is also where children would have gone to
play football, cricket, rounders and the like. Children of secondary school age

would have had no problem in crossing the road.

419. The availability of the recreation ground underscores what was in any event
apparent from the Applicants’ evidence: that the application site was not really
used for ball games, save for the occasional, small knockabout game in one

particular part of the site.

420. Neil Topping also knew of the BMX track just to the west of the lane and
said that it was where teenagers went. Bridge Rylance said that she knew that
children used it and that it had been established at some point during the 20 year
period. Leonard Sheen confirmed in XX that he did not take issue with Mr.
Sheppard's statement in relation to the BMX track. Neil Topping confirmed in XX
that the woodland had been opened-up for recreation by the time he arrived in

1999.

108
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 166



421. The BMX track is also on land owned by the Objector. The Objector's
evidence is that it became aware of the use quite quickly, not least because Robin
Candy reported it to them. The company then checked the position, informed its
insurers and took action, including by putting up signs. When use apparently re-
started in the summer of 2014, action was again taken and fresh signs were
erected, as explained by Alan Sheppard in his XIC (and as was seen on the site
visit). It is clear that when recreational use was made of its land, this was
recognised by the Objector and action was taken. As no use was ever recognised of
the application site, this is a strong indicator that no such use ever occurred to any
material extent. If it had, it would have been discovered and action would have
been taken. The company dealt decisively with any unauthorised recreational use
of its land. Had there been any such use of the application site it would have been

addressed.

422. Any use of the land that there was for properly qualifying lawful sports and
pastimes was very infrequent, occasional, sporadic, limited in scope and duration,
only by a handful of people who lived very close to the land, and confined to a
particular part of the land (the north-eastern part of the eastern field). Even the
(non-qualifying) use for walking, with and without dogs, was limited in frequency
and amount. And the evidence shows that use did not occur at all during significant
periods of time - not just during strip grazing or the foot-and-mouth outbreak, but
when any livestock was in the home fields (especially cattle). It is notable that the
great majority of the Applicants’ witnesses only moved to the area after Robin
Candy had sold his cattle.

423. The statutory declarations provided by Robin and Christine Candy must be
given very substantial weight in the circumstances. Christine Candy was clear in
her declaration of May 2014 that, "apart from occasional walkers", she never saw
any evidence of use of the fields by members of the public. Robin Candy was also
clear in his declaration of May 2014 that at no time had he ever seen any evidence
of recreational use of the land. Given that they would have seen such evidence if it

existed, it can clearly be concluded that there was no such use to any material

109
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 167



extent. All that Robin Candy saw was, on very rare occasions, people walking

directly through the field, from one access point to another, some with dogs.

424. The evidence in the statutory declarations from the Candys is also
supported by detailed statements from others. As well as those who gave oral
evidence at the inquiry, there are statutory declarations from Henry and Margaret
Wareham and from Norman and Brian Clothier. This evidence all paints a detailed
and consistent picture. There can be no doubt that the evidence is true and

complete.

425. There is also evidence from people who regularly visited the farm during
the relevant 20 year period and would also have gone into the fields from time to
time. This includes Christopher Cawood (vet), Raymond Langley (agricultural
contractor), Richard Memory (tractor driver) and Michael Sheppard (vet). They
would also have been able to see the fields when they were passing along Greyfield
Road and the track to the farm, especially from the cab of a tractor. This evidence
is clear that recreational use of the land has not been witnessed and indeed would
not have been allowed by Mr. Candy. On the very, very rare occasions when any
trace has been identified, such as the football found by Richard Memory, it has

been confined to the north-eastern part of the eastern field.

426. And there is evidence from local residents themselves, such as Robert Ladd
and Karen Corrigan, who would have known if the land was being used for
recreation but who say that in their experience it was not. This evidence, which is
contrary to their interests as local residents given the stance adopted by the
Applicants and their supporters, should be given considerable weight. They
recognise that they have occasionally seen people walking dogs through the field,

but are clear that they have not seen any other use, save farming.

110
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 168



427. Alastair Martin explained in XX that when he visited the farm Mr. Candy
would normally show him some land out on the farm and that he was able to get a

good general impression of the application site from his annual visits to the farm.

428. John Ledbury explained in XIC that at least three other local residents had
agreed to provide helpful statements for the Objector but had in the event

declined to put their heads above the parapet.

429. The limited use of the Land in recent years is confirmed by the evidence
from numerous people who have provided statutory declarations, including Kevin
Bird, John Ledbury, Anthony Smith and Laura Wilkinson. It is of course accepted
that this evidence reflects only snapshots of the Land, and some of it outside the
relevant 20 year period, but there are numerous snapshots taken at times when
any recreational use of the Land would have been apparent: in good weather, at
weekends or during school holiday periods, at different times of the day, with no
livestock present, and the like. And these are people who went to the land to look
at it and who would have noticed if the land was being used to any significant

extent by local residents for recreation.

430. John Ledbury explained the extent to which he had personally observed the
Application Land over the years, and said that he had seen nothing which had
caused him to query what was happening. This is a pretty good indicator that if the
objective reasonable landowner had visited the Application Land he would have
seen nothing to put him on notice of recreational use of the land by the general
community of local residents. Given the evidence, this is not surprising. There was

in reality very little use of the Land.

431. The evidence produced by the Objector, including that given orally at the
inquiry, clearly shows that there has not been any significant recreational use of
the home fields during the relevant 20 year period. This is entirely consistent with

the Applicants' evidence, which shows that such use, even taken at its highest, was

111
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 169



limited, occasional and sporadic. The use has been nowhere near enough use, or
use of such a character, reasonably to be regarded as the assertion of a public right
against the Objector. The character, degree and frequency falls far short of what

is required to establish a right to use the land on behalf of the community.

432. It could not rationally be concluded that there has been sufficient
qualifying use to meet the relevant legal tests, as set out in the Objector's Legal

Submissions at paragraphs 30 to 37.

433. The development of the area is shown by the historic OS maps provided by
Alan Sheppard. The following descriptions of the plans were all agreed by Mr.
Collins in XX. Plan 1 (1904) shows the colliery and brickworks with no place name -
only the colliery. Indeed, even today, the post box says "Greyfield Colliery" not
Greyfield. There are four sets of terraced cottages shown on the plan, and then at
the village end of the road there is Oak Dene. Greyfield Wood is also marked. Plan
2 (1932) shows the colliery and brickworks as disused. The only new house is
Woodlea. Plan 3 (c 1960) shows a couple of houses built on the old colliery site but
no other new houses there. The development fronting Scumbrum Lane has been
undertaken. Mendip View is present; that is included in the Applicants’ red line
area but not the other houses next to it. Plan 4 (1975) shows the transport depot
and a few more houses nearby (eg up the Gug). There are a large number of houses
built at eastern end of Greyfield Road - at the High Littleton end of the road. The
road is being developed from High Littleton end of the road. Scobell Rise and
Westwood Avenue were built at around same time. And houses were built in the
grounds of Oak Dene. Plan 5 (1984) and Plan 6 (1987) show no real change apparent
in the housing. Moreover, although Mr. Collins said he did not know about the
history of Greyfield Common, Plan 7 (1990) shows the first part of Greyfield
Common being developed, with the houses fronting the road built first, and then

construction extending into the cul de sac. Nothing else had changed on Plan 7.

434. Mr. Collins did accept that the 1996 aerial photo in AS9 showed that the end
of Greyfield Common had not then been built, but that Woodlea Bottom had been

112
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 170



built by 1996. And the 1999 aerial photo showed that 8 houses had been built at
Greyfield Common by 1999. Willow House, next to Woodlea Bottom, was not there
in 1999 but was there in 2006. Mr. Collins also said that Gores Park was built in
1996. Mr. Collins accepted that, within the 20 year period, the second half of
Greyfield Common had been built, Gores Park had been built, and a number of new
houses backing on to the fields had been built (four at Greyfield Common; Willow
House; Wood lea Bottom. This totals some 72 houses out of 144 in the red line area

today. This is a very radical change by any measure.

435.  Mr. Collins said in his XIC both that the neighbourhood had changed and also
that there had been "step changes in use” with the construction of Gores Park and
then Greyfield Common. The phrase he used in his XIC was that there had been "a
large expansion in the neighbourhood”. The table produced by Mr. Collins at the
inquiry on 17 June 2014 shows that "the neighbourhood has doubled in size

between 1993 and the time of the application”.

436. As was explained in opening, the fact that the claimed neighbourhood has
changed so radically during the relevant 20 year period means that it cannot
qualify as a neighbourhood for the purposes of section 15. It cannot sensibly be
said that it was the same neighbourhood throughout the period when it changed so
radically. There has not been 20 years use by residents of the claimed
neighbourhood, because it was in essence not the same neighbourhood throughout.

The place in 2013 is very different from how it was in 1993.

437. As Mr. Collins accepted in XX, the red line area excludes Greyfield Wood,
Greyfield Farm and Greyfield House. He gave no explanation for the rationale
underlying this. If there is a place called Greyfield (and there is not) then the area
identified by the Applicants is not it. The evidence shows, however, that there is
no "place” called Greyfield. There are things with that name, eg the road, the
wood, the farm, etc. But there is no place called Greyfield which could be a

neighbourhood.

113
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 171



438. The evidence advanced by the Applicants in support of there being a place
called Greyfield does not in fact show that. As Mr.. Collins accepted,the postman's
letter does not describe the area as Greyfield; indeed, he calls it an area of High
Littleton. And Mr. Collins said that the very great majority of people do not include
Greyfield as part of their postal address. The newsagent means "Greyfield" as a
road not a place (Mr. Collins said he was not sure about this, but a lack of clarity
alone is telling). The parish records from 1925/ 1930 are referring to roads not
places. There is, as Mr. Collins accepted, no place called Scumbrum, so the
references in the records must be to roads not places. And the circular walk leaflet
refers to Greyfield Wood and not Greyfield, and indeed does not mention Greyfield

as a place or location on the walk description.

439. The red line area does not make any sense. It includes Mendip View but not
the other houses next to it. It includes Westwood Avenue but not Scobell Rise
which was built at the same time. There is a gate in the lane down to Maynard
Terrace at Biggs Yard, but for no apparent reason land beyond the gate is included
in the red line area, so that the boundary goes beyond gate and stops in the middle

of the lane.

440. The red line area includes the application site but they are the only fields
included in the red line area. No other fields at all are included in the red line area
and the red line area excludes about half of the farm’s land. It is perhaps telling
that Mr. Collins did not know that the red line area cut the farm's land in half. As
Mr. Collins accepted, the red line area also includes parts of two parishes, so that
for example Greyfield Wood Farm is in Clutton parish. The red line area did not
include the wooded area to the east of the application site which had been used
for the BMX track. All these are more than mere quibbles about where the red line
has been drawn. They demonstrate that it is impossible to identify a coherent

neighbourhood in this location. That is because there is not one.

441. As far as neighbourhood facilities are concerned, Mr. Collins accepted that

all the facilities were in High Littleton. He accepted that Dando’s Stores was not in

114
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 172



the red line area (despite what some of the evidence claimed). He also accepted
that the red line area excludes the pub, chip shop, post office, hairdresser, garage,
church, chapel and school. All the facilities are beyond one end of Greyfield Road,
in High Littleton. Although facilities are not an essential requirement for a
neighbourhood under section 15 the presence or absence of facilities is a relevant
factor of significant weight. The lack of such facilities is a fairly strong indicator
that the area is not a neighbourhood. Another indicator is the Neighbourhood
Watch (NHW) position, explained by Rachel Tidcombe in her evidence. She said
that there was one NHW for Greyfield Common and one NHW for part of Greyfield

Road. Again this indicates that the red line area is not one neighbourhood.

442. To the extent that there is any objective justification for the red line area
qualifying as a neighbourhood advanced by the Applicants, it is on the basis that it
is a separate area, with only one access into the area via Greyfield Road. Even if
that was true that would not be enough to qualify as a neighbourhood under
section 15 of the 2006 Act. It would mean that any dead-end area - such as a close,
cul de sac or dead-end lane - would qualify as a neighbourhood. That is plainly

wrong and not what the 2006 Act intends.

443, At all events, the alleged separation simply does not exist in fact. It rests
on the fallacy that The Gug cannot be used to get access to or from the red line
area. That is plainly wrong. The Gug is marked on the OS map as a yellow road,
just like Greyfield Road and Scumbrum Lane. As a matter of fact it is not a dead-
end road. Mr. Collins accepted in XX that traffic can get through either way, that
there are no restrictions, that the road is open for anyone to use and that it is used
by traffic. Indeed, he conceded that he could not say that no one used the road
and also that he was not contending that everyone accessed the red line area via

the High Street junction.

444. David Fenton also accepted that the road was open for anyone to use and
was used by traffic, especially people going to and from Gores Park for example in

the morning peak time. And Paul Allen said that he drives along The Gug, noting

115
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 173



that part of the road was washed away in the last winter floods. The evidence from
John Ledbury of the use of The Gug during the morning peak period on two dates in
June and October 2014 shows that it is in fact well used, both by local traffic and

by visiting traffic, including commercial traffic.

445, In the light of Mr. Collins's oral evidence to the inquiry, the Applicants' case
for the red line area being a neighbourhood cannot survive. It was clear that this
idea of separation by reason of the area having only one access point was a device

to try to create a defined area to qualify as a neighbourhood. It was bound to fail.

446. The character of the area within the red line: The following description of
the character of the area was all agreed with Mr. Collins in XX. The Gug contains
some old colliery buildings converted to houses as well as some houses which were
built as houses; it contains a range of different ages, types and styles. Gores Park
is @ modem housing estate with houses very different from, for example, The Gug
or elsewhere in the red line area. Westwood Avenue and Scobell Rise were built at
around same time. Westwood Avenue is comprised of bungalows and looks very

different from other places within red line area.

447. Greyfield Road itself contains small numbers of similar types of houses,
including a number of individual houses built separately and terraces of cottages
from the colliery days. The road has a mix of house ages, types and styles. It is
indeed generally all different throughout. Some is frontage development and some
is backland development. Mr. Collins himself said in XX that the road had many

different styles of houses.

448. David Fenton’s evidence, as a professional planner, was that the housing
along Greyfield Road has no consistent building line; some houses are set forward
and some are set well back into their plots; the houses along Greyfield Road are
built in a range of styles; some are single storey, some chalet style and some two

storey; they include detached, semi-detached and terraced houses; there is no

116
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 174



prevailing style or form; and, there is no prevailing form in spacing between
houses. Mr. Fenton also said that some areas were very similar - Gores Park,
Greyfield Common and Westwood Avenue - but that there was a "very, very mixed
style of properties on Greyfield Road". It is clear on this evidence that the red line

area cannot be a single cohesive whole in terms of its character.

449. Greyfield Common is a modern housing estate, with some houses fronting
the road and some down the cul de sac. It was built in two parts, and each part has
a different style. The housing is of different styles from other parts of red line
area. Mr. Collins said himself in XX that there was a wide variety of styles of houses

in the claimed neighbourhood.

450. In RX, Mr. Fenton referred to there being a sense of community, but he said
that it was centred on the application site and Greyfield Woods. This would not be
enough to qualify as a neighbourhood for the purposes of section 15. First, a "sense
of community” is not the same as a sufficiently cohesive and distinctive area which
is capable of meaningful description. This is similar to the "state of mind" referred
to by Mark Collins in his evidence. Secondly, use of the application site cannot be a
characteristic which defines a neighbourhood for section 15 purposes. That would
be the application pulling itself up by its own boot straps. Thirdly, Greyfield Woods
is outside the claimed neighbourhood and cannot therefore be a point which
supports its existence. Mr. Fenton’s evidence merely serves further to highlight
that the claimed neighbourhood is not a neighbourhood for the purposes of section
15.

451. Historically, Greyfield as a label on the map arose not as the name of a

place but the name of the colliery. The post box today retains the name "Greyfield
Colliery”. The position remains that there are still just labels on the map. After the
colliery closed, the 1932 map shows the name on map left to apply to the four sets
of terraced cottages. Then, during the 1970s, as Mr. Collins accepted, the road was

developed from the High Littleton end of the road. The housing that was built then

117
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 175



and subsequently shows the area clearly being built-up as an extension of High

Littleton rather than as a freestanding settlement or area in its own right.

a. In XX Mr. Collins refused to accept that he could not rely on the application
site or its claimed use to justify the existence of a neighbourhood. This is a well-
established point, but the Applicants’ reliance upon it shows how misconceived
their case on neighbourhood is. Even though the Applicants rely on it, it is not a
point which can properly be taken into account in judging whether section 15 is
satisfied in this case. Mr. Collins said in XX that the red line showed the area where
they felt the neighbourhood was. That is not good enough. Section 15 requires a
neighbourhood to be based on more than a feeling on the part of the Applicants. A
neighbourhood cannot be an area of land that an applicant has chosen to delineate
on a plan. It cannot just be the area within which people who claim to use the
Land live. The Applicants' claimed neighbourhood does not have a sufficient degree

of cohesiveness and is not capable of meaningful description.

452. None of the requirements of section 15 of the 2006 Act are satisfied in this
case. There are a number of points any one of which would be fatal to the
application, including the interruption to continuous use during the foot-and-mouth
outbreak, the interruption s to continuous use when the fields were subject to
fencing for strip grazing and hay growing, the lack of use when the land was
intensively farmed by Mr. Candy with cattle (and indeed other times when
livestock were present in the fields) and the absence of a qualifying

neighbourhood.

453. As to use, there are a number of elements of the claimed use which must
be discounted, so that there would be virtually no claimed use left, including the
walking, with and without dogs, and related activities, which do not qualify as
lawful sports or pastimes in the circumstances of this case. There has been
contentious use due to challenges during Mr. Candy's period of farming with cattle,
forcible use where users climbed over fences, hurdles or the like to gain access to
the land and stealthy use made by people who accessed the Land from gates in

their boundaries.

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 176

118



454. There has been (limited) permissive use of the land allowed by Mr.. Candy
and use by people who live outside the red line area plus use for activities which
do not qualify as lawful sports or pastimes under section 15 (e.g. educational

activities and fruit-picking and claimed use consisting in looking out over the Land.

455. The legal tests for a sufficient quality and quantity of use are set out in the
Objector's Legal Submissions. There is absolutely no hope whatsoever that those
tests would be satisfied in this case, even if none of the claimed use was
discounted. It could not rationally be concluded in this case that the whole of the
Land had been used so as to signify to a landowner that the land was in more
general use by the local community for informal recreation to an extent sufficient

to be regarded as the assertion of a public right.

456. Moreover, this is a case where the claimed recreational use could not
sensibly coexist at all with the undisputed intense agricultural use of the

application land. No land like this has ever been registered as a new village green.

For any or all of the reasons given in the Objector's submissions, this

application is bound to fail. It must be rejected.

Discussion and Conclusions

The Application was made under subsection (2) of the Commons Act 2006.

That subsection applies where:

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.”

459. The details of the Application have been set out by me in paragraphs 10 to
15 above. It was dated 17 July 2013 and was registered on 17 July 2013. The
relevant 20 year period therefore covers the period from July 1993 to July 2013.
The Applicants accepted (as they must) that the burden of proof rests with them.
The courts have long accepted that registration is “no trivial matter” for the land
owner and therefore it is essential that the Applicant establishes all the elements

required to justify registration and that these must be “properly and strictly
119

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 177



proved” — see R v Sunderland City Council ex parte Beresford [2004] 1 AC 889 per
Lord Bingham at para 2. In my view this means that the Applicants must satisfy the
usual civil standard of proof, namely the balance of probabilities, in relation to

each and every element.

460. Thus they must demonstrate with sufficient evidence that:

462.

(1) a significant number of the inhabitants of the locality or a neighbourhood
within a locality;

(2) have indulged as of right;

(3) in lawful sports and pastimes on the Land;

(4) for at least 20 years and

(5) have continued to do so as at 17 July 2013.

461. | shall examine each of these elements in what appears to me to be the
most logical order in the circumstances of the Application and make findings in
relation to each element before coming to a final conclusion and recommendation.
However as will be seen there is a considerable degree of interplay between the

various elements.

“Locality” or “neighbourhood with a locality”

The Application was framed originally on the basis that the neighbourhood
was “Greyfield”. Mr. Collins, Mr. Moore and Mr. Fenton in their evidence explained
the rationale behind the choice of Greyfield as the relevant neighbourhood. Mr.
Collins described it as a recognized, distinct and cohesive community of
approximately 331 residents and provided evidence regarding its physical extent
and its history.

The Applicants pointed out that in the Objector’s letter of 9 September
2013 at paragraph 3.2 stated: “The Owners do not at present disagree that the
residents of Greyfield Road, Greyfield Common, Westwood Ave, Up the Gug, the
various houses now on the former Colliery Site and Gores Park constitute a

neighbourhood.” | note that, as expressed in that letter, the Objectors could be

120

Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 178



taken as having only provisionally accepted that Greyfield constituted a

neighbourhood for the purposes of section 15(2).

In paragraphs 12 to 16 of the Applicants’ Closing Statement the Applicants
highlighted the basis of their argument that Greyfield constituted a qualifying
neighbourhood. In contrast, in paragraphs 199 to 232 of the Objector’s Closing
Submissions detailed reasoning was provided for the argument that the claimed
neighbourhood could not qualify as a neighbourhood. There was also reference
back to paragraphs 19 — 29 of the Objector’s legal submissions and paragraphs 24-
26 of the Objector’s opening statement. Whilst this position is different from that
set out in the letter of objection of 9 September 2013 it is in my view entirely
reasonable for the Objector to have altered its view and to now assert that
Greyfield does not constitute qualifying neighbourhood for the purposes of TVG
registration. | do not believe that the Applicants have been prejudiced by this
because the Objector’s position was clear from the line of cross examination of the
Applicants’ witnesses that the issue of qualifying neighbourhood was being

challenged by the Objector.

One of the principal arguments of the Objector was that the claimed
neighbourhood had changed radically during the relevant 20 years period.
Furthermore it was questioned whether there was any recognizable place as
“Greyfield” and it was submitted that the red line area made no sense and that the
character of the area within it was such that it could not be considered to have a
single cohesive character. Other criticism included the separation of the

neighbourhood from the remainder of High Littleton

In the case of R (on the application of Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire
County Council, the High Court endorsed the view that the question of what was
the relevant locality (or neighbourhood within a locality) was a matter of fact for
the Registration Authority to determine in the light of all the evidence, which
might contain a number of conflicting views on the topic. Subject to considerations
of fairness towards the Applicants and supporters and the Objector, the
Registration Authority should be able to decide that question in the light of all the
evidence, whether or not the answer corresponded with the locality (or

neighbourhood) put forward by the Applicant.
121

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 179



In my view on the issue of the neighbourhood the Objector has raised a
number of significant points. Nevertheless, on this element of the statutory test,
the evidence that | heard together with my own inspection of the area has caused
me to conclude that the approach of the Applicants is to be preferred. There is to
my mind a clear separation between this neighbourhood and the remainder of High
Littleton. The main road does represent a clear boundary: it is a main road and
acts as a deterrent to residents crossing it to use the more formal play and
recreation area in the main part of High Littleton. Whilst there is a lack of
facilities such as shops and schools there is a clear element of cohesion. | do not
place much weight on the mixed character of the area. A mixture of building sizes,
designs and ages in not unusual. There is a clear historical background, centered
originally on Greyfield Colliery, to the area and the name Greyfield does feature in
a number of differing guises. Furthermore | place considerable weight on the
observation of Mr. Fenton, a retired planning inspector, who will from experience

be well placed to assess the character of the area.

| acknowledge the force in the argument regarding the development that
has taken place in the neighbourhood during the relevant 20 year period. However
my impression is that during that period the essential characteristics of the
neighbourhood did not change to any significant extent. However the resultant
growth in the local population during that period is relevant but that it is more
appropriately considered in the context of consideration of the nature and level of

use of the Land.
| therefore find that on the question of whether or not the Application
relates to a neighbourhood for the purpose of section 15(2) | am satisfied that the

Applicants have established this element of the statutory test and so conclude.

Significant number of inhabitants

470. In the light of my finding and conclusion above it is necessary to consider

whether for the purposes of section 15(2) “a significant number of the inhabitants”
of the neighbourhood have indulged in lawful sports and pastimes on the Land. In R
(Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76

122

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 180



Sullivan J held that “what matters is that the number of people using the land in
question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is
in general use by the local community for informal recreation, rather than
occasional use by individuals as trespassers.” The court did not accept that the
expression was synonymous with a considerable, or a substantial, number because
a neighbourhood might have a very limited population, and a significant number of
its inhabitants might not be capable of being described as considerable or
substantial. This implies that what constitutes a “significant number” is relative to
the size of the population of the relevant locality or neighbourhood. Whether the
evidence shows that a significant number of inhabitants used the land in question
is, according to paragraph 71 of the judgment of Sullivan J, a matter of impression.
The key question is whether the number of inhabitants using the land was
sufficient to signify that it was in general use by the local community (i.e. the
inhabitants of the relevant locality or neighbourhood) for informal recreation,
rather than occasional use by individual trespassers. It is also important that, in
addressing this key question, to examine this aspect throughout the entire relevant
20 year period rather than in the immediate years leading up to the submission of
the Application. In an area such as Greyfield, where there has been some
significant expansion in more recent years in terms of new homes and incoming
residents, the more recent level of activity may not properly reflect the nature and

level of use throughout the period.

471. The Applicants have invited me to conclude that this element has also been
satisfied. As Mr. Collins indicated, 36% of persons residing in the neighbourhood at
the time of the Application have provided evidence of usage and that this equates
to 118 which is a clearly significant number. It was noted by the Applicants that
the Objector argued that some usage should not count towards village green use.
The Applicants did not agree and that even if all the usage with permission and
those having access via their garden gates was discounted this would still produce a

figure of some 82 residents (25%) and that this was still a significant number.

472. The Objector’s position was set in detail in the Closing Submissions. The
Objector has taken a different approach to that of the Applicant. In my view the
Applicants’ approach to this element of the statutory test relies too heavily on a

numerical assessment of the evidence of use whereas the Objector’s approach also

123
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 181



adopts a qualitative assessment i.e. not just the number of residents who claim to
have used the Land but also the nature, duration and manner of their use. Bearing
in mind that the key question is whether the number of inhabitants using the Land
was sufficient to signify that it was in general use by the local community (i.e. the
inhabitants of the relevant locality or neighbourhood) for informal recreation,

rather than occasional use by individual trespassers, the Objector’s approach is the

correct one to adopt.

473. | gained a very strong impression from both the oral and written evidence
that there has been some use of the Land by local residents. It is clear from
photographs, for example, that some activities were carried out on the Land. | also
gained the impression that Mr. Candy was aware of some of this use and that he
was prepared to tolerate it, possibly out of a spirit of good neighbourliness.
However, the evidence clearly pointed to Mr. Candy being both a responsible and
traditional farmer who placed the well-being of his livestock as a paramount
consideration. In my view Mr. Candy was prepared to tolerate some use of his Land
but that this was at a low level of activity and of such a nature and frequency that
it did not conflict with his farming activities. In other words a de minimis level of
use was tolerated by him but had the level of use increased beyond that he would,
and did, challenge that use. It is also important to bear in mind that some
residents have access to the land from gates in their fences or hedges and that
some went on to the Land for the purpose of maintaining their fences or hedges
(which, in some cases, was a requirement of their title deeds) or to retrieve balls
etc. that had strayed on to the Land. Thus it may not have come as any surprise to
Mr. Candy that at times people could be seen on the Land, especially in the area

closest to Greyfield Common.

474. Further, it is clear from the evidence that the level of use of the Land was
adversely affected by the various farming activities being carried out throughout
the 20 year period. Whilst | accept that some people did gain access onto the Land,
the presence of dairy then beef cattle and more recently sheep, together with the
strip grazing, hay cropping and muck spreading will have acted as a significant
impediment to any meaningful use of the Land by a significant number of local
inhabitants. The evidence clearly showed that the land was in active use by Mr.

Candy as a vital part of his farming operation and that it was in constant use

124
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 182



throughout the relevant period. Whilst the evidence pointed towards the level of
use increasing in more recent years as cattle gave way to sheep and the population
of the area increased, that does not in my opinion alter the position. In short, the
evidence showed that on a the balance of probability the level of use was such that
it could not be said that throughout the 20 year period a significant number of
local inhabitants used the Land to such an extent to support the Application. The

Application must be rejected on this basis.

Lawful sports and pastimes on the land

475. It is beyond dispute that some activities carried out on the Land must be
discounted by me. Access to the Land for the purposes of maintaining fences and
hedges and retrieving stray balls etc. are legitimate reasons for people being on
the Land an cannot count for TVG purposes. Equally those accessing the Land as
part of a longer walking route that took them beyond the Land must also be
discounted. It is irrelevant that there is no right of way across the Land such use
can only be taken into account for the purpose of acquiring public rights of way. It
is clear from the evidence that a significant amount of usage must be discounted

on that basis.

476. | heard and received evidence of some activities that were carried out on
the Land. Photographs clearly supported snow related activities but, by their very
nature, these were weather dependent and could only have taken place on those
days when there had been sufficient snow on the Land. Thus this use, whilst
undoubtedly a lawful pastime, was too sporadic and irregular to support TVG
registration on its own. Similarly activities such as fireworks, picnics and kite flying
were undertaken on a very sporadic basis and were certainly not a regular feature
of the Land’s use by local inhabitants throughout the 20 year period. Equally fruit
picking is a seasonal but transient activity. Whilst these are also lawful pastimes
they were not carried out any regular basis and by a significant number of

inhabitants sufficient to support an application of TVG rights.

477. Whilst the evidence showed that some use of parts of the Land was greater
than others - particularly in the north-east corner of the eastern field on the Land -
the level, nature and duration of that use was still insufficient to justify registering
a smaller area of the Land than that applied for.
125
Bath & North East Somerset Council

In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 183



478. There was one other aspect to this element that is problematic. It was
impossible to say that all of these activities, when undertaken, were done so by
local inhabitants (by which | mean those living within the red line area) as opposed
to visiting friends or family or even strangers. Thus it cannot be said that on the
balance of probability the Applicants have demonstrated that there was a
sufficient level of use for lawful sports and pastimes by local inhabitants. This is in

my view a further reason for rejecting the application.
Use for 20 years

479. The evidence was clear that the use of the Land in 2001 during the foot and
mouth disease outbreak ceased. This was not seriously questioned by anyone at the
inquiry and it would have been totally out of character for Mr. Candy to have
allowed any access to the Land during that period. | was also impressed by the
genuine desire on the part of the Applicants and those they represent to ensure
that at all times any use of the land for whatever purpose was done in accordance
with the terms of the Countryside Code. It is therefore beyond dispute the use of
the Land for the purpose of TVG registration ceased for a lengthy period such that

it would prevent TVG registration.

480. The only question that therefore needs addressing is whether the Applicants
can rely upon the provision in section 15(6) whereby any period of statutory closure
of the Land must be left out of account. The evidence on this was clear and beyond
dispute. There was no statutory closure of the Land. Mercifully this part of the
country remained disease free. The local inhabitants, out of natural concern for
the well-being of livestock (and no doubt out of respect to Mr. Candy), voluntarily
ceased using the Land for the duration of this lengthy crisis. Unfortunately for the
purposes of this Application this well intentioned action on the part of the local
inhabitants means that the Applicants cannot demonstrate that they used the Land
for TVG purposes throughout the entire 20 year period and therefore as a matter of

law the Application must be rejected on this basis alone.
As of right

481. As a consequence of my findings and recommendations above it is not
necessary for me to determine the question of whether or not there has been use

“as of right”.

126
Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 184



Recommendation

482. It is my firm view that the Application should be rejected for the following

reasons:

(1) The Applicants have not been able to demonstrate, in terms of numbers of
users and the nature and type of use, that on the balance of probability there
has been general use for TVG purposes by a significant number of inhabitants of

the neighbourhood; and

(2) Use of the Land ceased during the foot and mouth outbreak for a significant
period and the Land was not subject to any statutory closure. Therefore the
Applicants have been unable to demonstrate use throughout the relevant 20

year period.

483. Either of the above reasons would have been sufficient to justify rejection
of the Application. Taken together, they represent insurmountable obstacles to

registration.

484. Finally | would like to record my thanks for the invaluable assistance
provided to me by Mr. Stark and for his efficient and thorough handling of the
Application and throughout the inquiry.

MARTIN EDWARDS
Cornerstone Barristers
2-3 Grays Inn Square
London WC1R 5JH

8 April 2015

Bath & North East Somerset Council
In the matter of an application to register land at Robin Candy’s Fields, High Littleton as a town or village green
Inspector’s Report

Page 185

127



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 186



Appendix 6

c/o Mendip Ho!
Greyfield Road
High Littleton
BRISTOL

BS39

28" May 2015
Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer
Bath and North East Somerset Council
Riverside
Temple Street
Keynsham
BA31 1LA

Dear Mr Stark

Application Reference- TVG13/2 (Town & Village Green Application for the land known as “Robin
Candy’s Fields”)

| refer to your email dated Monday, 20 April 2015.
As applicants acting on behalf of our Neighbourhood, we would like to express our sincere
disappointment that the Inspector has not made a recommendation to register the afore mentioned

fields as a Town / Village Green.

As you have heard throughout the application, the fields are invaluable to our local community, are
beautiful in nature, vista & history and continue to be cherished by those that know and use them.

We sincerely hope that Authority's Regulatory (Access) Committee will take this into account whilst
considering whether the Land should be registered as a Town or Village Green.

We would also like thank you for your considered assistance throughout our Application.

Yours sincerely

Mark Collins, Jane Neech, Leonard Sheen and Rachel Tidcombe
(On behalf of the neighbourhood of Greyfield)

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 188



Appendix 7

Application for the registration of land as a new town or village green
Of land described as Robin Candy’s Fields
Under s15 of the Commons Act 2006

Objection by J E Sheppard & Sons (Sawmills)

OBJECTOR’S COMMENTS
ON INSPECTOR’S REPORT

1. These comments are provided on behalf of the objecting landowner in accordance

with the email from Graeme Stark dated 20 April 2015.

2. The landowner supports the recommendation of the Inspector in his report dated
8 April 2015 (“IR”), together with the conclusion that the application faces

“insurmountable obstacles to registration”.

3. Whilst in IR482 the position is summarised as providing two reasons to reject the
application, it is apparent from the body of the report that the first reason in fact
contains two distinct points. There are therefore, on the Inspector’s findings, three
freestanding reasons why the application must be refused. The Inspector is clear that

there are three separate bases for rejecting the application (IR474, 478, 480).

4. These three reasons reflect the three points noted at IR460 (1), (3) and (4). They

WEre:

(a) the level of use was such that it could not be said that throughout the 20 year

period a significant number of local inhabitants used the land (IR474);

1
Page 189



(b) the Applicants have not demonstrated that there was a sufficient level of use for

lawful sports and pastimes by local inhabitants (IR478);

(c) any use of the land ceased for a lengthy period sufficient to prevent registration,
so the Applicants cannot demonstrate use throughout the entire 20 year period

(IR479-480).

5. In light of his conclusions, the Inspector did not feel it necessary to reach a conclusion
on the point in IR 460(2), namely whether such use as was made of the land was as of
right (IR481). The landowner took a number of points relating to as of right use, as

summarised in paragraph 233 of its closing submissions dated 23 October 2014:'

a. contentious use due to challenges during Mr Candy’s period of farming with

cattle;

b. forcible use where users climbed over fences, hurdles or the like to gain access

to the land;

c. the stealthy use made by people who accessed the land from gates in their

boundaries;
d. the (limited) permissive use of the land allowed by Mr Candy.

6. The evidential and legal basis for these objections is set out in the landowner’s closing
submissions.” In his report, the Inspector clearly found some facts to be as the
landowner contended (IR474). The Inspector found in particular that Mr Candy did
challenge recreational use of the land (IR473). Otherwise, the landowner’s

submissions were not addressed by the Inspector.

7. The landowner maintains that these points, and in particular the contentious use due to

challenges during Mr Candy’s period of farming with cattle, are correct and would be

' See also the landowner’s legal submissions dated 3 June 2014 at paras 4-9 and the landowner’s opening
statement dated 17 June 2014 at paras 4-6.
? See eg the landowner’s closing submissions dated 23 October 2014 at paras 67-68, 106, 114 and 153.

2
Page 190



enough by themselves to provide a further freestanding reason to reject the

application.

8. In addition, the Inspector did not reach a conclusion on the landowner’s submission
that the interruptions to continuous use when the fields were subject to strip grazing
and hay growing were enough on their own to be fatal to the application.” Whilst the
Inspector plainly accepted that this strip grazing and hay cropping did occur, and did
interfere with the use of the land (IR474), the landowner’s particular submission on
this point was not addressed. The landowner maintains its position that this would, on

its own, be yet another reason that the application must fail.*

9. On neighbourhood, whilst the Inspector took the view that “detailed reasoning was
provided” by the landowner for its submission that the claimed neighbourhood was
not a qualifying neighbourhood for the purposes of s15 of the 2006 Act (IR464), he
ultimately concluded that the neighbourhood requirement was satisfied (IR469).

10. The Inspector did, however, conclude that the landowner had “raised a number of
significant points” (IR467), in relation to one of which the Inspector acknowledged
“the force in the argument” (IR468). The landowner maintains that its submissions on
neighbourhood were correct,’ although, on the basis of the Inspector’s

recommendation, that makes no difference to the need to reject the application.

11. If the Council is minded to do anything other than reject the application, it will be
necessary for it to address and decide the issues in the landowner’s evidence and
submissions which the Inspector did not feel it necessary to address. That will require
separate and comprehensive legal advice, in addition to what is said in the Inspector’s
report. The Council could not lawfully disagree with the Inspector’s recommendation

without grappling with the issues the Inspector left open.

3 Paragraph 233(b) of the landowner’s closing submissions dated 23 October 2014.

* See para 22 of the landowner’s opening statement dated 17 June 2014, and the landowner’s closing
submissions dated 23 October 2014 at paras 39-41, 45, 78-79, 98, 233(b).

> See the landowner’s legal submissions at paras 19-29, the landowner’s opening statement at paras 24-26 and
the landowner’s closing submissions at paras 199-232.

3
Page 191



12. The Inspector found three separate and freestanding reasons why the application had
to fail. There are others the Inspector did not find it necessary to consider. It is plain
from the Inspector’s report, let alone the landowner’s evidence and submissions, that
the Council cannot lawfully register this land as a village green. The application must

be rejected. The Council is respectfully asked to so determine.

RICHARD HONEY

29 May 2015

4
Page 192



Agenda Item 9

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: | Regulatory (Access) Committee

MEETING
DATE:

30 July 2015

TITLE: Holy Trinity Church DMMO Investigation

WARD: Chew Valley North

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Appendix 1 — Plan

Appendix 2 —  Photographs

Appendix 3 —  Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Appendix 4 —  Consultation Responses

1. THEISSUE

1.1 The Regulatory (Access) Committee (“the Committee”) resolved that officers should

investigate whether unrecorded public rights exist over a route to the south of Holy
Trinity Church in Norton Malreward. An investigation has been carried out and it now
falls to the Committee to determine whether a Definitive Map Modification Order
(“DMMO”) should be made to modify the Definitive Map and Statement (“the DM&S”)
based upon the evidence discovered.

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to resolve that a DMMO should not be made to
record additional public rights to the south of Holy Trinity Church on the DM&S.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Financial implications are not a relevant consideration which may be taken into
account under the provision of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981
Act’).

THE REPORT

The Authority is under a legal duty to keep the DM&S under continuous review under
the 1981 Act.

Printed on recycled paper Page 193 1




4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

On 30 May 2012, the Committee considered an application to delete bridleway
CL15/11 at Manor Farm, Norton Malreward from the DM&S. The Committee
resolved that a DMMO should be made to delete the section of bridleway CL15/11
commencing from a junction with restricted byway CL15/11 and continuing to a
junction with public footpath CL15/2. Consequently, on 18 September 2012 the Bath
and North East Somerset Council (CL15/11, Manor Farm, Norton Malreward) (No. 2)
Definitive Map Modification Order 2012 (“Order No. 2”) was made.

On 30 May 2012, the Committee at the same meeting also resolved that a DMMO
should not be made to delete the remainder of bridleway CL15/11 between a junction
with public footpath CL15/2 and the parish boundary. The junction with public
footpath CL15/2 is not a point of common resort for horseriders and it is therefore
highly unlikely that the public bridleway rights terminate at this location.
Consequently, the Committee asked officers to carry out an investigation to
determine whether the public bridleway rights continue to the south of Holy Trinity
Church. The results of this investigation were presented to the Committee in
December 2012 and the Committee resolved to defer a decision until after Order
No.2 had been formally determined by the Secretary of State; on 15 January 2015,
the Secretary of State declined to confirm Order No.2.

The route under investigation commences from a metal field gate with an adjacent
narrow gap and a junction with a Class 4 Road at grid reference ST 6029 6507 (Point
A on the plan contained at Appendix 1 (“the Plan”)). The route continues in a
generally southeasterly direction for approximately 65 metres to a wooden kissing
gate, an adjacent metal field gate and a junction with public footpath CL15/2 at grid
reference ST 6035 6503 (Point B on the Plan). The route turns in a generally north
easterly direction over public footpath CL15/2 for approximately 80 metres to a
junction with public bridleway CL15/11 (Point C on the Plan). The majority of the
route runs to the south of Holy Trinity Church and is hereafter referred to as “the
Investigation Route”.

The metal field gates at grid reference ST 6029 6507 (Point A on the Plan) and grid
reference ST 6035 6503 (Point B on the Plan) have been padlocked during most site
visits carried out by officers and both field gates have signs attached to them stating:
“Private No public right of way”. Photographs of the Investigation Route can be
found at Appendix 2.

The section of the Investigation Route between points A and B on the Plan is not
currently recorded on the DM&S. If the Committee considers that on the balance of
probabilities a presumption has been raised that this section of the Investigation
Route has been dedicated as a public bridleway then a DMMO should be made
pursuant to section 53(3)(b) of the 1981 Act. Alternatively, if evidence has been
discovered which shows that a public bridleway subsists or is reasonably alleged to
subsist over this section of the Investigation Route then a DMMO should be made
pursuant to section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 1981 Act.

The section of the Investigation Route between points B and C on the Plan is
currently recorded on the DM&S as part of public footpath CL15/2. If the Committee
considers that on the balance of probabilities a presumption has been raised that this
section of the Investigation Route has been dedicated as a public bridleway then a
DMMO should be made pursuant to section 53(3)(b) of the 1981 Act. Alternatively, if
evidence has been discovered which on the balance of probabilities shows that this

Printed on recycled paper Page 194 2



4.8

4.9

410

4.1

412

section of the Investigation Route should be shown as a public bridleway then a
DMMO should be made pursuant to section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the 1981 Act. Section 53
of the 1981 Act, as amended, is reproduced at Appendix 3.

The Authority’s Senior Officer: Public Rights of Way has examined all the available
evidence which is available to the Authority, which is held at the Somerset Heritage
Centre (“SHC”) in Taunton and which has been submitted by consultees.

The section of the Investigation Route between points B and C on the Plan is shown
by a solid black line on the Parish Survey Map which was produced by Norton
Malreward Parish Council in preparing for the production of the DM&S. The
associated survey card, dated 15 October 1950, describes this section as follows;
“...proceed through field to wooden stile at Church, continue around the wall and
over stone stile at rear of Church...” The path is identified as number 2’ and as a
public footpath. This section of the Investigation Route is shown by a solid purple
line on the Draft, Provisional and Definitive Maps. The Definitive Statement
describes this section as follows; “...through field to wooden stile at the Church. It
runs around the wall and over the stone stile at the rear of the Church...” The path is
identified as ‘CL15/2’ and again as a public footpath.

The section of the Investigation Route between points A and B on the Plan is not
shown or referred to in the Parish Survey, Draft Map, Provisional Map or Definitive
Map and Statement. The DM&S records therefore show that the section of the
Investigation Route between points B and C on the Plan was at least a public
footpath but they do not provide any evidence regarding the section of the
Investigation Route between points A and B on the Plan.

The 1809 2" Edition Ordnance Survey (“OS”) Surveyor's Map delineates the
Investigation Route by parallel pecked black lines to the south of a church, the 1903
6” Edition OS Map delineates the section of the Investigation Route between points B
and C on the Plan by a solid and a parallel pecked black line to the south of Holy
Trinity Church and the 1958 1:2500 Edition OS Map depicts a route to the south of
‘Holy Trinity Church (C of E)’ by parallel pecked lines. These OS maps provide
evidence of the physical existence of these respective sections of the Investigation
Route but these OS maps do not provide any evidence regarding the existence or
otherwise of public rights. Additionally, the 1830 1” Edition OS Map and the 1986
1:2500 OS Map do not show any section of the Investigation Route.

A ‘Sale Particulars Plan’ (copy held by the Authority) which was produced when the
buildings and a number of the fields which formed part of Manor Farm were sold in
1992 show the section of the Investigation Route between points A and B on the Plan
delineated by a shaded area within ‘Lot 77 and the majority of the section of the
Investigation Route between points B and C on the Plan is delineated by a hatched
area within ‘Lot 10’. The Sale Particulars Plan is signed by the vendor and dated 18
July 1992; however, the plan does not contain a key to explain the meaning of the
shaded and hatched areas. This Sale Particulars Plan suggests that almost the
whole section of the Investigation Route between points A and C on the Plan
physically existed in 1992 but does not provide any evidence of public rights.

Printed on recycled paper Page 195 3



4.13 The following documents which relate to the Investigation Route, or land adjacent to

the Investigation Route, do not provide evidence of either the physical existence of
the Investigation Route or whether the Investigation Route was a public bridleway:

‘Langton Estate Survey’ dated 1693 (SHC Ref: DD\GL/118),

‘Norton Malreward, etc., deeds’ dated 1718-1799 (SHC Ref: DD\ X\BROC/1),

‘Day and Masters’ Map’ dated 1782 (SHC Ref: D\B\wsm/38/6),

‘Norton Malreward Tithe Map and Tithe Award’ dated c.1840 (SHC Refs:

D\D/Rt/A/78 and D\D/Rt/M/78),

e ‘North Somerset Railway and Branches plans’ dated 1860 (SHC Ref:
Q/RUP/273b),

e ‘Chew Valley Tramway plans’ dated 1861 (SHC Ref: Q/RUP/275),

‘Vestry Minute Book’ dated 1861 (copy provided by a consultee and held by the

Authority)

‘Bristol and North Somerset Railway plans’ dated 1862 (SHC Ref: Q/RUP/285),

‘Bristol and London Railway plans’ dated 1882 (SHC Ref: Q/RUP/402),

‘South Western Junction Railway plans’ dated 1886 (SHC Ref: Q/RUP/420),

‘Finance (1909-1910) Act 1910 documents’ dated 1910-1914 (SHC Ref:

DD\IR\WW\413. The National Archives Ref: IR128\2\31),

¢ ‘Highway Authority Records’ dated 1930 (held by the Authority),

e ‘Bartholomew’s map’ dated 1945,

o ‘List of Streets’ dated 2012 (held by the Authority).

4.14 Consultee 3, who is the daughter of the previous landowner, has stated that the two

metal field gates referred to in paragraph 4.5 above were erected and locked in 1992
(see Appendix 4) and the Authority is not in receipt of any user evidence relating to
the Investigation Route.

4.15 Furthermore, the Inspector’s report in respect of Order No. 2 states that the evidence

is not of such substance to show that public bridleway CL15/11 “...should in fact
have gone to the south of the church...”

4.16 The evidence detailed in paragraphs 4.9 to 4.14 above does not demonstrate that a

5.1

public bridleway subsists or can be reasonably alleged to subsist over the section of
the Investigation Route between point A and B on the Plan. Furthermore, on the
balance of probabilities the evidence does not demonstrate that any section of the
Investigation Route should be recorded on the DM&S as a public bridleway. A
DMMO should therefore not be made to modify the DM&S in respect of the
Investigation Route.

RISK MANAGEMENT

A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken,
in compliance with the Authority’s decision making risk management guidance.

EQUALITIES

An Equalities Impact Assessment has not been completed because the impact upon
equalities is not a consideration which may be taken into account under the provision
of the 1981 Act.

Printed on recycled paper Page 196 4



CONSULTATION

The Authority wrote to the affected landowner and adjacent landowners, national and
local user groups, Norton Malreward Parish Council and the Ward Councillor.
Consultees were invited to submit any evidence or comments they had within a six
week period. Copies of the responses received can be found at Appendix 4.

ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION

The Authority’s decision as to whether a DMMO should be made to record the
Investigation Route as a public bridleway must be based solely on the available
evidence which indicates whether or not a public right of way exists. The Authority
cannot take into consideration the desirability or suitability of the Investigation Route.
The 1981 Act does not permit personal considerations to be taken into account.

ADVICE SOUGHT

The Authority's Monitoring Officer (Head of Legal & Democratic Services, Council
Solicitor and Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director -
Finance) have had the opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for
publication.

Contact person Graeme Stark, Senior Officer: Public Rights of Way

(Telephone 01225 477650)

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an
alternative format

Printed on recycled paper Page 197 5




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 198



Appendix 1 N
/
wW=E)=E
Plan '
S
6010 6020 - 6030 6040 6050 /
2 Investigation Route not currently recorded on the DM&S g
Investigation Route currently recorded as a public footpath
Unaffected public footpath currently recorded on the DM&S
Unaffected public bridleway currently recorded on the DM&S —ttttt t
Unaffected restricted byway currently recorded on the DM&S H H H H H H
Class 4 road recorded on the List of Streets I ——
Class C road recorded on the List of Streets
Pond
\
\
\
102.1m
\
)
\ g \\
g \ o) g
©| \ Q: ©
T
o
\ o
\ )
/ I
\ / (@) Manor Farm o
/ Shires \
L
{
Tank ¢ 4
AN
Cottage
C-f:l_._lr‘ffl'l
Church
Ronkery
Farmhouss N )
6010 ‘ 6020 6030 6040 6050
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Contp{llﬁ@)fﬂHig jesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. License number 100023334
p ings.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecutio!



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 200



PHOTOGRAPHS

Appendix 2
Photographs

Approximate alignment of Application Route delineated by red dots

i\

Fig. 1: From grid reference ST 6029 6507 (Point A on the Plan) looking

southeast.

northeast.
Page 201

Fig. 2: From grid reference ST 6035 6503 (Point B n t

“.
o

_, looking




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 202



Appendix 3
Section 53 of the 1981 Act

SECTION 53 OF THE WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981, as amended

53 Duty to keep definitive map and statement under continuous review.

(1) In this Part “definitive map and statement”, in relation to any area, means, subject to section

57(3) and 57A(1)—

(a) the latest revised map and statement prepared in definitive form for that area under
section 33 of the 1949 Act; or

(b) where no such map and statement have been so prepared, the original definitive map
and statement prepared for that area under section 32 of that Act; or

(c) where no such map and statement have been so prepared, the map and statement
prepared for that area under section 55(3).

(2) As regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority shall—

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by order make such
modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be requisite in
consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the events specified in
subsection (3); and

(b) as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous review and as soon
as reasonably practicable after the occurrence, on or after that date, of any of those
events, by order make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them
to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event.

(8) The events referred to in subsection (2) are as follows—

(a) the coming into operation of any enactment or instrument, or any other event,
whereby—

(i) a highway shown or required to be shown in the map and statement has been
authorised to be stopped up, diverted, widened or extended;

(i) a highway shown or required to be shown in the map and statement as a highway
of a particular description has ceased to be a highway of that description; or

(i) a new right of way has been created over land in the area to which the map
relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a
public path or a restricted byway;

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map relates, of any period
such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period raises a
presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or restricted byway;

(c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other
relevant evidence available to them) shows—

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is
reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being
a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public path, a

restricted byway or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic;
Page 203



(4)

(i) that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description; or

(iii) that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and statement as a
highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in the map and
statement require modification.

The modifications which may be made by an order under subsection (2) shall include the

addition to the statement of particulars as to—

(a) the position and width of any public path, restricted byway or byway open to all traffic
which is or is to be shown on the map; and

(b) any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover.

(4A)Subsection (4B) applies to evidence which, when considered with all other relevant

evidence available to the surveying authority, shows as respects a way shown in a
definitive map and statement as a restricted byway that the public have, and had
immediately before the commencement of section 47 of the Countryside and Rights of Way
Act 2000, a right of way for vehicular and all other kinds of traffic over that way.

(4B)For the purposes of subsection (3)(c)(ii), such evidence is evidence which, when so

considered, shows that the way concerned ought, subject to section 54A, to be shown in
the definitive map and statement as a byway open to all traffic.

Any person may apply to the authority for an order under subsection (2) which makes such
modifications as appear to the authority to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of
one or more events falling within paragraph (b) or (c) of subsection (3); and the provisions
of Schedule 14 shall have effect as to the making and determination of applications under
this subsection.

(5A)Evidence to which subsection (4B) applies on the commencement of section 47 of the

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 shall for the purposes of subsection (5) and any
application made under it be treated as not having been discovered by the surveying
authority before the commencement of that section.

Orders under subsection (2) which make only such modifications as appear to the authority
to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of one or more events falling within
paragraph (a) of subsection (3) shall take effect on their being made; and the provisions of
Schedule 15 shall have effect as to the making, validity and date of coming into operation of
other orders under subsection (2).

Page 204



Appendix 4
Consultation Responses

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

CONSULTEE 1

From: T —
Sent: 16 July 2012 14:3

To: Graeme Stark
Subject: Re: Application for a Modification Order to amend the Definitive Map of Public Rights of
Way in the Norton Malreward area

Dear Mr. Stark,
Thank you for your e-mail of 12 July.

Before responding to your request for any informaiton | may have on the subject, | shall be
grateful if you will forward copies of the following documents to me at my home address . .

1. The signed and dated Application Form
2. Certificate of Notice that all landowners have been legally notified.
3. The evidence which was attached to the Application per prescribed regulations,

Thank you in anticipation.  After receipt | shall forward my comments.

Yours sincerely,

From:

Sent: 17 July 2012 08:52

To: Graeme Stark

Subject: Re: Application for a Modification Order to amend the Definitive Map of Public Rights of
Way in the Norton Malreward area

Dear Mr. Stark,

| have re-visited your e-mail of 12 July and | note that in bullet point 1 of paragraph 1 titled
"Investigation (i.e. research and consultation)" among other things you say and | quote -

"I have already carried out research into the historical evidence such as old maps, title deeds efe.
held at the Somerset Heritage Centre. | enclose the Investigation Report containing this
information, which includes my interpretation of each piece of evidence."

Please note:-

1. lwould like you to confirm whose "title deeds" you examined in the Somerset Heritage
Centre, and provide the Source Reference number so that | may examine them myself.

2. Please confirm that as you considered historical title deeds were relevant, whether you also
examined the title deeds of the present owner/s, who purchased the property from NN
]

3. Asitis reasonable to accept that taken in the correct context "enclose” will mean
“attach” when the correspondence is in the nature of an e--mail, | can find no “enclosure” /
"attachment” which is in fact "the investigation Report.” stated by you as "enclosed.”

In the circumstances perhaps you will be good enough to correct the situation - and "attach” the
missing Report to another e-mail to me.

At the same time, | shall be grateful for information or an explanation of the procedure of how a
1929 Class 5 Yellow road. defined as a cul-de-sac on the Clutton RDC 1929 Schedule, became,
or was upgraded to a Class 4 Brown road, which is a "Road of local importance, that is, a village
loop road” - which by any stetch of imagination is most certainly not a cul-de-sac.

Please provide your interpretation of the difference between a Class C road recorded on the List
of Streets and a Class 4 road on the List of Streets.

Finally, please explain the procedure followed by BANES to modify an alleged un-Reclassified
CRF/RUPP [CL 15/11] to a Restricted Byway - and advise whether the landowner/s were made
aware of this procedure.

| shall of course comment on all your investigations, your interpretations, the procedure you have
followed. etc.. by 24th August.

Yours sincerely,

[




From: [ —
Sent: uly g

To: Graeme Stark

Dear Mr. Stark,

Thank you for forwarding an Application Form for a Definitive Map Modification Order in relation to
Manor Farm. alleged Restricted Byway CL 15/11. | shall be dealing with as soon as is
practicable.

| shall be grateful if you will now address the most specific question

(i) whose Title Deeds did you examine

(i) where are they, and

(i) what is the Source Reference,

raised in my eemail - | explained that | would like to examine them myself.

Please confirm that you actually and personally examined the original Tithe Map held in the
National Archives [ublic Record Office] at Kew, Richmond.

Yours sincerely,

From: Graeme Stark

Sent: 25 July 2012 17:23

To: E—

Subject: RE:

Attachments: 08 Investigation Report.pdf
Dear IS

Thank you for your emails sent on 16, 17 and 21 July 2012.

The investigation into whether there are public bridleway rights over the route to the south of Holy
Trinity Church is not pursuant to a duly made Schedule 14 application. Consequently there are is
not an Application Form or a Certificate of Notice.

Please find attached a copy of the Investigation Report. The Title Deeds relate to the Manor of
Norton Malreward and are held at the Somerset Heritage Centre under reference DD\X\BROC/1.
I have not examined [l s title deeds because they do not appear to be publically available
and they do not appear to have been made available to the Authority. | can confirm that | have
examined the Tithe Commissioners’ copy of the Norton Malreward Tithe Map at the National
Archives.

Section 47 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 reclassified all RUPPs as Restricted
Byway; | am not aware whether landowners were informed of this automatic reclassification. If
you have any queries regarding the List of Streets these should be directed to Martin Laker who is
the Team Leader for Systems & GIS. Mr Laker's email address is martin_laker@bathnes.gov.uk

Regards,

Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer

Please consider the environment before printing this email

Page 206



From:

Sent: 30 July 2012 19:42
To: Graeme Stark
Subject: Re:

Dear Mr. Stark,

| note that BANES did not receive an Application under Schedule 14 WCA 1981 to investigate
whether a Bridleway could be reasonably alleged to exist from the now recorded Restricted
Byway to Footpath CL 15/2 . . . and thereafter passing over FP CL 15/2 in order to reach
Belluton [signed at that end by an official No Through Road sign. | feel sure | need not remind
you that there is no right to ride or lead a horse on a Public Footpath, and to do so may constitute
a public nuisance at common law.

| believe you are already aware that there is a permissive agreement for horseriders to use the
"alternative route” around the Church and Public Footpath CL 15/2. In light of that permissive
agreement which was agreed with BANES, please advise as follows:-

(i) inthe absence of an Application plus the evidence which the law requires to be
attached, precisely what evidence is BANES relying on to

conduct an investigation as to whether a Bridleway now - or previously - exists?
(ii) in the absence of an Application, evidence, Notice of Certification to all landowners, and most
importantly, in light of the knowledge that BANES

agreed to an "unofficial diversion” by way of agreement for a permissive alternative Bridleway
route around the Church , who authorised an

investigation - and on what grounds?
(iii) please advise on the legislation and the precise statutory section on which BANES is relying
to conduct this investigation . .

You will recall that in preparing their Definitive Map, Somerset County Council relied on the non-
statutory symbol "CRF" and not the legal term "RUPP" [Road used as a Public Path]. In your
professional capacity as Rights of Way officer for BANES, you will be aware that The Planning
Inspectorate Advice Note 9 states that where the symbol CRF has been used it did not confirm the
existence of public vehicular rights. Therefore it is illogical that legislation has shifted the burden
of proof to the landowner to prove a negative . . that the imposed status of Restricted Byway is
wrong; that public vehicular rights, motorised or non-motorised, do not exist on the Manor Farm
private driveway.

Please advise whether in your opinion the intention of Parliament was that all RUPPs should be
automatically Reclassified without notification to the landowner - which would have provided an
oppoortunity to produce evidence that the alleged RUPP did not have any higher public status

than Footpath.

| would remind you that on more than one occasion | offered you assistance with regard to access
to my files and the evidence produced 14 years ago at the Public Inquiry. Your failure to take
advantage of my knowledge of the case and the evidence in my possession is reflected in the
flawed Decision made by the Committee Members.

Lastly, and for the record, ms Title Deeds [which , as you are not a Conveyancing
ave

lawyer you are clearly unaware wi en Conveyed to the person/s who purchased Manor
Farm and his land from him] were made available to everyone for examination at the Public

Inquiry in 1997 -therefore it is untrue to say that his Deeds were not publicly available or available
to BANES.

In any event, as copies of the relevant sections were in my files, and had you taken advantage of
my offer to make my files available to you, copies could have been made available to

BANES during your investigation into the 14-year old Application.. It is therefore indefensible
to state that{[ilifs Title Deeds were not publicly available.

Please confirm that you do in fact have all the files in this case, and the Report prepared by Judith
Gradwell - who, together with Peter Malarby, County solicitor, confirmed in writing even before
the investigation. their opinion that there was a prima facie case that an error was made.

| look forward to your reply.

Yours sincerely,

[ Page 207




From: Graeme Stark

Sent: 11:23
To:

Subject: RE:

pea

| am writing further to my email sent on 2 August 2012.

| am not aware of a permissive path agreement to allow horseriders to use an ‘alternative route’
around the Church and over public footpath CL15/2; therefore if you could provide further details it
would be much appreciated. The Authority's current position is that the section of CL15/11
between points A and B on the DMMO is not a public right of way but that the section of CL15/11
from point B to the parish boundary is a public bridleway. Point B is not point of common resort,
such as a view point or a well, and it is therefore likely that the public bridleway continues from this
point to another highway of equal or higher status. The Regulatory (Access) Committee, whose
Terms of Reference include DMMOs, requested that an investigation is carried out to determine
whether the public bridleway rights continue to the south of Holy Trinity Church; the investigation
is being carried out in pursuance of the Authority's statutory duty under section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review.

Although CL15/11 was recorded as a CRF, the Authority's position is that a CRF is equivalent to a
RUPP. Neither the term CRF nor RUPP confirms the existence of public vehicular rights:
however, section 47 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 reclassified all RUPPs as
restricted byways which do have non-mechanically propelled vehicular rights. The CROW Act
2000 does not require Surveying Authorities to notify landowners of this reclassification.

On 7 November 2011 | emailed to ask you to submit any evidence you may have regarding the
status of this route by 22 November 2012 and on 11 November 2011 you replied to say that you
would comply with my request. The Authority does not have a copy of [JJJJifs Title Deeds
which you state were made available to everyone for examination at the Public Inquiry in 1997. If
you have a copy then | would appreciate it if a copy could be sent to the Authority., The Authority
has the following documents from the RUPP reclassification;

Jennifer Reed's Proof of Evidence and accompanying evidence bundle dated July 1995
List of objectors to reclassification order

The Committee Reports for the making of the reclassification order

The Planning Inspector’s decision letter dated 9 November 1995

A partial "List of Documents’ which may have been a document bundle from the second
public inquiry which opened on 11 February 1997

Your Proof of Evidence dated 11 February 1997 and undated addendum

Rowena Smith's Proof of Evidence dated 18 February 1997

Final submissions of Judith Gradwell dated 28 February 1997

The Planning Inspector's decision letter dated 28 May 1997

Newspaper cutting from the Chew Valley Gazette dated July 1997

Notice checking records for the confirmation of the reclassification order

Notice of Motion for Stevens v Secretary of State

Affidavit of Tim Stevens and the accompanying bundle marked 'TRS2'

The judgement in Stevens v Secretary of State

The Planning Inspector’s costs decision letter dated 25 march 1998

Regards,

Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer

Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: m
Sent: 10 August 2012 12:

To: Graeme Stark
Subject: Re:

Dear Mr. Stark,
Havig spent some days at Inquiry in another County, |wish to give my mind a rest.

If, as you say, you have Judith Gradwell's files and reports, then you should have no difficulty
identifying the reference in her letters.

Yours sincerely,

I Do ona
r [avie)




CONSULTEE 2; ANN FAY, BRITISH HORSE SOCIETY

From: Ann Fay [mailto:ann.fay@laburnumhouse.me.uk]
Sent: 27 July 2012 16:13

To: Graeme Stark

Subject: norton malreward

Hello Graeme,

thank you for the information. | shall be replying to the Madification Order re the extinguishment
when | have taken advice.

Would it be of any use to send evidence forms for the use of the proposed replacement
bridleway? | note that there have been 'private’ signs and the gate is often locked. If it would help,
could you please send me some forms?

| would guess that attempts have been made to secure a dedication or a permissive route?

Ann Fay British Horse Society

From: Graeme Stark

Sent: 27 July 2012 16:34

To: ‘Ann Fay'

Subject: RE: norton malreward
Attachments: 03 User Evidence Forms.docx
Hi Ann

We would welcome any evidence relating to the Investigation Route and | have attached a copy of
our standard user evidence form. However, the usage would have to pre-date the erection of the
‘private’ signs and the locking of the gates as these are clear evidence of the landowner's intention
not to dedicate.

We haven't made any attempts to secure a dedication agreement or a permissive path because
the land over which the Investigation Route runs is currently held in probate as the previous
landowner passed away recently. The solicitors administering the estate will not therefore be in a
position to grant new rights or permissions across the land.

If | can be of any further assistance please do not hesitate to contact me.

Regards,

Graeme.

CONSULTEE 3; NORTON MALREWARD PARISH COUNCIL

From: Peter Edwards (Clir)

Sent: 13 August 2012 15:34
To: Graeme Stark
L~ =

Malcolm Hanney (Clir)
Subject: Application for a modification order to amend the definitive Map of Public Rights of Way in the Norton
Malreward Area

Good Afternoon Graeme,

RE APPLICATION FOR A MODIFICATION ORDER TO AMEND THE DEFINITIVE MAP
OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY IN NORTON MALREWARD AREA.

With reference to the Definitive Map Maodification Order and investigation

report received under cover of your letter dated 12th July 2012, Norton Malreward
Parish Council has considered the documentation put forward together with the
proposal made at the recent regulatory Access Committee Meeting on 30th May 2012.

the council fully supports the reasonable compromise put forward i.e to formally
delete the route A-B on CL/15/11 and to accept the amended route South of the
Church and considers this to be beneficial to all concerned i.e Parishioners,
Landowners , and for Public Access.

D. Baber
Chairman Norton Malreward Parish Council
01275 832494




From: Graeme Stark [mailto:Graeme_Stark@BATHNES.GOV,UK]
Sent: 14 August 2012 11:52

To: Peter Edwards (Clir
Cc:'

Malcolm Hanney (Clir)
Subject: RE: Application for a modification order to amend the definitive Map of Public Rights of Way in the Norton
Malreward Area

Dear Dennis
Thank you for your email.

| would like to clarify that the DMMO to delete the route between A and B and the investigation
into the possible existence of a public bridleway to the south of the church is in no way intended to
be a compromise. The Regulatory (Access) Committee resolved that A to B should be deleted
because they regarded the evidence to show that an error way made when the route was
recorded as a public right of way. Objections have been received to the DMMO and it will
therefore be submitted to the Secretary of State who will decide whether or not it is confirmed.

The Committee has asked me to investigate whether unrecorded public rights exist to the south of
the church. Whether or not the Committee resolves to make a DMMO to record a bridleway over
this route will depend on whether or not the Committee thinks the evidence shows that public
bridleway rights exist over this route. It does not follow that because a DMMO has been made to
delete the route between A and B that the Committee will also resolve that a DMMO should be
made to add a route to the south of the church.

| hope this helps to clarify the situation.

Regards,

Graeme.

From: Dennis Baber <d.baber@talktalk.net>

Sent: 14 August 2012 18:40

To: Graeme Stark: Peter Edwards (Clir

Cc:
_ Malcolm Hanney (Clir)

Subject: RE: Application for a modification order to amend the definitive Map of Public Rights of
Way in the Norton Malreward Area

Graeme

Thanks for the clarification.

It should be noted that the route south of the church is now generally used as the footpath and access for horses, as it
is simpler and more direct.

Regards

Dennis Baber

halrman Not
01275 832494

Page 210




CONSULTEE 3; DAUGHTER OF PREVIOUS LANDOWNER

6" August 2012

Dear Mr Stark

Re: The Estate of Mr S R Young

Application for a Modification Order to amend the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way in the
Norton Malreward Area:

Thank you for your letter dated 12" July 2012. it has been passed by the Solicitors to the Executors
of Mr 5 R Young. On behalf of the Executors, | will be leading on this matter, and would be grateful if
you could address further correspondence to the above address.

I have one comment to add for your information in consideration of the changes to the Rights of
Way proposals:

You will be aware that the proposed new route goes through two existing secured gates. These
gates are always locked when the owners are not present. There is currently no farm house attached
to this land. The second gate has a pedestrian ‘Kissing gate’ alongside it which could assumedily be
altered to a Horse Gate. The first gate however is situated between two stone walls with no room
for a small gate alongside. The existing gate cannot be reduced in size otherwise farm machinery will
not be able to access the farm.

In the event changes are made to the Right of way, please could you advise how the costs will be
covered? | look forward to receiving your comments.

You r| Iiirl’l

m to the Late Mr 5.R Young)

Dear

APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER

Thank you for your letter dated 6 August 2012,

The investigation is into whether public bridleway rights already exist over the
Investigation Route and all sides are therefore normally expected to meet their own
costs. | have noted your comments regarding the locked gates and this obviously
has a major bearing on whether the route could previously have been used by
horses. If you are able to give me any indication as to when the gates were first
locked this would be very helpful.

I will ensure that all future correspondence as addressed to _ and |
will write again once the consultation period has finished.

Yours sincerely

Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer
Bath and North East Somerset Council

Page 211



13" August 2012

Dear Mr Stark

Application for a_Definitive Map Modification Order

Thank you for your letter dated 7" August 2012.

Manor Farm house and the farm land were separated in 1992, At about this time the ‘gated’ track
was created to provide private access onto the remaining land. It has, since this time being locked.

During my child hood the bridleway was used up through the current route and there was no access
at all along the ‘proposed’ new route, as it was a field right up to the church wall. This was the case
from at least 1952, when my grandfather owned the farm.

In reference to your letter dated 25" July, | note that subject to the period for objections, the
current bridleway will be closed between points A and B on your map. It appears that this will occur
before any decision is likely on an alternative route, thus in affecting closing the bridleway. Is my
understanding of this correct as no doubt, we will have practical difficulties if horse riders try and
use the bridleway to come and go from Norton Malreward?

Yours sincerely

From: Graeme Stark

Sent: 14 st 2012 14:12

To:

Subject: RE: Manor Farm Map Modification

Doar I

Thank you for your letter dated 13 July 2012.

| appreciate you taking the time to clarify the dates when the gates were locked; this is very
helpful. Sorry to bother you further but could you let me know whether your father and your
grandfather regarded the current route past Manor Farm and Manor Court to be a public
bridleway?

The DMMO to delete the section of bridleway between points A and B on the Order Map won't
take effect until the DMMO has been confirmed. The Authority has received a number of
objections against the DMMO and cannot therefore confirm the DMMO itself. Instead the DMMO
must be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate who will appoint an Inspector to independently
consider whether it should be confirmed. This will take several months and will give the Authority
plenty of time to consider whether a bridleway should be recorded to the south of the church.

Regards,

Graeme Stark
Senior Rights of Way Officer

Please consider the environment before printing this email

Page 212




CONSULTEE 4; CLLR HANNEY, WARD MEMBER FOR CHEW VALLEY NORTH

From: Malcolm Hanney (Clir)

Sent: 03 August 2012 11:46

To: Graeme Stark

Ce: Vernon Hitchman; Peter Edwards {Cllr];_ Simon Elias
Subject: Definitive Map Modification Order - Norton Malreward - Investigation RepAort
Attachments: RegulatoryAccessCommittee300512MH.docx

Dear Graeme,

I refer to the Investigation Report forwarded with your e-mail of 16 July 2012 and related correspondence,

I have the following comments which should be considered both as a response to the consultation and for
other purposes:-

1. Process

i) There was no basis for the Regulatory Access Committee at its meeting on 30 May 2012 and / or for
Officers subsequently to instigaie an immediate investigation, complete an Investigation Report and consult
widely on such an Investigation Report - all involving significant related costs which are arguably ultra
vires,

In particular it was not for the Committee or Officers, on a whim, to instigate an immediate investigation as
to whether public bridleway rights including on a public footpath (CL 15/2) when it had no evidence before
it or any representations from the public suggesting that there was any basis whatsoever for such a
bridleway over the said route.

i) There 1s a required process for DMMOs which would need to be followed by all Applicants including by
the Council. There is no evidence that the said process has been followed.

iii) The Council maintains a Register of DMMO Applications and my understanding is that these are
required to be considered within 12 months. In practice DMMO applications have taken significantly longer
to determine and the Council has justified its position (including in relation to CL 15/11 where it took 14
years 1o consider) on the basis of considering in turn and within available resources.

I do not believe there can be any basis for immediate consideration and investigation of an entirely new
DMMO for a bridleway as referred to above in such circumstances. As an aside 1 suggest that the Council
will not be able to argue in future that any DMMO application should not be considered within the 12
month period if it gives immediate consideration to its own ‘application’ with no justifiable reason for
considering out of turn,

iv) It is not entirely ¢lear as 1o what the Committee originally intended. I quote below the relevant part of
the draft Minutes:-

The Committee also instructed officers to investigate the existence of an alternative route south of the
church.

From discussion with one of my group's Committee members (Cllr. Warren), it would seem that his
recollection as to what was anticipated was different from that which has been pursued:

‘My recollection of the request is not quite the same as that being pursued. If | remember rightly, we were
informed that a new route had been offered and that officers should look further into that, rather than there
was an old one which should be resurrected.’

The Committee should have been properly advised (by yoursell and / or by the Legal Officer present) as 1o
what was being proposed and the related implications including as aforesaid. It was considering a specific
DMMO application - on CL15/11 - a matter which should have been determined on the evidence before the
Committee. The manner in which the decision was made was unsound - see also below - including but not
limited to looking 1o a possible alternative bridleway when that was not the Committee’s statutory role.

v) On being advised on 12 July 2012 of the consultation being undertaken on the Investigation Report, 1
immediately raised concerns with you and the Council Solicitor and Chief Executive - see various ¢-mails
which I can provide more details of in need. I believe the Consultation should have been immediately
suspended while proper advice was sought - and bearing in mind the 14 years it had taken for the DMMO
Application on CL 15/11 to be considered any argument as to urgency could hardly be justified. To continue
with the consultation in such circumstances - indeed encouraging the public to come forward with evidence
of bridleway use where there had been no such evidence before the Committee - cannol be the role ol a
statutory body. Similarly there will have been significant work and expense for the local Parish Council and
the relevant landowner(s).

Page 213



vi) With regard to the content of the Investigation Report, it would also have seemed to have been more
appropriate (having regard to the specific terms of the draft Minute) to have reported back to the Committee
asking for further instructions before embarking on any formal consultation.

The comments set out above merely confirm what I have already advised to senior Officers. In view of the
fact that consultation was not suspended I confirm I am hereby making a formal complaint as to how this
matter has been handled and the Council's failure 1o mitigate its errors by suspending consultation when
advised of relevant issues and concerns.

2. Investigation Report

i) My comments above regarding process are germane including whether the references in Paragraph 3 to
the Application Details are accurate given | iv) above.

On 30 May 2012, the Authority’s Regulatory (Access) Committee requested for an imvestigation to be carried
out 1o determine whether an Order should be made to amend the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights
of Way (“the DM&S™) by adding a public brdleway to the south of Holy Trinity Church in Norton Malreward.

i1) Paragraph 5 of Investigation Report lists the various documents that have been considered. None provide
any evidence of any bridleway route or of any public rights of way (other than the public footpath portion of
CL 15/2 as between B and C on the Investigation Plan). I will comment only as to a few of the documents:-

a) Doc¢ 4 - Ordnance Survey Maps - these provide no evidence of existence or otherwise of any public rights
of way. Le. Ordnance Survey Maps don't distinguish.

b) Docs 11-13 - Definitive Map Records - indeed the Parish Council did believe that the section of the
Investigation Route between points B and C on the Investigation Plan was a public footpath and there was a
Survey Card - (CL 15/2). This was of course, in contrast, with CL 15/1 | where there was no Survey Card. [
quote from my written submission to the Regulatory Access Commitiee on 30 May 2012 - full copy
attached for ease of reference:-

There was no Parish Survey Card for CL 15/11. The Parish Council only claimed the section C-E of what is
now CL 15/11 as a public footpath. This would have linked up the two sections of what is now footpath CL
15/2 and is the logical interpretation of what the Parish Council intended and what the Landowner had
agreed.

The Parish Council never claimed what is currently CL 15/11 whether as a footpath or as a bridleway. It
wanted a continuous public footpath for 'CL 15/2.

) Doc 14 - Sale Particulars - it is not surprising there is physical evidence of a route - but there is no
evidence of any public right of way except as regands the portion B-C on the Investigation Route because
nobody denies that portion is on Definitive Map as a public footpath (CL 15/2),

3. Regulatory Access Commitiee 30 May 2012

i) The Committee were not properly advised on a number of matters including that they should disre gard the
Appendix referencing views of an Inierested Party - | quote from an e-mail to Vernon Hitchman dated 14
July 2012

Prior to the Commitiee Meeting on 30 May | submitted commentary as regards the inclusion
of certain documentation within the Agenda papers from an Interested Party including a
document by the said Interested Party purporting to state a legal opinion on public rights of
way matters. My exchange with Vemon refers. | should note for the record my understanding
that the Commitice were not advised at the meeting to ignore the relevant Appendix as
Vemon had confirmed to me that they would be. There is also no reference to the matter in
the draft Minutes published on-line and | am advised the legal officer in attendance did not
speak.

ii) The Commitice did not make a rational decision on 30 May based on the evidence before it (see also
attached) i.e. that there was and is no evidence of a public right of way over CL 1511 other than that
somebody asked for it without apparently any supporting evidence and it was added to the Definitive Map
and thus in error. The evidence for the Order to delete A-B on the Decision Plan is the same as should have
been applied to delete B-C on the Decision Plan. If there are any Objections to the Order to delete there will

inevitably be a Public Inquiry and. | suggest. a high probability of legal action.

Page 214




iii) [ has also writien to you (22 June) as regards the prejudicial remarks made at the Commitiee
Meeting and as recorded in the Minutes:-

| am writing to register my concerns on comments in the artached minutes relating to the alleged Rights of
Way CL 15/11. Committee members were advised that an illegal diversion of the alleged Right of way had been
carried out by me. This is not the case. As you know, having copied you the correspondence from a previous
Reights of Way officer, Judith Gradwell, the diversion was agreed pending the outcome of the appropriate
Authority Committee decision on the application for a modification order. That of course was many years ago.
Please will you take steps to get the appropriate amendment to the minutes.

lﬁbu&mﬂ-mmﬁspﬁntmdﬂtmdmnzwﬂnhtﬁmﬁmhsm
out in my attached note to the Commitiee - on page 2

On 7 October 1998, Judith Gradwell (Public Rights of Way Officer) advised Norton Malreward Parish
Council that “They [the Applicants| have supplied a considerable amount of evidence and appear (o have a
prima facie case.” Ms. Gradwell also confirmed that it would be some time before the Council can
investigate the matter and decide whether or not to make an order. In this letter and a subsequent letter of 2
November 1998, Ms. Gradwell advised that she had agreed a satisfactory interim (diversion) route [that is in
respect of A-C| - ‘1 consider it would be very heavy handed to insist that Mr. Pye knock down a wall that
has been in existence for at least 30 years when there is a perfectly good gate alongside it Also that Mr.
Jones remove a fence and allow the bridleway to cross the lawn when the route | sent you is only a matter of
a few yards away.’

I note the pragmatic approach adopted by Ms. Gradwell which was taken because of the extended period of
time the Council expected to process the Application. However, it should be noted that the S130A
application referred to in my e-mail of 24 May 2012 no doubt seeks to do what Ms. Gradwell was seeking to
avoid in terms of the impact on the relevant properties of Manor Farm and Manor Court.

1 trust the Committee Minutes will be appropriately amended as requested by [ although the
prejudice it may have created with the Commitiee may not be so easy to remedy.

4. Summary
i) | confirm that in my view the Investigation Repont should never have been actioned and that the

Consultation should be suspended forthwith, If the matier proceeds to Committee then the Commitiee
should be advised that there is no evidence for a bndleway on any portion of the Investigation route.

ii) | will await the response to my formal Complaint.

iii) I will also await the outcome of the Order to Delete process as regards the relevant portion of CL 1511
but note if there is an Objection there will be a Public Inquiry and. quite probably, subsequent legal action.

Malcolm

Malcolm Hanney (Clir.)
Magna House, Battle Lane
Chew Magna, Bristol BS40 8PX
England

+ 4401275 333397 (H)
+ 441017768 943455 (M)

mchanney | @ aol.com

Page 215




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 216



	Agenda
	7 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING - 8TH OCTOBER 2014
	8 ROBIN CANDY'S FIELDS - TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION APPLICATION
	Appendix1Plan
	Appendix2Application
	Appendix3Objection
	Appendix4ApplicantsResponse
	Appendix5InspectorsReport
	Appendix6ApplicantsComments
	Appendix7ObjectorsComments

	9 HOLY TRINITY CHURCH - DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER INVESTIGATION
	Appendix1Plan
	Appendix2Photos
	Appendix3Act1981
	Appendix4ConsultationResponses


